
 

AGENDA 

 

 
Please ask for Amanda Taylor: Telephone 01775 764837 

e-mail: amandataylor@sholland.gov.uk 

Committee - SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Date & Time - Friday, 25 January 2013 at 10.00 am 
 

Venue - Boston Borough Council, Council Offices, 
West Street, Boston 
 

Membership of the South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee: 
 
South Holland District Council:  Councillors B Alcock, R Gambba-Jones and H R Johnson  
(Substitutes: Councillors F Biggadike, C J T H Brewis and R M Rudkin) 
 
Boston Borough Council:  Councillors P Bedford, C Brotherton and R Leggott 
(Substitutes: Councillors F Pickett, O Snell and M Wright) 
 
Lincolnshire County Council:  Councillors E Poll and M Brooks and G K Dark  
(Substitutes: Councillors C J T H Brewis, P Skinner and C N Worth) 
 
Substitutions – Substitute members will have full voting rights for individual meetings 
only; and Substitute members allowed to attend all meetings of the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee to contribute but not vote.  
 

Terms of Reference – The preparation, submission, adoption, monitoring and revision of 
joint local development documents identified in a joint local development scheme; and the 
preparation, submission, adoption, monitoring and revision of a joint local development 
scheme, in respect of those documents. 
 
A voting member who is unable to attend any meeting of the Joint Committee shall 
inform the Chairman of the Joint Committee in writing as soon as practicable and 
in any event not later than 24 hours before the meeting is due to take place 
 

Member Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn their mobile telephones to 

silent 

 
Date:   11 January 2013 



A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
2.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 6) - To sign as a correct record the notes of the meeting of the 

South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee meeting held on 13 
July 2012 (copy enclosed). 
 

3.  South East Lincolnshire Local Plan: Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document: Preferred Options Version (Pages 7 - 158) - To seek approval of the 
first part of the preferred options version for the purpose of public consultation.  
(Report of the Joint Policy Unit Manager enclosed.) 
 

4.  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent 
 
Note: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the item(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency. 

 
5.  Proposed future meeting dates  - To be confirmed. 

 



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC 
PLANNING COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding, on Friday, 13 July 2012 at 10.00 am. 
 

PRESENT 

  
H R Johnson (Vice-Chairman, in the Chair) 

  

 

B Alcock 
M Brooks 
 

C Brotherton 
R Gambba-Jones 
 

R Leggott 
M Wright 
 

Planning Manager, Head of Planning and Strategy, Joint Policy Unit Manager, Deputy 
Manager of Joint Policy Unit, Forward Planning Officer, Principal Planning Officer, 
Senior Planning Policy Officer, Mr J Scarsbrook and Member Services Officer 
 
In Attendance:  Councillors F Biggadike, C J T H Brewis and R M Rudkin.   
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors P Bedford, 
G K Dark, F Pickett, E Poll and O Snell.  
 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  
 
Nominations were invited for the election of the Chairman of the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee for the ensuing year. 
 
DECISION: 
 
That Councillor P Bedford be elected Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

2. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIRMAN (TO BE FROM A DIFFERENT AUTHORITY TO 
THAT OF THE CHAIRMAN)  
 
Nominations were invited for the election of the Vice-Chairman of the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee for the ensuing year. 
 
DECISION: 
 
That Councillor H R Johnson be elected Vice-Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 
(Councillor H R Johnson in the Chair.) 
 

3. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 27 April 2012 were signed by the Vice-Chairman 
as a correct record. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 2.

Page 1



- 2 - 
 

SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 
July 2012 

 

 

4. DRAFT REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR SOUTH EAST 
LINCOLNSHIRE  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Joint Policy Unit Manager which sought 
approval for a revised Local Development Scheme (LDS) for South East Lincolnshire. 
 
Councillor H R Johnson explained that the main difference between the current draft 
and the earlier scheme was that the draft now included provision for a  ‘preferred 
options’ stage in the preparation of the Strategy and Policies  Development Plan 
Document.   
 
The Joint Policy Unit Manager reminded members that the LDS had been approved 
by Committee and submitted to the Secretary of State in September 2011. Following 
submission, work on the preparation of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan had 
been gathering momentum, particularly since two new full-time members of the Joint 
Policy Unit had commenced work earlier in the year.  
 
The Joint Policy Unit Manager advised that, following the submission of the original 
LDS and further reflection on how  best to progress the preparation of the Local Plan, 
he was recommending the inclusion of a ‘preferred options’ stage in the preparation 
of the Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document.   He informed members 
that it was planned to submit the draft preferred options document to the Committee 
by the end of the year, to approve for public consultation.   
 
Members raised the following points: 
 

• Careful risk assessment of managing the plan-preparation process is required, 
and there is a need to keep the new Committee informed of progress. 

• Engagement with the public – need to ensure that the public consultation 
processes are robust. 

• The need to address gaps in  policy as a result of the publication of the new 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

• The need to consider training/awareness-raising for members of the new  
Committee. 

• The implications of preparing a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), including 
those relating to Section 106 agreements. 

• The  approach towards neighbourhood planning and the definition of 
‘community’. 

• Concern about the loss of conservation policies from the list of saved policies 
in the LDS appendices. 

• The need for the LDS to include a position statement regarding current Boston 
Borough Council informal policies. 

• The need for an annual monitoring report to comment  on progress in meeting 
the targets set out in the LDS timetable . 

• The position regarding a policy on wind turbines. 
 

Page 2



- 3 - 
 

SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 
July 2012 

 

 

The Committee discussed and noted the points which had been raised.  Officers 
would make amendments to the LDS arising out of the discussion. 
 
DECISION: 
 
a) That the contents of the report and the draft Local Development Scheme be 

considered; 
 
b) That the relevant amendments be made to the Local Development Scheme; 
 
c) That the draft Local Development Scheme, as amended, be approved; and 
 
d) That the draft Local Development Scheme takes effect from 31 July 2012.   
 
(Councillor C J T H Brewis entered the meeting at 10.20 am, during consideration of 
the above item.) 
 

5. DRAFT VISION STATEMENT AND OBJECTIVES  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Joint Policy Unit Manager which sought 
consideration of the draft Vision and Objectives of the Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan document.   
 
Members raised the following points: 
 

• Concern regarding the statement about the rail-freight interchange and its  
potential impact on the public’s perception of the project. 

• The need to explore the A16 road link between Boston and Spalding and the 
concerns about roundabouts along the route that were not fit for purpose. 

• The need for a roundabout at Peppermint Junction on the A17. 

• The questioning of the need to protect agricultural land in South Holland 
District.  

• The role of Boston town centre and the opportunity to enhance its status 
through the Boston Barrier Initiative. 

• The need for more emphasis on promoting villages. 

• The need to encourage new industries in rural areas, taking advantage of new 
technologies.   

• The need to balance residential and employment development in settlements. 

• Taking forward the objectives of the Spalding Waterspace Study. 

• How will ‘singularly innovative’ comments made in response to the visioning 
exercise be explored further? 

 
The Committee discussed and noted the points which had been raised. Officers 
would take these into account in reviewing the documents.   
 

Page 3



- 4 - 
 

SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 
July 2012 

 

 

DECISION: 
 
a) That the contents of the report be noted; and 
 
b) That the draft Vision and Objectives of the Strategy and Policies Development 

Plan document be reviewed and re-submitted to a future Local Plan Steering 
Group meeting for final approval.   

 
(Councillor F Biggadike left the meeting at 11.50 am, during consideration of the 
above item.) 
 
(The Planning Policy Officer left the meeting at 11.50 am and returned at 11.52 am, 
during consideration of the above item.) 
 
(Councillor R Gambba-Jones left the meeting at 12.03 pm and returned at 12.06 pm, 
during consideration of the above item.) 
 
(The Principle Planning Officer left the meeting at 12.03 pm, during consideration of 
the above item.) 
 

6. ASSESSMENT OF THE SUSTAINABILITY OF RURAL SETTLEMENTS  
 
Consideration was given to the report of the Joint Policy Unit Manager which 
provided information on the settlement assessment work. 
 
Members requested that the information regarding the provision of services and 
facilities within settlements, contained within Appendix A of the report, be updated.  
Officers requested that members provide information to assist this revision process.  
 
DECISION: 
 
a) That the contents of the report and the ‘South East Lincolnshire – An 

assessment of settlements and their sustainability credentials’ document be 
considered;  

 
b) That the contents of the report be noted; and 
 
c) That officers liaise with ward members and parish councillors to assist the 

collection of up-to-date information on the location of services and facilities.  
 
(The Joint Policy Unit Manager left the meeting at 12.05 pm and returned at 12.10 
pm, during consideration of the above item.) 
 
(The Head of Planning and Strategy left the meeting at 12.06 pm and returned at 
12.08 pm, during consideration of the above item.) 
 

Page 4



- 5 - 
 

SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 
July 2012 

 

 

(Councillor B Alcock left the meeting at 12.12 pm, during consideration of the above 
item.) 
 
(Councillor M Brookes left the meeting at 12.15 pm and returned at 12.17 pm, during 
consideration of the above item.) 
 
(Councillor R Rudkin left the meeting at 12.17 pm, during consideration of the above 
item.) 
 

7. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  
 
There was none. 
 

8. PROPOSED FUTURE MEETING DATES  
 
Friday 21 September 2012 at 10.00 am, Boston Borough Council. 
 
(The meeting ended at 12.32 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 

Page 5



Page 6

This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE   
(THE JOINT COMMITTEE) 

 
Report of: Joint Policy Unit Manager 
 
To:             The Joint Committee – 25 January 2013 
 
(Author:     Gary Alexander, Joint Policy Unit Manager) 
 
Subject:    South East Lincolnshire Local Plan: Strategy and Policies 

 Development Plan Document: Preferred Options version 
 
Purpose:   To seek approval of the first part of the Preferred Options version 

 for the purpose of public consultation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.0    INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Members will recall that, at its meeting on 13th July 2012, the South East 

Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee (the Joint Committee) resolved 
to approve its revised local development scheme (LDS) and that this first  
revision of the LDS come into effect on 31st July 2012. The LDS sets out a 
rolling programme for the preparation of local development documents (DPDs), 
including development plan documents, that will make up the Joint Committee’s 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (Local Plan).     

 
1.2 The revised LDS indicates that the preparation of ‘Preferred Options’, as part of 

the process of producing the Strategy and Policies DPD, would be undertaken 
in the period up to Christmas 2012. Significant progress was made throughout 
2012 by the Local Plan Steering Group and a number of key areas were 
discussed and content agreed for the consideration of the Joint Committee. 
However, due to the complexity of some of the issues associated with preparing 
a DPD for South East Lincolnshire, notably planning for flood risk, the need for 
additional work affected the timetable for the preparation of the Preferred 
Options document.  Work on it is now expected to be completed in early March 
to enable public consultation in spring 2013.  Subject to the responses received 
on the Preferred Options document, a degree of weight can start to be attached 
to the content of the emerging Local Plan.   

 

It is recommended that members: 
 
a) consider the contents of this report and the attached Appendix  A setting 

out the first part of the Preferred Options version of the Strategy and 
Policies Development Plan Document;  

 
b) agree to approve, in principle, the contents of Appendix A, with or without 

revisions, for the purpose of public consultation; and  
 
c) following b) above, delegate authority to officers to make any necessary 

changes to the content of Appendix A in respect of matters relating to 
presentation or factual correction or updating.  

Agenda Item 3.

Page 7



1.3 In the meantime, Appendix A to this report represents the latest version of the 
intended Preferred Options document. This is based on the outcomes from a 
number of policy areas that have been considered by officers and Members at 
informal meetings held during 2012. The purpose of this report is to enable the 
Joint Committee to formally approve, in principle, the contents of Appendix A for 
the purpose of statutory public consultation. The outstanding proposed contents 
of the Preferred Options document will be presented for approval in principle at 
the next meeting of the Joint Committee (date to be finalised). 

 
1.4 Given the amount of content in Appendix A, it is clear that the final version of 

the Preferred Options document will be of substantial size. It is therefore 
proposed to provide a ‘Summary’ version of the full Preferred Options document 
for the purpose of public consultation.     

 
2.0    THE PREPARATION OF THE PREFERRED OPTIONS 
 
2.1   The established approach to preparing DPDs as part of a Local Development 

Framework (LDF) under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and accompanying regulations was to prepare ‘Issues and 
Options’ for public consultation, followed by seeking representations on 
‘Preferred Options’ and finally preparing, and seeking representations on, a 
Submission Draft of the DPD.  This approach was designed to ‘front-load’ 
community involvement and was also intended to facilitate the appraisal of 
options (primarily through the sustainability appraisal [SA] process), which 
remains an important factor in terms of determining the ‘soundness’ of DPDs at 
independent examination. NB: It should be noted that SA fully incorporates the 
requirements of the European Directive on Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA Directive 2001/21/EC) (the SEA Directive). 

 
2.2  The emergence of the Localism Act, the National Planning Policy Framework 

(the NPPF) and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (the Regulations) have heralded a return to the phrase ‘local 
plan’, rather than ‘local development framework’.  The Regulations also 
seemingly present a more relaxed route to the adoption of DPDs in terms of 
community involvement.  The Regulations allow for a single round of 
consultation during the plan preparation process, which on the face of it seems 
to suggest that the ‘Issues and Options’ and ‘Preferred Options’ stages are no 
longer required. Consequently, it would be possible to draft a pre-2004 style 
local plan in its entirety and subject it to a single stage of public consultation 
prior to submission for examination.  However, in light of the provisions of both 
the SEA Directive and the NPPF it is clear that this approach would risk the 
DPD being found ‘unsound’ at examination.  This is because it is a requirement 
of both the SEA Directive and the NPPF that ‘reasonable alternatives’ are 
considered in the plan-preparation process.  The SEA Directive requires that 
‘the likely significant effects on the environment of implementing the plan or 
programme, and reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives and 
the geographical scope of the plan or programme, are identified, described and 
evaluated’.  The NPPF highlights the point that one of the tests of soundness at 
a local plan examination will be that it is ‘justified’ i.e. that ‘the plan should be 
the most appropriate strategy, when considered against the reasonable 
alternatives, based on proportionate evidence’. 

 

Page 8



2.3 In order to expedite the preparation of a Local Plan for South East Lincolnshire, 
but also to be mindful of the legal requirements of the SEA Directive and the 
NPPF tests of soundness, an innovative approach has been devised.  In recent 
times, emerging DPDs have been accompanied by standalone SAs that have 
in many cases been very lengthy and inaccessible documents.  The alternative 
approach presented in Appendix A embraces the spirit of SA and integrates it 
into the process of identifying and appraising reasonable options in order to 
formulate a set of preferred policy approaches which will be the subject of 
statutory public consultation. This ensures that the processes of SA and the 
exploration of reasonable alternatives are combined and clearly articulated to 
consultees in one all-encompassing document. 

 
2.4 Appendix A outlines in more detail how this method works in practice and 

explains the layout of this Preferred Options Report.    
  
3.0    THE NEXT STEPS 
 
3.1 Subject to Joint Committee approval, the finalised Preferred Options document   

will be the subject of statutory public consultation, the results of which will 
inform the preparation of the ‘Submission version’ of the Strategy and Policies 
DPD (the DPD). This will also be the subject of statutory public consultation. 
The Submission version along with the results of the associated public 
consultation exercise will then be sent to the Secretary of State for the purpose 
of informing the preparation of the independent examination of the DPD. 

 
3.2 In developing the Submission version of the DPD, the Joint Committee will 

need to be satisfied that the final version of it is deliverable based on a sound 
understanding of the infrastructure costs and development economics of the 
area.  Additionally, the Localism Act introduces a ‘duty to cooperate’ with 
adjoining authorities and this will be examined when the DPD is submitted.  In 
addition to the SA work, the final DPD will also need to be accompanied by an 
Appropriate Assessment under the Habitat Regulations.  Initial work has been 
undertaken in all these areas in preparing the Preferred Options document and 
they will continue to form important areas of the work programme in 2013.    

 
4.0    VIEWS OF THE HEAD OF BUILT ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT, 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL AND THE PLANNING MANAGER, 
BRECKLAND COUNCIL AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
4.1 The Head of Built Environment and Development, Boston Borough Council has 

been consulted and: ‘is satisfied with the approach taken so far and supports the 
recommendations, although would have far preferred the Committee to have 
been able to be presented with a document which could be considered as one 
and in entirety. The Committee might wish therefore to consider reserving full 
consideration and final approval of the document for consultation purposes to 
the next meeting of the Committee when a complete document will be available. 
He also considers it imperative for both Committee and for public consultation 
consideration purposes that a succinct Executive Summary of the document be 
prepared for release’. 

 

Page 9



4.2 The Planning Manager, Breckland and South Holland District Councils has been 
consulted and: ‘advises the Committee that the Local Plan Working Group has 
made significant progress in 2012 as per the work programme set out by this 
Committee.  The Strategy and Policies document provided at Appendix A 
represents the outputs of regular and intensive meetings of the Working Group 
throughout the past 6 months, together with numerous technical meetings to 
ensure that the Plan is deliverable and realistic.  The consideration of the latest 
content of the document by this Committee will enable the Local Plan to be 
consulted on later in spring 2013, which will be a significant milestone.   Detailed 
comments on the specific chapters in Appendix A will be reported at the meeting 
of the Joint Committee’. 

 
5.0    VIEWS OF OTHER CONSULTEES 
 
5.1    The Strategic Planning Manager, Lincolnshire County Council, has been 

consulted and has no comments to make on the covering report. 
 
5.2 The Monitoring Officer representative for Boston Borough Council and 

Lincolnshire County Council has been consulted and has no comments to 
make. 

 
5.3 The Monitoring Officer for South Holland District Council has been consulted 

and a response will be reported at the meeting of the Joint Committee. 
 
5.4 The S151 Officer for Boston Borough Council has been consulted and a 

response will be reported at the meeting of the Joint Committee. 
 
5.5 The S151 Officer for Lincolnshire County Council has been consulted and a 

response will be reported at the meeting of the Joint Committee. 
 
5.6 The S151 Officer for Breckland and South Holland District Councils has been 

consulted and has no comments to make. 
 
6.0   OPTIONS 
 
6.1   Members can accept the contents of Appendix A or require amendments to it. 
 
7.0   REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
7.1   There is a current statutory requirement for the Joint Committee to prepare one 

or more development plan documents that will form the South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan. The Preferred Options stage of the preparation of the Strategy and 
Policies DPD is identified in the Joint Committee’s LDS. 

 
8.0   IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Risk: Without up-to-date local planning policies for South East Lincolnshire, 

future planning decisions would have to rely upon the provisions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. This could result in decisions being made that did 
not properly reflect how the Government’s presumption in favour of sustainable 
development should be applied locally. 

 

Page 10



8.2 Financial: There are no direct financial implications arising from the   
recommendations to this report. 

 
8.3 Legal: See para 7.1. 
 
8.4 Equality and Diversity: The final version of the Preferred Options Document 

will contain an ‘Equalities Assessment’ of the preferred policy approaches.  
  
9.0    WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 
9.1   The implications of the proposed new Local Plan documents affect all 

wards/communities. 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background papers - None 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name/Post:  Gary Alexander, South East Lincolnshire Joint Policy Unit 

Manager 
Telephone Number: 01775 761161 
Email:  info@sholland.gov.uk 
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A – Combined Preferred Options and Sustainability Appraisal Report; 
Committee Version (January 2013)  
 

Page 11



Page 12

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE LOCAL PLAN 
 

Strategy and Policies DPD 
 

Combined Preferred Options and 
Sustainability Appraisal Report 

 
Committee Version (January 2013) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 2 

Table of Contents 
 
 
List of Figures 
 
List of Tables 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 3 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee 
 
1.1.1 On 5th July 2011 the South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Order 

2011 came into force (2011 No.1455).  This Order establishes a Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee (Joint Committee) for the areas of the districts of Boston and South Holland 
(known collectively as South East Lincolnshire).  The constituent authorities are 
Lincolnshire County Council, Boston Borough Council and South Holland District Council.   

  
1.1.2 Article  3  of  the  Order  constitutes  the  Joint  Committee  as  the  local  planning 

authority   for   South   East   Lincolnshire   for   the   purposes   of   Part   2   (local 
development) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, as amended, (the  
2004  Act).  Together  with  article  4  it  provides  for  the  Joint  Committee  to exercise 
the functions of a local planning authority in relation to:   

· the  preparation,  submission,  adoption,  monitoring  and  revision  of  joint local 
development  documents  identified  in  a  joint  local  development scheme; and 

· the preparation, submission, adoption, monitoring and revision of a joint local 
development scheme, in respect of those documents. 

 
Figure XX: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 4 

1.2 The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 
 
1.2.1 In light of the above considerations a joint Local Plan for South East Lincolnshire (Boston 

Borough and South Holland District) is being produced.  Over  time  the  Local  Plan  will  
replace  the  saved  policies  in  the  Boston Borough and South Holland Local Plans.  The 
Local Plan will attempt to give an effective spatial expression to the vision and aspirations 
of South East Lincolnshire’s local communities and to those elements of the relevant 
strategies and programmes which relate to the development and use of land in the area.  
This should be coupled with a local interpretation of the requirements of the national 
planning policies, particularly the new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).   

 
1.2.2 The Local Plan will, in essence, comprise two parts: Part 1 will be entitled Strategy and 

Policies Development Plan Document (DPD); and Part 2 will be entitled: Site Allocations 
DPD.  The Strategy and Policies DPD will be the principal document in the Local Plan.  It 
will contain the Joint Committee’s spatial vision and strategic priorities for South East 
Lincolnshire; a spatial strategy, ‘core’ policies and broad locations for growth   for   
delivering   the   vision   and   priorities;   and   a   monitoring   and implementation 
framework with clear objectives for achieving delivery.  In addition,  it  will  contain  a  
limited  number  of  generic  development  control policies, against which planning 
applications for the development and use of land and buildings will be considered.  All 
subsequent DPDs and Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) must  be  consistent  
with  it  until  such  time  as  it  is  intended  to  supersede part or all of it.  On adoption it 
will be supported by an adopted proposals map  which  will  be  updated  on  each  
occasion  a  new  or  revised  DPD  is adopted. 

 

1.3 NPPF, Sustainability Appraisal (SA) and Habitats Regulation 
Assessment (HRA) 

 
1.3.1 The NPPF outlines a number of tests of soundness that an independent inspector will take 

into account when judging whether a Local Plan is ‘sound’ – namely that it is: 

· Positively prepared – the plan should be prepared based on a strategy which seeks to 
meet objectively assessed development and infrastructure requirements, including 
unmet requirements from neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so and 
consistent with achieving sustainable development; 

· Justified – the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when considered against 
the reasonable alternative, based on proportionate evidence; 

· Effective – the plan should be deliverable over its period and based on effective joint 
working on cross-boundary strategic priorities; and 

· Consistent with national policy – the plan should enable the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in the Framework. 

 
1.3.2 SA is a statutory requirement for DPDs and is the means by which a plan can demonstrate 

the ‘justified’ test of soundness outlined in the NPPF.  It should be noted that SA fully 
incorporates the requirements of the European Directive on Strategic Environmental 
Assessment (SEA Directive 2001/21/EC).  The first step in the SA process is to prepare a 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report, which sets the scope of the appraisal.  Detailed 
information on the overall approach to the SA of the Strategy and Policies DPD can be 
found within the Strategy and Policies DPD Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report, which 
was completed in July 2012.  The approach to SA in respect of this Preferred Options 
Document is outlined below in sections 1.4 and 1.5. 

 
1.3.3 It is a requirement of Article 6 of the EC Habitats Directive 1992 and Regulation 48 of the 

Conservation (Natural Habitats &c) Regulations 1994 (as amended) that ‘land use plans’, 

Page 16



 5 

including local authority Local Plans, are subject to a HRA, commonly known as 
‘Appropriate Assessment’ (AA), if it is likely that they will lead to significant adverse effects 
on a Natura 2000 site.  These are Special Areas of Conservation, (SACs) and Special 
Protection Areas, (SPAs). As a matter of UK Government policy Ramsar sites, candidate 
SACs and proposed SPAs are given equivalent status for the purpose of HRA.  Initial 
scoping information related to HRA is outlined in the Strategy and Policies DPD 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report.  The approach to HRA in respect of this Preferred 
Options Document is outlined below in section 1.5. 

 

1.4   Approach to the Preparation of the Strategy and Policies DPD 
 
1.4.1 The established approach to preparing DPDs as part of a Local Development Framework 

(LDF) under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 
accompanying regulations was to prepare ‘Issues and Options’ for public consultation, 
followed by seeking representations on ‘Preferred Options’ and finally preparing, and 
seeking representations on, a Submission Draft of the DPD.  This approach was designed 
to ‘front-load’ community involvement and was also intended to facilitate the appraisal of 
options (primarily through the SA process), which was an important factor in terms of 
soundness at Local Plan Examination. 

 
1.4.2 The emergence of the Localism Act, the NPPF and the Town and Country Planning (Local 

Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 have heralded a return to the phrase ‘Local Plan’, 
rather than ‘Local Development Framework’.  The regulations also seemingly present a 
more relaxed route to the adoption of DPDs in terms of community involvement.  The 
Regulations allow for a single round of consultation during the plan preparation process, 
which on the face of it seems to suggest that the ‘Issues and Options’ and ‘Preferred 
Options’ stages are no longer required and that it would be possible to draft a pre-2004 
style Local Plan in its entirety to consult upon once prior to submission for Examination.  
However, in light of the provisions of both the SEA Directive and the NPPF it is clear that 
this approach would risk the plan being found ‘unsound’ at Examination.  This is because it 
is a requirement of both the SEA Directive and the NPPF that ‘reasonable alternatives’ are 
considered in the plan-preparation process.  The SEA Directive requires that ‘the likely 
significant effects on the environment of implementing the plan or programme, and 
reasonable alternatives taking into account the objectives and the geographical scope of 
the plan or programme, are identified, described and evaluated’.  The NPPF highlights that 
one of the tests of soundness at Local Plan Examination will be that it is ‘justified’ i.e. that 
‘the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when considered against the reasonable 
alternatives, based on proportionate evidence’. 

 
1.4.3 In order to expedite the preparation of a Local Plan for South East Lincolnshire, but also to 

be mindful of the legal requirements of the SEA Directive and the NPPF tests of 
soundness, a new approach has been devised.  In recent times, emerging DPDs have 
been accompanied by standalone SAs that have in many cases been very lengthy and 
inaccessible documents.  The alternative approach presented here embraces the spirit of 
SA and integrates it into the process of identifying and appraising reasonable options in 
order to formulate a set of preferred policy approaches which will be the subject of 
statutory public consultation. This ensures that the processes of SA and the exploration of 
reasonable alternatives are combined and clearly articulated to consultees in one all-
encompassing document.  

 
1.4.4 The following section outlines in more detail how this method works in practice and 

explains the layout of this Preferred Options Report.      
 

Page 17



 6 

1.5 The Combined Preferred Options and SA Report 
 
1.5.1 Following on from this introduction, a spatial portrait and vision and strategic priorities are 

presented.  These are followed by a series of chapters covering the following themes: 

· Housing Growth and Flood Risk 

· Sustainable Development and Spatial Strategy  

· Housing 

· Economy 

· Environment 

· Community, Health and Well-being 

· Transport  

· Delivery 
 

1.5.2 Within each of the above chapters the relevant policy context and evidence related to each 
theme are presented.  This enables the identification of ‘key issues’ that require a policy 
response.  By presenting this information in one document as a means of generating 
issues and options, it is easy to provide an audit trail to ensure that emerging policies are 
consistent with national policy and are based on proportionate evidence, both key to the 
NPPF tests of soundness.  Also outlined is where issues are dealt with by other policies, 
either saved existing Local Plan policies, policies within the Site Allocations DPD, or other 
policies within this Preferred Options Report.  Section 1.6 provides further information on 
retained policies. 

 
1.5.3 Following on from this, a series of ‘approaches’ are outlined in response to the identified 

key issues.  For each approach ‘reasonable’ and ‘unreasonable’ policy options are 
discussed.  The reasonable policy options are then taken forward and put through the SA 
process (full detail on the approach to SA is outlined within the standalone SA Scoping 
Report, whilst key elements related to the approach to scoring are appended to this 
document).  Clear reasons for unreasonable options being discarded are outlined.  In line 
with the requirements of the SEA Directive, reasonable options are considered against the 
baseline situation as documented in the SA Scoping Report.  However, the relative 
positive and negative impact of options is also discussed.  Any issues related to delivery 
and the relative advantages/disadvantages of different options in this respect are then 
considered.  Based on the findings of the SA and issues related to delivery, a preferred 
option is then outlined. DEFINE REASONABLE/UNREASONABLE 

 
1.5.4 Following on from the series of approaches, a reason for the ‘preferred policy approach’ is 

detailed.  This details how the preferred options will be expressed through policy.  The 
preferred policy approaches are then presented.  For each policy approach a HRA/AA 
Assessment Screening is carried out to determine whether the policy approach should be 
taken forward and assessed through the full HRA/AA process in due course.  Where 
required, this will be carried out alongside production of the submission version of the 
Strategy and Policies DPD.  Information relating to the methodology for HRA/AA is outlined 
in the SA Scoping Report  

 
1.5.5 EQUALITIES PROFORMA 
 
1.5.6 The approach outlined above is felt to be the most expedient way of achieving a ‘sound’ 

DPD, in that it seeks not only to reduce the burden of several rounds of consultation, but 
also to address the legal requirement to consider reasonable alternatives in the 
preparation of a Local Plan.  This enables a clear audit trail to be presented as to how, 
from a blank canvass, preferred policy approaches have been determined.  It also goes 

Page 18



 7 

some way to demonstrating the ‘justified’, ‘effective’ and ‘consistent with national policy’ 
tests of soundness as outlined in the NPPF.      

 
1.5.7 By demonstrating a clear audit trail of reasonable and unreasonable options and the 

means by which they have been generated, discarded, appraised and, ultimately, how a 
preferred policy approach has been chosen, consultees should be able to appreciate the 
process taken and be well placed to raise issues, questions and alternative approaches for 
consideration.  This should pay dividends as progress is made towards a final submission 
draft of the Strategy and Policies DPD.   

 
1.6 Retained Policies  
 
1.7 Consultation 
 
1.7.1 This document is the subject of public consultation in accordance with Regulation 18 of the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  
Representations are invited on all aspects of the document, in particular the preferred 
policy approaches outlined throughout the document and the manner in which reasonable 
and unreasonable options have been derived and subsequently appraised through the SA 
process.  We would also welcome representations on where it is felt other reasonable 
options have not been explored. 

 
1.7.2 Consultation period 
 
1.8 Next Steps 
 
1.8.1 Following on from the consultation process, all representations will be taken into account 

and will inform the production of the submission version of the Strategy and Policies DPD 
that will be the subject of independent examination.  This will be accompanied by a final 
SA report and final HRA/AA report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 8 

2.0 Spatial Portrait 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20



 9 

3.0 Vision and Strategic Priorities 
 

3.1 A Vision for South East Lincolnshire 
 
3.1.1 A vision and has been prepared to guide sustainable development in South East 

Lincolnshire over the plan period to 2031.  Whilst it is important that any vision has a local 
‘flavour’ and is aspirational, ultimately it must be realistic and deliverable over the plan 
period.  The vision statement is as follows: 

 

 

3.2 Strategic Priorities for South East Lincolnshire 
 
3.2.1 It is a requirement of the NPPF that local planning authorities set out strategic priorities for 

the area covered by the Local Plan.  The following strategic priorities for South East 
Lincolnshire are the main principles that will be followed to deliver the vision.  They also 
set the broad direction for the detailed preferred policy approaches outlined in this 
document and in due course the policies that will be in the adopted Local Plan.  They will 
also be used to help monitor the success of the Local Plans implementation.  In light of this 
fact it is important that they, as with the vision, must be realistic and deliverable over the 
plan period. 

 

South East Lincolnshire is a fenland landscape, predominantly rural in nature, 
comprising a collection of locally distinctive historic market towns and villages, 
agricultural land of national importance and internationally protected wildlife habitats.  
It is recognised as an important centre for food production, processing and distribution 
around which the local economy has developed.    
 
Our Vision for South East Lincolnshire: 
 
By 2031 South East Lincolnshire’s settlements and rural hinterland will have developed 
in response to the challenges of climate change, and particularly in respect of flood risk 
concerns, to have grown in a more sustainable manner to provide more diverse, 
prosperous, resilient and self-sustaining communities.   
 
This will have been achieved by the delivery of new sustainably designed and 
constructed homes and employment opportunities to meet the needs of the whole 
population, supported by the necessary facilities, services and infrastructure.   
 
The economic base of the area will have been strengthened by supporting existing 
businesses and by providing new opportunities that will build upon current strengths in 
food production, processing and distribution. 
 
The delivery of key infrastructure, including highway improvements and measures to 
reduce the causes and impacts of flooding, will have kept pace with levels of growth to 
ensure that new development is both sustainable and deliverable.   
 
The natural, built and historic environment will have been protected and enhanced, 
where appropriate, to ensure that their inherent social, economic and environmental 
qualities are retained and that opportunities for sustainable tourism can be realised.  In 
meeting the needs of development, every effort will have been made to minimise the 
loss of high-quality agricultural land. 

Page 21



 10 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainable Development 
 

1. To ensure that growth in South East Lincolnshire delivers sustainable 
development that seeks to meet the social and economic needs of the area, whilst 
protecting and enhancing its environment for the enjoyment of future 
generations. 

 
2. To deliver development in sustainable locations that seeks to meet the needs of 

the whole area through the identification of a strategic planning framework that 
takes account of flood risk to guide the scale, distribution and nature of new 
development across South East Lincolnshire. 

Housing 
 

3. To seek to meet the housing needs of the whole of South East Lincolnshire’s 
population, including the provision of an appropriate proportion of affordable 
housing for those in need. 

Economy 
 

4. To provide the right conditions and sufficient land in appropriate locations to 
diversify and strengthen the economic base of South East Lincolnshire to meet 
the needs of existing companies, to attract new businesses and sources of 
employment, and to take advantage of historic and environmental assets to 
maximise the potential for sustainable tourism. 

 
5. To create a mutually-supportive hierarchy of vibrant self-contained centres 

providing employment, retailing and services for South East Lincolnshire by 
encouraging an appropriate scale of retail, leisure and other town-centre 
development and by maximising opportunities for regeneration.   

Communities, Health and Well-Being 
 

6. To seek to improve the quality of life for everyone who lives, visits, works and 
invests in South East Lincolnshire by protecting and enhancing access to homes, 
employment, retail, education, healthcare, community and leisure facilities, and 
open space. 

Page 22



 11 

 
 

 

 
 

3.3 Compatibility of the Strategic Priorities and SA Topics 
 
3.3.1 It is necessary to carry out a compatibility test of the Strategy and Policies DPD ‘Strategic 

Priorities’ and the SA topics. 
 
To be completed - table 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Environment 
 

7. To protect and enhance, where appropriate, South East Lincolnshire’s natural, 
built and historic environment. 

 
8. To adapt to, and mitigate against the effects of, climate change by reducing 

exposure to flood risk, minimising carbon emissions through the sustainable 
location, design and construction of new development, promoting energy 
efficiency and renewable energy, enhancing the green infrastructure network, and 
by minimising the need to travel. 

   
9. To ensure that land is used efficiently and that the loss of South East 

Lincolnshire’s high-quality agricultural land resource is minimised by developing 
in sustainable locations, at appropriate densities and by prioritising the reuse of 
previously-developed land. 

Transport 
 

10. To improve accessibility for all to jobs, services and facilities, thereby minimising 
the need to travel. 

 
11. To maximise the potential for modal shift to sustainable forms of transport, whilst 

recognising the importance of the private car in rural areas, by seeking to improve 
South East Lincolnshire’s highway infrastructure and thereby minimising 

congestion, improving road safety and aiding economic development. 

Delivery 
 

12. To ensure that development contributes to the provision of necessary physical, 
social and green infrastructure to deliver planned levels of growth and mitigate 
its impacts on existing communities and the environment. 

Page 23



 12 

4.0 Housing Growth and Flood Risk 
 
4.0.1 The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (the Local Plan) will cover the period from 2011 to 

2031. This first chapter deals with the development of preferred policy options for the scale 
of additional housing development to be accommodated in South East Lincolnshire over 
the period of the Local Plan and the role of the flood-risk concept of flood hazard in 
influencing its location.  These preferred policy options provide an essential context for the 
preparation of the rest of the proposals set out in the chapters which follow. 

 

4.1 Policy Context   
 
Local Plan Strategic Priorities 
 
4.1.1 The following Local Plan strategic priorities are relevant: 

· To seek to meet the housing needs of the whole of South East Lincolnshire’s 
population, including the provision of an appropriate proportion of affordable housing 
for those in need. 

· To adapt to, and mitigate against the effects of, climate change by reducing exposure 
to flood risk, minimising carbon emissions through the sustainable location, design and 
construction of new development, promoting energy efficiency and renewable energy, 
enhancing the green infrastructure network, and by minimising the need to travel. 

       
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
4.1.2 Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes 
 

‘To boost significantly the supply of housing, local planning authorities should: 

· use their evidence base to ensure that their Local Plan meets the full, objectively 
assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the housing market area, as far 
as is consistent with the policies set out in this Framework……; 

· identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites1…sufficient to provide 
five years worth of housing against their housing requirements with an additional buffer 
of 5% (moved forward from later in the plan period) to ensure choice and competition in 
the market for land…….’2. 

 
4.1.3 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
 

‘Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing 
development away from areas at highest risk, but where development is necessary, 
making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere.  Local Plans should be supported 
by Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and develop policies to manage flood risk from all 
sources, taking account of advice from the Environment Agency and other relevant flood 
risk management bodies, such as lead local flood authorities and internal drainage boards. 
Local Plans should apply a sequential, risk-based approach to the location of development 
to avoid where possible flood risk to people and property and manage any residual risk, 
taking account of the impacts of climate change, by: 

· applying the Sequential Test; 

                                                 
1
 To be considered deliverable, sites should be available now, offer a suitable location for development now, and be 

achievable with a realistic prospect that housing will be delivered on the site within five years and in particular that 
development of the site is viable. Sites with planning permission should be considered deliverable until permission 
expires, unless there is clear evidence that schemes will not be implemented within five years, for example they will 
not be viable, there is no longer a demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans. 
2
 The buffer should be 20% if there has been a record of persistent underdelivery. 

Page 24



 13 

· if necessary, applying the Exception Test; 

· safeguarding land from development that is required for current and future flood 
management; 

· using opportunities offered by new development to reduce the causes and impacts of 
flooding; and 

· where climate change is expected to increase flood risk so that some existing 
development may not be sustainable in the long-term, seeking opportunities to facilitate 
the relocation of development, including housing, to more sustainable locations. 

 
The aim of the Sequential Test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest 
probability of flooding.  Development should not be allocated or permitted if there are 
reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in areas with a lower 
probability of flooding.  The Strategic Flood Risk Assessment will provide the basis for 
applying this test. A sequential approach should be used in areas known to be at risk from 
any form of flooding.  If, following application of the Sequential Test, it is not possible, 
consistent with wider sustainability objectives, for the development to be located in zones 
with a lower probability of flooding, the Exception Test can be applied if appropriate. For 
the Exception Test to be passed: 

· it must be demonstrated that the development provides wider sustainability benefits to 
the community that outweigh flood risk, informed by a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 
where one has been prepared; and 

· a site-specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate that the development will be 
safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing 
flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce flood risk overall. 

  
Both elements of the test will have to be passed for development to be allocated or 
permitted.’ 

4.1.4 Using a proportionate evidence base 
 

‘Local planning authorities should have a clear understanding of housing needs in their 
area. They should: 

· prepare a Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) to assess their full housing 
needs, working with neighbouring authorities where housing market areas cross 
administrative boundaries.  The SHMA should identify the scale and mix of housing and 
the range of tenures that the local population is likely to need over the plan period 
which: 
o meets household and population projections, taking account of  
migration and demographic change; 
o addresses the need for all types of housing, including affordable housing and the 

needs of different groups in the community (such as, but not limited to, families with 
children, older people, people with disabilities, service families and people wishing 
to build their own homes);3 and 

caters for housing demand and the scale of housing supply   necessary to meet this 
demand; 
o prepare a Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) to establish 

realistic assumptions about the availability, suitability and the likely economic 
viability of land to meet the identified need for housing over the plan period’. 

 
‘Local Plans may require a variety of other environmental assessments, including under 
the Habitats Regulations where there is a likely significant effect on a European wildlife site 

                                                 
3
 The planning policy for traveller sites sets out how travellers’ accommodation should also be assessed.’ 

 

Page 25



 14 

(which may not necessarily be within the same local authority area), Strategic Flood Risk 
Assessment and assessments of the physical constraints on land use….  .  Wherever 
possible, assessments should share the same evidence base and be conducted over 
similar timescales, but local authorities should take care to ensure that the purposes and 
statutory requirements of different assessment processes are respected.’ 
 
‘Shoreline Management Plans should inform the evidence base for planning in coastal 
areas.  The prediction of future impacts should include the longer term nature and inherent 
uncertainty of coastal processes (including coastal landslip), and take account of climate 
change.’ 

 
Technical Guidance to the National Planning Policy Framework 
 
4.1.5 ‘As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, inappropriate development in areas 

at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest 
risk, but where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere.  For these purposes:  

· “areas at risk of flooding” means land within Flood Zones 2 and 3; or land within Flood 
Zone 1 which has critical drainage problems and which has been notified to the local 
planning authority by the Environment Agency; 

· “flood risk” means risk from all sources of flooding - including from rivers and the sea, 
directly from rainfall on the ground surface and rising  groundwater, overwhelmed 
sewers and drainage systems, and from reservoirs, canals and lakes and other artificial 
sources.’ 

 
4.1.6 ‘As set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, the aim of the Sequential Test is to 

steer new development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding. The flood zones 
(see table 1) are the starting point for this sequential approach. Zones 2 and 3 are shown 
on the flood map’4 ‘with Flood Zone 1 being all the land falling outside Zones 2 and 3.  
These flood zones refer to the probability of sea and river flooding only, ignoring the 
presence of existing defences.’ 

 
4.1.7 ‘Strategic Flood Risk Assessments (see paragraphs 7-8) refine information on the 

probability of flooding, taking other sources of flooding and the impacts of climate change 
(see paragraphs 11-15) into account.  They provide the basis for applying the Sequential 
Test, on the basis of the flood zones in table 1. Where table 1 indicates the need to apply 
the Exception Test (as set out in the National Planning Policy Framework), the scope of a 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment will be widened to consider the impact of the flood risk 
management infrastructure on the frequency, impact, speed of onset, depth and velocity of 
flooding within the flood zones considering a range of flood risk management maintenance 
scenarios.  Where a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment is not available, the Sequential Test 
will be based on the Environment Agency flood zones.’ 

 

                                                 
4
 To access the flood map, see the Environment Agency’s website at: http://www.environment-

agency.gov.uk/homeandleisure/floods/default.aspx  

Page 26



 15 

4.1.8  ‘The overall aim should be to steer new development to Flood Zone 1.  Where there are 
no reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 1, local planning authorities allocating land in 
local plans or determining planning applications for development at any particular location 
should take into account the flood risk vulnerability of land uses (see table 2) and consider 
reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 2, applying the Exception Test if required (see 
table 3).  Only where there are no reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 or 2 should 
the suitability of sites in Flood Zone 3 be considered, taking into account the flood risk 
vulnerability of land uses and applying the Exception Test if required.’  
 

Table 1: Flood Zones 
(Note: These flood zones refer to probability of river and sea flooding, ignoring the 
presence of defences) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
5
 Sustainable drainage systems cover the whole range of sustainable approaches to surface drainage management. 

They are designed to control surface water run off close to where it falls and mimic natural drainage as closely as 
possible.  

 
Zone 1 - low probability  
  
Definition  
This zone comprises land assessed as having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability 
of river or sea flooding (<0.1%).  
  
Appropriate uses  
All uses of land are appropriate in this zone.  
  
Flood risk assessment requirements  
For development proposals on sites comprising one hectare or above the vulnerability 
to flooding from other sources as well as from river and sea flooding, and the potential 
to increase flood risk elsewhere through the addition of hard surfaces and the effect of 
the new development on surface water run-off, should be incorporated in a flood risk 
assessment. This need only be brief unless the factors above or other local 
considerations require particular attention.   
  
Policy aims  

In this zone, developers and local authorities should seek opportunities to reduce 
the overall level of flood risk in the area and beyond through the layout and form of 
the development, and the appropriate application of sustainable drainage systems5.  

Page 27



 16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Zone 2 - medium probability  
  
Definition  
This zone comprises land assessed as having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 
annual probability of river flooding (1% – 0.1%), or between a 1 in 200 and 1 in 1,000 
annual probability of sea flooding (0.5% – 0.1%) in any year.  
  
Appropriate uses  
Essential infrastructure and the water-compatible, less vulnerable and more vulnerable 
uses, as set out in table 2, are appropriate in this zone. The highly vulnerable uses are 
only appropriate in this zone if the Exception Test is passed.  
  
Flood risk assessment requirements  
All development proposals in this zone should be accompanied by a flood risk 
assessment.   
  
Policy aims  

In this zone, developers and local authorities should seek opportunities to reduce 
the overall level of flood risk in the area through the layout and form of the 
development, and the appropriate application of sustainable drainage systems.  

 
Zone 3a - high probability  
  
Definition  
This zone comprises land assessed as having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability 
of river flooding (>1%), or a 1 in 200 or greater annual probability of flooding from the 
sea (>0.5%) in any year.  
  
Appropriate uses  
The water-compatible and less vulnerable uses of land (table 2) are appropriate in this 
zone. The highly vulnerable uses should not be permitted in this zone.  
  
The more vulnerable uses and essential infrastructure should only be permitted in this 
zone if the Exception Test is passed. Essential infrastructure permitted in this zone 
should be designed and constructed to remain operational and safe for users in times 
of flood.  
  
Flood risk assessment requirements  
All development proposals in this zone should be accompanied by a flood risk 
assessment.  
  
Policy aims  
In this zone, developers and local authorities should seek opportunities to:  

· reduce the overall level of flood risk in the area through the layout and form of 
the development and the appropriate application of sustainable drainage 
systems;  

· relocate existing development to land in zones with a lower probability of 
flooding; and 

· create space for flooding to occur by restoring functional floodplain and flood 
flow pathways and by identifying, allocating and safeguarding open space for 
flood storage 

Page 28



 17 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Zone 3b - the functional floodplain  
  
Definition  
This zone comprises land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood.  
  
Local planning authorities should identify in their Strategic Flood Risk Assessments 
areas of functional floodplain and its boundaries accordingly, in agreement with the 
Environment Agency. The identification of functional floodplain should take account of 
local circumstances and not be defined solely on rigid probability parameters. But land 
which would flood with an annual probability of 1 in 20 (5%) or greater in any year, or is 
designed to flood in an extreme (0.1%) flood, should provide a starting point for 
consideration and discussions to identify the functional floodplain.  
  
Appropriate uses  
Only the water-compatible uses and the essential infrastructure listed in table 2 that 
has to be there should be permitted in this zone. It should be designed and constructed 
to:  

·  remain operational and safe for users in times of flood;  

·  result in no net loss of floodplain storage;  

·  not impede water flows; and  

·  not increase flood risk elsewhere.  
  
Essential infrastructure in this zone should pass the Exception Test.  
  
Flood risk assessment requirements  
All development proposals in this zone should be accompanied by a flood risk 
assessment.  

 
Policy aims  
In this zone, developers and local authorities should seek opportunities to:  

· reduce the overall level of flood risk in the area through the layout and form of 
the development and the appropriate application of sustainable drainage 
systems;  

· relocate existing development to land with a lower probability of flooding. 
 

Page 29



 18 

Table 2: Flood risk vulnerability classification 
 

Essential infrastructure 

· Essential transport infrastructure (including mass evacuation routes) which has 
to cross the area at risk.  

· Essential utility infrastructure which has to be located in a flood risk area for 
operational reasons, including electricity generating power stations and grid and 
primary substations; and water treatment works that need to remain operational 
in times of flood.  

·  Wind turbines.  
 
Highly vulnerable  

· Police stations, ambulance stations and fire stations and command centres and 
telecommunications installations required to be operational during flooding.  

· Emergency dispersal points.  

· Basement dwellings.  

· Caravans, mobile homes and park homes intended for permanent residential 
use3.  

· Installations requiring hazardous substances consent. (Where there is a 
demonstrable need to locate such installations for bulk storage of materials with 
port or other similar facilities, or such installations with energy infrastructure or 
carbon capture and storage installations, that require coastal or water-side 
locations, or need to be located in other high flood risk areas, in these instances 
the facilities should be classified as “essential infrastructure”) 

 
More vulnerable  

· Hospitals.  

· Residential institutions such as residential care homes, children’s homes, social 
services homes, prisons and hostels.  

· Buildings used for dwelling houses, student halls of residence, drinking 
establishments, nightclubs and hotels.  

· Non–residential uses for health services, nurseries and educational 
establishments.  

· Landfill and sites used for waste management facilities for hazardous waste6.  

· Sites used for holiday or short-let caravans and camping, subject to a specific 
warning and evacuation plan. 

 
Less vulnerable  

· Police, ambulance and fire stations which are not required to be operational 
during flooding.  

· Buildings used for shops, financial, professional and other services, restaurants 
and cafes, hot food takeaways, offices, general industry, storage and 
distribution, non–residential institutions not included in “more vulnerable”, and 
assembly and leisure.  

· Land and buildings used for agriculture and forestry.  

· Waste treatment (except landfill and hazardous waste facilities).  

· Minerals working and processing (except for sand and gravel working).  

· Water treatment works which do not need to remain operational during times of 
flood.  

· Sewage treatment works (if adequate measures to control pollution and manage 
sewage during flooding events are in place).  

 
 
 

Page 30



 19 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Notes to table 2:  
a. This classification is based partly on Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and 
Environment Agency research on Flood Risks to People (FD2321/TR2) and also on the need of 
some uses to keep functioning during flooding.  
b. Buildings that combine a mixture of uses should be placed into the higher of the relevant classes 
of flood risk sensitivity. Developments that allow uses to be distributed over the site may fall within 
several classes of flood risk sensitivity.  
c. The impact of a flood on the particular uses identified within this flood risk vulnerability 
classification will vary within each vulnerability class. Therefore, the flood risk management 
infrastructure and other risk mitigation measures needed to ensure the development is safe may 
differ between uses within a particular vulnerability classification.

Water-compatible development  

· Flood control infrastructure.  

· Water transmission infrastructure and pumping stations.  

· Sewage transmission infrastructure and pumping stations.  

· Sand and gravel working.  

· Docks, marinas and wharves.  

· Navigation facilities.  

· Ministry of Defence defence installations.  

· Ship building, repairing and dismantling, dockside fish processing and 
refrigeration and compatible activities requiring a waterside location.  

· Water-based recreation (excluding sleeping accommodation).  

· Lifeguard and coastguard stations.  

· Amenity open space, nature conservation and biodiversity, outdoor sports and 
recreation and essential facilities such as changing rooms.  

· Essential ancillary sleeping or residential accommodation for staff required by 
uses in this category, subject to a specific warning and evacuation plan.  

Page 31



 20 

East Midlands Regional Plan 
 
4.1.9 The East Midlands Regional Plan (the Regional Plan) notes that the panel 

conducting the Regional Plan Examination considered the regeneration and 
development needs of coastal settlements together with the increasing risk of future 
flooding, both from the sea and from rivers, which may result from coastal change.  
They concluded that there was a need for a coastal strategy to be prepared to 
provide a long-term strategic vision for the three coastal districts (i.e. the areas 
administered by Boston Borough, East Lindsey District and South Holland District 
Councils), outlining a strategy for integrating spatial and maritime planning to inform 
the next review of the Regional Plan.  It would be important for this coastal strategy 
to provide a considerably longer-term perspective - beyond that typically covered by 
a Regional Plan - taking into consideration: 

· strategic flood risk assessments; 

· catchment management plans and shoreline management plans; 

· economic strategies;  

· protection of environmental and natural assets; 

· the particular needs of European designated sites; and  

· integration with coastal and flood management strategies in adjacent regions.  
 
4.1.10 It should cover not only the infrastructure needs related to flood defences and flood 

mitigation measures around major settlements but also the protection of high-grade 
agricultural land.  As part of the assessment, the future development and 
regeneration needs of the area should be considered, including the needs of the 
local economy and port developments.  Accordingly, work commenced in 2008 on 
the preparation of what was to be known as the ‘Lincolnshire Coastal Study’  with a 
view to it being a key input to the coastal strategy that would be included in the next 
review of the Regional Plan (which was originally timetabled for completion in the 
autumn of 2011).  In the meantime, it was intended that East Midlands Regional Plan 
Policy 5 (Strategy for Lincolnshire Coastal Districts), see Appendix 1, would provide 
a contingency whereby should the coastal strategy be agreed before the publication 
of the next Regional Plan, the coastal strategy should provide interim guidance for 
local plan preparation.  Any such guidance should adopt a precautionary approach 
that seeks to meet local needs in a sustainable manner with due regard to flood risk 
and appropriate flood mitigation measures as appropriate.  Until the strategy was 
agreed, housing provision in the three Coastal Districts was to be limited to the 
housing provision set out in Policy 13a [Regional Housing Provision (excluding 
Northamptonshire)]6 and, as the policy states, the housing provision figures in the 
three coastal districts should be regarded as ceilings.  An abbreviated version of this 
policy to cover the two districts forming South East Lincolnshire (i.e. Boston Borough 
and South Holland District is set out in Table 1 below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
6
 http://www.leics.gov.uk/east_midlands_regional_plan2.pdf 

Page 32



 21 

Table XX: East Midlands Regional Plan Policy 13a (abbreviated form) 
 

Local Authority area Annual Apportionment 
From 2006 

Total Housing Provision 
2006-2026 

 
Boston Borough 
 

 
270 

 
2,700 

 
South Holland District 
 

 
540 

 
7,400 

 
Total for South East  
Lincolnshire 
 

 
810 

 
10,100 

 
4.1.11 Other relevant content includes: 

· Boston and Spalding are defined as Sub-Regional Centres on the basis of their 
size, the range of services they provide and their potential to accommodate 
further growth; and their capacity to support sustainable development objectives 
(Policies 3 and 4 and their justification); 

· Crowland, Holbeach, Long Sutton and Sutton Bridge are defined as Small Towns 
on the basis that they provide a more limited range of convenience shopping, 
education, community and health facilities and are suitable for development that 
meets local needs (Policies 3 and 4 and their justification). 

 
4.1.12 Following its formulation in May, 2010, the Coalition Government announced its 

intention to abolish all Regional Plans in England and return decision-making powers 
on housing and planning to local councils7.  This would result in decisions on housing 
supply (including the provision of travellers’ sites) resting with local planning 
authorities without the framework of regional numbers and plans.  In the light of this 
announcement, work on the review of the East Midlands Regional Plan was 
discontinued, including preparation of a coastal strategy.  In spite of the early 
intentions of the Coalition Government, none of the Regional Plans have yet been 
formally revoked.  This means that the East Midlands Regional Plan remains part of 
the development plan for South East Lincolnshire.  Another consideration is that the 
new NPPF represents updated national planning policy guidance which takes 
precedence and would reduce the weight that could be given to the content of the 
East Midlands Regional Plan in the circumstances where a conflict in policy 
approach is evident. 

 
4.1.13 In response to the previously-mentioned Regional Plan Examination Panel’s request 

for a coastal strategy to be prepared which would inform preparation of the next 
review of the Regional Plan, the Lincolnshire Coastal Study Group (the Group) was 
formed in 2008, consisting of: 

· Lincolnshire County Council; 

· the coastal local authorities (Boston Borough Council, East Lindsey District and 
South Holland District Councils); 

· the Government  Office  for  the  East  Midlands  (GOEM); 

· East  Midlands  Development  Agency  (emda); 

· the Environment Agency; 

· Natural England; 

                                                 
7
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/letterabolitionstrategies 

Page 33



 22 

· East Midlands Regional Assembly; and 

· the Internal Drainage Boards.  
 
4.1.14 In 2008 the Group commissioned Atkins to prepare a Lincolnshire Coastal Study (the 

Coastal Study) with a view to making a fresh assessment of the future needs of the 
coastal area and to assist in providing a longer-term perspective for planning.  For 
the purposes of the Coastal Study  the ‘study  area’  was defined  as the areas 
administered by Boston  Borough  Council,  East Lindsey District Council (excluding 
the Wolds) and South  Holland  District  Council. The Coastal Study was completed 
in March 2010 (see Evidence Base). 

 
The Wash Shoreline Management Plan 2 
 
4.1.15The Wash Shoreline Management Plan (SMP2) assesses the best ways to manage 

the risks of flooding and coastal erosion over the next 100 years.  SMP2 aims to 
further the management of the shoreline to achieve a balance between the issues 
surrounding flood and erosion defence and the social, economic and environmental 
activities and values around the shoreline.  Divided into the short, medium, and long 
term, the SMP uses the following time periods: epoch 1 (up to 2025), epoch 2 (2025 
to 2055) and epoch 3 (2055 to 2105).  Acknowledging the limitations imposed by 
current knowledge, uncertainty will mean that, over time, the intent of management 
policies will be less fixed.  In the epoch up to 2025 the policy approach is to hold the 
defences in the current position and sustain their function so as to safeguard the 
existing level of flood risk.  In the medium and long term, 2025 to 2105, the current 
alignment might be possible to hold, or localised landward realignment may be 
needed for part of the frontages around the Wash.  Where necessary the timing, 
location and extent of realignment will be based on optimising defence sustainability, 
allowing time for adaptation, and compensating for affected habitats. 

 
River Catchment Management Plans 
 
4.1.16 The River Witham Catchment Flood Management Plan (2009), River Welland 

Catchment Flood Management Plan (2009) and River Nene Catchment Flood 
Management Plan (2009) provide an overview of flood risk in the respective 
catchments and set out preferred plans for sustainable flood risk management over 
the next 50 to 100 years.  The approved Catchment Flood Management Plan policies 
across the Fens and at Spalding are premised on taking further action to sustain the 
current level of flood risk into the future, in response to the potential increase in risk 
from urban development, land use change and climate change.  For Boston, an area 
of moderate to high flood risk, the general policy is to take further action to reduce 
flood risk.  The most effective way to manage flood risk will be to improve the 
existing defences or create new ones and develop flood awareness and emergency 
response plans.  Future development should be targeted to previously developed 
land.  At Surfleet, an area of moderate to high flood risk, the general policy is to take 
further action to reduce flood risk by improving flood warning, resilience and 
awareness to the community, and to relocate vulnerable development. 

 
Local Authority Corporate Plans and other Strategies 
 
4.1.17 Boston Borough Council’s: 

· Community Plan 2008-2018 includes the aim of maximising the opportunity for 
people to live in decent and affordable homes. 

Page 34



 23 

· Corporate Plan 2012-2015 supports helping to maintain and develop rural 
communities by permitting development for housing wherever possible, and 
working with the Homes and Communities Agency, housing providers and private 
developers to deliver new homes that meet local needs. 

· Housing Strategy 2005-2009 (currently under review) identifies the following four 
main priorities: 
o Securing the delivery of affordable housing; 
o Tackling the cause and effect of homelessness; 
o Ensuring decent homes for all; and 
o Supporting independence and inclusion. 

 
4.1.18 South Holland District Council’s: 

· Corporate Plan 2010-2015 identifies the provision of more affordable homes as 
one of its seven priorities. 

· Housing Strategy 2006-2011 identifies the provision of more high-quality 
affordable housing and working with others in support of meeting the housing 
needs of the District as two of its four key priorities. 

 
4.1.19 Lincolnshire-wide: 

· The Lincolnshire Housing Strategy 2009-2014 identifies increasing the supply of 
affordable housing across Lincolnshire and increasing the supply of affordable 
homes in rural communities as two of its four priorities. 

 

4.2 Evidence Base 
 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
 
4.2.1 Evidence from the Scoping Report highlights a number of key issues and problems 

in relation to housing in South East Lincolnshire: 

· a general lack of delivery of affordable housing across the area; 

· house prices are relatively low; 

·  Borough Council has an estimated 3.6-year supply of deliverable sites; 
and 

· South Holland District has in excess of the required 5.25-year supply of 
deliverable sites.  

 
4.2.2 Evidence from the Scoping Report highlights a number of key issues and problems 

in relation to flood risk in South East Lincolnshire: 

· a significant proportion of the area is at risk of hazard from coastal flooding, 
particularly in Boston Borough; 

· there is also risk in certain areas from fluvial flooding; and 

· a number of planning permissions has been granted contrary to Environment 
Agency (EA) advice. However, on the whole, these have related to minor 
developments. 

 
Strategic Housing Market Assessments (SHMAs)  
 
Peterborough Sub-Region SHMA; August 2010 Update (covers household projections up to 
2026) 

 
4.2.3 Key relevant findings for South Holland District include: 

· annual need to provide 587 additional affordable housing units up to 2026;  

Page 35



 24 

· growth in household numbers derived from Office for National  Statistics (ONS) 
2008-based population projections results in a requirement for 470 additional 
dpa; 

· growth based on East Midlands Regional Plan figures results in a requirement for 
540 dpa; and 

· growth based on the abandoned ‘Revised Draft East Midlands Regional Plan 
(Partial Review)’8 housing provision figures results in a requirement for 705 dpa. 

 
Coastal Lincolnshire draft SHMA 2012 (covers household projections up to 2031/3) 
 
4.2.4 Key relevant findings for Boston Borough include: 

· a housing requirement  for the period 2010-2031 constrained to East Midlands 
Regional Plan dwelling delivery of 5,500 dwellings (262 dpa); and 

· a housing requirement for the period 2010-2033 derived from DCLG 2008-based 
household projections of 5,200 dwellings (226 dpa). 

 
Lincolnshire Coastal Study 
 
4.2.5 The Lincolnshire Coastal Study9 addresses coastal flooding issues and puts forward 

a set of Principles for spatial development which would allow communities in the 
study area to develop and have a viable and prosperous future.  The flood modelling 
and mapping used in the Coastal Study is restricted to flooding from the sea and 
estuaries (tidal flooding) and does not take into account other forms of flooding such 
as that from rivers.  This is because the potential impact and consequences of a 
major tidal flood event (such as the tidal flooding that occurred in 1953) forms the 
largest type of flood risk to human life, property and agricultural land in the study 
area.  Crucially, the Coastal Study follows the Wash Shoreline Management policies 
in relation to the line and standard of protection of coastal flood defences.  The 
Coastal Study is therefore concerned with ‘residual flood risk’10.  

 
4.2.6 The Coastal Study’s tidal flood maps illustrate the hazard due to flooding.  The 

definition of flood hazard zones used in the Coastal Study follows the definition used 
by Defra11 and the Environment Agency.  The classification is split into four 
categories, defined by the depth and velocity of flood waters and the related ability of 
people to evacuate the area once a flood occurs (Defra and Environment Agency, 
2008).  The ‘white’ zone (little or no hazard) was added for the purposes of the 
Coastal Study.  See Appendix 2 for a description of the flood-hazard zones. 

 
4.2.7 The Coastal Study Principles provide a set of strategic aims for spatial development 

that apply across the study area (see Appendix 3: Lincolnshire Coastal Study 

                                                 
8
 This document, prepared by the East Midlands Regional Assembly, was submitted to the Secretary of State 

on the 26 March 2010, in accordance with the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
Following the formulation of the Coalition Government in May 2010, further work on its preparation was 
abandoned. 
9
 The full Coastal Study and its Summary Report can be viewed at: 

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/environment-and-planning/environment/lincolnshire-coastal-study/  
10

 Residual flood risk is based on the following assumptions:  

· Use of a 1 in 200 year return period event (0.5% annual probability event);  

· Use of Defra’s guidance of October 2006 on sea level rise, which for the Lincolnshire Coast is a 1.13m 
rise in mean relative sea level between 2006 and 2115; 

· Modelling based on breaches of defences occurring as indicated (i.e. 100% defence failure probability 
at the 1 in 200 year water level). This takes a precautionary view; and  

· Use of modelling based on existing defences.  
11

 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

Page 36



 25 

Principles).  Principles 1 and 2 deal explicitly with two approaches to reducing the 
risks associated with flooding: 

· managing the level of development in hazardous locations; and 

· mitigating the consequences of flooding. 
 
4.2.8 The Coastal Study is also concerned with the full range of sustainability issues, of 

which flood risk is one important part.  Therefore, Principle 3 is focussed on 
improving socio-economic and environmental conditions in the area through spatial 
planning.  In respect of the delivery of the Principles, the Coastal Study proposes 
that: 

· major housing development will be largely delivered outside the three most 
severe forecast flood hazard zones (coloured red, orange and yellow – the ‘ROY’ 
zones); see Appendix 4: Residual coastal flood -hazard map; 

· major housing development may be permitted in the low hazard zone (coloured 
green) subject to the mitigation of flood risk through flood- resilient design and 
emergency planning measures; 

· other development, including housing to meet local housing needs, employment 
and business-related development, community infrastructure and buildings for 
use in emergencies may be permitted in the ROY zones subject to the mitigation 
of flood risk; 

· the key to the delivery of buildings in the flood hazard zones is the 
implementation of flood-resilient design and emergency planning measures; 

· measures to reduce risk to people in all flood hazard zones through emergency 
planning and flood resilience and to improve wider socio-economic conditions in 
the Coastal Study area can be delivered in a variety of ways and should involve 
national government and government agencies, regional organisations, local 
authorities and private sector businesses. 

 
4.2.9 Owing to the previously-mentioned situation regarding the Government’s intentions 

to revoke Regional Plans, the Coastal Study was not used to inform a review of the 
East Midlands Regional Plan and remains a body of evidence which can be used to 
inform local plan work in the three Lincolnshire coastal districts.  This was confirmed 
in a joint statement agreed in August 2010 (see Appendix 5: Joint Statement 2010) 
which was revised in September 2011 (see Appendix 6:  Joint Statement 2011).  A 
revised version of the Coastal Study Principles titled Planning for Coastal Flood Risk 
in South East Lincolnshire was agreed in January 2012 (see Appendix 7).  This 
paper seeks to clarify and refine the planning aims for areas at risk from coastal 
flooding in South East Lincolnshire, promoting sustainable development that reduces 
the number of people at risk of flood hazard. 

 
Demographic Projections for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire 
 
4.2.10 Following consideration of Planning for Coastal Flood Risk in South East 

Lincolnshire, officers determined that it was necessary to undertake detailed 
research into estimating both the current and forecast number of residents in those 
parts of South East Lincolnshire that are shown as being located in the ROY flood-
hazard zones in order to enhance their understanding of the potential impact of 
restricting housing development in areas subject to significant flood hazard.  
Accordingly, Lincolnshire County Council, on behalf of the South East Lincolnshire 
Joint Policy Unit and East Lindsey District Council, commissioned Edge Analytics Ltd 
to prepare a study titled Demographic Projections for Coastal Districts in 

Page 37



 26 

Lincolnshire.12  The purpose of this piece of work was to provide evidence-based 
sub-district population and household projections split between the combined ROY 
flood-hazard zones and the rest of the districts.  These were labelled - for ease of 
reference only - ‘wet’ and ‘dry’ areas respectively. 

 
4.2.11 Completed in March 2012, the principal outputs of this study were the preparation of 

population and household forecasts for the wet and dry areas of the three coastal 
districts up to 2031, based on the following six growth scenarios: 
1) Trend projection A (2010-base, using the latest mid-year estimate revisions) - 

Migration–led A; 
2) Trend projection B (2010-base, constrained to latest ONS sub-national 

projections) -  Migration–led B; 
3) Historical build rate scenario (based on recent housing completions) - CR 10-

Year; 
4) RSS scenario (based on targets in the East Midlands Regional Plan) - RSS; 
5) Zero-dwelling growth scenario -  Zero dwelling; and 
6) Zero population growth scenario - Zero population. 

 
4.2.12 The population estimates indicated that at 2010, 85% of Boston Borough’s 

population and 19% of South Holland District’s population lived in the so-called wet 
areas.  Overall, 47% of South East Lincolnshire’s population were resident in wet 
areas.  The Study found that scenarios 1) - 6) create annual requirements for 
additional dwellings in the four different parts of South East Lincolnshire as set out in 
Table 2 below. 

 
Table XX: Dwelling Projections for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire 

Scenario Average number of dwellings per year 2011-2031 

Boston Wet Boston Dry South 
Holland Wet 

South 
Holland Dry 

Migration–
led A 

507 58 76 645 

Migration–
led B 

477 53 66 596 

CR 10-Year 262 50 66 424 

RSS 231 39 106 434 

Zero 
dwelling 

0 0 0 0 

Zero 
Population 

62 15 20 109 

 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessments (SFRAs) relevant to the preparation of the Local 
Plan  
 
4.2.13 The principal outputs from Boston Borough Council’s SFRA 2010 Update found: 

· the majority of the Borough’s area is within Flood Zone 3 across all ROY flood-
hazard categories; 

· Boston town has a range of assessments for the probability of flooding with the 
historic core subject to high probability but large areas assessed as being at 
medium or low probability; 

                                                 
12

  The study can be viewed at: http://southeastlincslocalplan.org/files/2012/06/Demographic-Projections-for-
Coastal-Districts-in-Lincolnshire-March-2012.pdf   

Page 38



 27 

· Bicker and Swineshead have the least flood-risk issues including the majority of 
land categorised as subject to low flood hazard and low probability; and 

· The rest of the Borough’s settlements, including Wrangle, Sutterton, Kirton, 
Butterwick, Fishtoft, Freiston and Old Leake, have land categorised as subject to 
flood hazard but with a low probability of flooding. 

 
4.2.14 The principal outputs for South Holland District Council’s SFRA 2010 Update found: 

· the majority of the District is within Flood Zone 3; 

· the majority of the District has a medium to low probability of flooding but  
extensive areas of land around Spalding and Sutton Bridge13 are categorised as 
subject to flood hazard; 

· the area to the west of Spalding is less constrained by land categorised as 
subject to flood hazard and it has a low or medium probability of flooding; and 

· Sutton Bridge and its surroundings are categorised as subject to flood hazard but 
with a high probability of flooding.  

 
South East Lincolnshire Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment    
 
4.2.15 Initial results from the preparation of the SHLAA indicate that there are deliverable 

and developable14 sites that could accommodate approximately 6,000 dwellings in 
Boston Borough and 14,000 dwellings in South Holland District.  However, it should 
be noted that the initial assessment of a site’s ‘developability’ has not been informed 
by the application of the ‘sequential approach’ in respect of flood risk or by detailed 
information contained in the relevant SFRAs.  It should also be noted that the initial 
results for Boston Borough indicate that sites situated in areas not categorised as 
one of the ROY flood-hazard zones (the ‘Dry’ areas identified in Demographic 
Projections for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire) account for only  242 of the identified 
6,000 or so dwellings.  

 
Housing completion data for South East Lincolnshire 
 
4.2.16 Appendix 8 and Appendix 9 set out the annual dwelling completions recorded in the 

period 1976-2012 for Boston Borough and South Holland District respectively.  
Consideration of this long-term period allows the many ‘booms and busts’ in the 
housing market to be ‘averaged out’ into a more realistic annual completion rate.  
The cyclical nature of housing delivery is noticeable, particularly the impact of the 
current recession on housing delivery, which has resulted in the lowest annual 
completions in both Boston Borough and South Holland District since 1976.  The 
average annual rate of completions over the period 1976-2012 (the ‘historic rate’) for 
the two areas are: 

· for Boston Borough: 263 dpa; and  

· for South Holland District: 414 dpa. 
  
4.2.17 The average annual completion figure for Boston Borough is just under the 

corresponding current Regional Plan annual provision of 270 dwellings from 2006.  
However, the average annual figure for South Holland District is well under the 
Regional Plan provision of 540 dwellings from 2006 (see Table 1).  

                                                 
13

 NB: Only the areas of Sutton Bridge and Spalding were subject to flood-hazard assessment in the South 
Holland District SFRA 2010 Update. 
14

 To be considered developable, sites should be in a suitable location for housing development and there 
should be a reasonable prospect that the site is available and could be viably developed at the point 
envisaged. 

Page 39



 28 

4.3 Key Issues 
 
4.3.1 The following key issues emerging from the policy context and evidence base require 

a policy response: 

· In the proposed absence of a regionally-imposed target, there is a need to 
identify a requirement for housing growth in South East Lincolnshire up to 2031.  
Given that Boston Borough and South Holland District Councils retain their 
separate roles as local planning authorities for development management 
purposes, this requirement  needs to be based on separate specified targets for 
Boston Borough and South Holland District - in order to address the issues 
arising from the requirement in the NPPF that local planning authorities maintain 
a supply of deliverable sites sufficient to provide 5-years worth of housing against 
requirements with an additional buffer15 for flexibility; and 

· In view of the distribution of flood hazard in South East Lincolnshire and national 
planning policy that indicates that additional housing may be necessary in flood-
risk areas to support sustainable development, there is a need to determine an 
approach to the provision of housing in those parts of South East Lincolnshire 
which are categorised as flood-hazard zone Red, Orange or Yellow (i.e. Danger 
for All, Danger for Most or Danger to Some), and together are described as the 
‘ROY zones’.  

 

4.4 Other Policies 
 
4.4.1 This chapter is concerned with identifying the separate requirements for housing 

provision in Boston Borough and South Holland District (which together make up 
South East Lincolnshire) and determining an approach to the provision of housing in 
the ROY zones.  Other matters relating to the general distribution of housing 
development across South East Lincolnshire and the identification of broad locations 
for accommodating such development will be addressed in later chapters of this 
Preferred Options document.  All site-specific allocations will be set out in the Site 
Allocations DPD. 

 

Approach to Identifying the Quantity of Additional Housing to be 
Provided in South East Lincolnshire up to 2031 
 
4.5 Introduction 
 
4.5.1 It is essential to identify a dwelling target aimed at meeting the housing needs of 

South East Lincolnshire which specifies separate targets for Boston Borough and 
South Holland District. Distinct targets are necessary for the purpose of enabling 
individual ‘five-year housing land supply’ arrangements to be created, and then 
managed by Boston Borough Council and South Holland District Council as separate 
local planning authorities for development management purposes.  

 
4.6 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
4.6.1 Option A: One approach to setting these targets is, in accordance with the NPPF, to 

use the objectively-assessed housing needs set out in the respective SHMAs 
covering Boston Borough and South Holland District. 

 

                                                 
15

 The buffer should amount to 5% or 20% if there has been a record of persistent under-delivery.  

Page 40



 29 

4.6.2 Option B: A second reasonable option is to use the ‘Annual (housing) 
Apportionment From 2006’ contained in the East Midlands Regional Plan and to 
extend it up to 2031. 

 
4.7 Unreasonable Policy Options 
 
4.7.1 In view of the more recent  population/household estimates  which have informed the 

preparation of  Demographic Projections for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire,  it could 
be argued that two further options could be formulated to take into account housing 
targets based on the two migration-led scenarios (‘A’ and ‘B’) set out in the study16.  
These additional options have been identified as: 

· Option C: Use the ‘Migration-led A’ scenario set out in Demographic Projections 
for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire to inform housing targets for South East 
Lincolnshire. 

· Option D: Use the ‘Migration-led B’ scenario set out in Demographic Projections 
for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire to inform housing targets for South East 
Lincolnshire. 

 
4.7.2 The four different options for housing provision are set out in Table 3 below for 

information. However, when the earlier-recorded historic rate of completions is 
considered against them, it is clear that Options C and D would appear to be 
undeliverable, and therefore unreasonable, based on the experience of the last 35 
years or so. 

 
Table XX: Policy Options for determining a housing target for South East Lincolnshire 

Area Dwellings per annum (2011-2031) Historic 
Rate of 
Completions 
(dpa) 

Option A Option B Option C Option D 

 
Boston 
Borough 
 

 
226 

 
270 
 

 
553 
 

 
520 

 
 263 

 
South Holland 
District 
 

 
470 

 
540 
 

 
683 
 

 
627 

 
414 

 
Total for  
South East 
Lincolnshire 
 

 
696 

 
810 
 

 
1,236 
 
 

 
1,147 
 
 

 
677 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
16

 These two scenarios are described in detail on page 12 of the study. 

Page 41



 30 

4.8 Sustainability Appraisal  
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of policy options against the SA framework topic 
areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B   

Air Quality X/? X/?   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü/? ü/?   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

X/? X/?   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü ü   

Economy and 
Employment 

ü ü   

Flood Risk ? ?   

Historic 
Environment 

? ?   

Housing üü üü   

Land and Waste X X   

Landscape X X   

Transport X/? X/?   

Water X X   

 
4.8.1 Air Quality:  Both options will have a mixed minor negative/uncertain impact on air 

quality as any new development will likely lead to increased air pollution, primarily 
due to increased road traffic.  This may have a direct negative impact on the two 
identified Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) in the area.  However, there is an 
element of uncertainty as a result of the undetermined nature of the spatial strategy 
and of the detailed locations for housing development.  This will be dealt with later in 
this document and in the subsequent Site Allocations DPD.  

4.8.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options will have a mixed 
minor positive/uncertain impact.  Any new development has the potential to impact 
upon protected sites of nature conservation importance.  However, until site specifics 
are known (through the Site Allocations DPD) there will be uncertainty as to the 
nature of the impact.  With any new development there is the potential positive 
impact of being able to ‘design in’ green infrastructure. 

4.8.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options will have a mixed minor 
negative/uncertain impact.  Any new development is likely to increase greenhouse 
gas emissions, both directly and indirectly.  There are potential positive impacts 
through the opportunities to require new energy-efficient design and construction and 
to require that all housing proposals in flood-hazard areas will only be considered for 
approval subject to the mitigation of flood risk through flood-resilient design and 
emergency planning.  However, there is an element of uncertainty as a result of the 
undetermined nature of the spatial strategy and of the detailed locations for housing 

Page 42



 31 

development.  This will be dealt with later in this document and in the subsequent 
Site Allocations DPD.  

4.8.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  
The provision of additional housing will have a positive impact on both health and 
equality.  There is also the potential for new development to support the funding of 
new community infrastructure.  

4.8.5 Economy and Employment: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  More 
housing will give rise to a larger population which has the potential to broaden the 
diversity of skills on offer and, in turn, support business diversification and growth.  
Specifically, the provision of additional housing will help to maintain employment in 
the construction sector and related industries. 

4.8.6 Flood Risk: Both options will have an uncertain impact until policy approaches about 
the distribution and design/construction of additional housing in respect of flood-risk 
considerations are finalised.  However, there is a potential opportunity to require that 
all housing proposals in flood-hazard areas will only be considered for approval 
subject to the mitigation of flood risk through flood-resilient design and emergency 
planning. 

4.8.7 Historic Environment: Both options will have an uncertain impact.  This is because 
site specifics will be considered at a later date through the production of the Site 
Allocations DPD and through the development management process. 

4.8.8 Housing: Both options will have a major positive impact as they will, to varying 
degrees, help to meet housing needs across South East Lincolnshire. 

4.8.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new 
greenfield development will result in permanent loss of agricultural land.  New 
development will also likely lead to greater levels of waste generation.   

4.8.10 Landscape: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development 
on greenfield land will inevitably impact upon landscape but the precise nature of 
that impact will be dependent on the design, layout and landscaping of a particular 
development.  

4.8.11 Transport: Both options will have a mixed minor negative/uncertain impact.   Any 
new development is likely to lead to higher levels of road traffic and could exacerbate 
perceived congestion problems.  However, there is an element of uncertainty as a 
result of the undetermined nature of the spatial strategy and of the detailed locations 
for housing development.  This will be dealt with later in this document and in the 
subsequent Site Allocations DPD.  

4.8.12 Water: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development is 
likely to increase pressure on water resources. 

4.8.13 Conclusion: Whilst there is some uncertainty over the impacts of these options and 
potential for minor negative impacts, they both have a major positive impact in 
seeking to meet the housing needs of South East Lincolnshire.  The precise nature 
of some of the impacts will be dependent on the distribution of development set out 
the spatial strategy, policy approaches on other housing matters and proposals in 
the Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD). 

 
4.9 Delivery   
 
4.9.1 The delivery of both options will be guided by the framework provided by the spatial 

strategy, other housing-related policies, the Site Allocations DPD where appropriate, 
and the development management process.  Most significant housing proposals will 
require appropriate supporting infrastructure which will be identified through the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).  

 

Page 43



 32 

4.9.2 Given the historic rate of housing delivery in South East Lincolnshire and the 
uncertainty surrounding the economic situation looking ahead over the next few 
years at least, it is considered that the lower housing target represented by Option A 
is the most deliverable.  The delivery of overall targets for additional dwellings will be 
monitored through an annual ’Monitoring Report’. 

 
4.10 Preferred Option 
 
4.10.1 Option A is the preferred option because it is considered deliverable when compared 

with historic building rates.  If a higher growth target were to be identified (e.g. Option 
B), there is an increased likelihood of the local planning authorities being unable to 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites and consequent fears 
about ‘unplanned growth’.    

 
4.10.2 Although the period of the Local Plan extends up to 2031, revisions in respect of 

factors such as housing land supply will be necessary at timely intervals before that 
date.  The housing needs, indicated by the SHMAs, are considered to be the most 
objective and comprehensive assessments for the short to medium term.  It is also 
the case that in the actual identification of broad locations for housing development 
(where much of the housing needs could be met) there will be considerable flexibility 
to provide for accelerated annual completion rates according to market conditions. 

 

Approach to the Provision of Additional Housing in Those Parts of South 
East Lincolnshire that are Categorised as Either Flood-Hazard Zone Red, 
Orange or Yellow 
 
4.11 Introduction 
 
4.11.1 In the light of the substantial and varied policy and evidential background relating to 

the issue of housing development in areas at risk from flooding, there is a need to 
develop an approach which indicates what quantity of additional housing – if any – 
could be provided in areas categorised as a Red, Orange or Yellow flood-hazard 
zone in the Coastal Study subject to satisfying other relevant planning 
considerations.   

 
4.11.2 Although the Local Plan presents an opportunity to look at a broadly strategic 

approach to housing delivery and flood risk across both Boston Borough and South 
Holland District, this has its complexities. 

 
4.11.3 Firstly, both areas have different housing market areas (as evidenced in the SHMAs) 

and, therefore, there is some uncertainty as to whether increasing the apportionment 
in one area can meet the housing needs in the other.  This is especially the case 
where the delivery of market housing may be needed to support the provision of 
affordable housing. 

 
4.11.4 Secondly, there is a significant contrast between the two sub-regional centres of 

Boston and Spalding with regard to flood risk.  Boston is almost entirely categorised 
as a Red, Orange or Yellow flood-hazard zone with some parts having a high or 
medium probability of flooding, whereas Spalding is far less affected by flood hazard 
and has a medium to low probability of flooding.  However, for reasons stated in the 
previous paragraph, it is highly uncertain whether a strategic approach that 

Page 44



 33 

attempted to deliver a substantial proportion of the housing needs for Boston, in 
Spalding, would work. 

 
4.12 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
4.12.1 Option 1: One reasonable approach is to set separate limits on the number of 

additional dwellings provided in the Red, Orange and Yellow flood-hazard zones (the 
ROY zones) for Boston Borough and South Holland District based on the approach 
outlined in Principal 1 in Planning for Coastal Flood Risk in South East Lincolnshire 
(see Appendix 7).  

 
4.12.2 The limits would be calculated in each case by multiplying the proposed housing 

target for the area by the proportion of its total population resident in the ROY zones 
as at 201017.  The formulation of separate limits for Boston Borough and South 
Holland District provides a ‘combined cap’ which is lower than that of a single limit 
calculated for South East Lincolnshire as a whole.  See Figure 1 below which is 
based on the Preferred Option A housing targets (see Table 3 above). 

 
Figure 1 
 
Housing Limit for Boston Borough  
                               
Housing Target (dwellings per annum [dpa])                 226       x  
Proportion of Population in the ROY zones:                    85% 
  
                                                                                   =  192 dpa 
 
 
Housing Limit for South Holland District 
 
Housing Target (dpa):                                                    470       x  
Proportion of Population in the ROY zones:                    19% 
  
                                                                                    =    89 dpa 
4.12.3 Option 2: Another reasonable approach, and one that reflects the spirit and purpose 

of the Lincolnshire Coastal Study, would be to reduce the dwelling limits for both the 
Boston Borough ROY zones and the South Holland District ROY zones set out in 
Option 1 by a small proportion having regard to the following considerations:  

· Although the great majority of the town of Boston is categorised as either a Red, 
Orange or Yellow flood-hazard zone, its role as a sub-regional centre and the 
largest settlement in South East Lincolnshire means that it remains strongly-
suited as a location for accommodating growth.  Accordingly, only a small 
reduction in the limit for Boston Borough from 192 to 180 dpa is considered to be 
realistic (effectively a reduction from 85% to 80%). 

· It is still possible to meet a desire to accommodate some limited housing growth 
in the towns of Long Sutton and Sutton Bridge, both of which are totally 
categorised as either a Red, Orange or Yellow flood-hazard zone, and facilitate 
higher growth in Holbeach, which is significantly affected by such zones, whilst 
reducing the limit for South Holland District from 89 dpa to 60 dpa (effectively a 
reduction from 19% to 13%). 

                                                 
17

 See page 12 of Demographic Projections for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire. 
 

Page 45



 34 

4.13 Unreasonable Policy Options 
 
4.13.1 Option 3: This would involve preventing any housing growth in areas categorised as 

one of the ROY zones.  It would be unreasonable to prevent any additional housing 
growth in the ROY zones as the Demographic Projections for Coastal Districts in 
Lincolnshire indicates that this would result in an estimated population decline of 
3,791 people in such areas across South East Lincolnshire over the 21-year period: 
2010-2031.  The town of Boston would be the settlement most affected by population 
loss through this policy approach and since it would be unable to assist in meeting 
the previously-identified preferred housing target for Boston Borough, this approach 
could raise concerns about the town’s future role and function as a sub-regional 
centre.    

 
4.13.2 In reality, an approach that prevented housing growth in ROY zones would be 

impractical.  There would be no support in terms of national planning policy for such 
an approach, and, even if broad locations were not facilitated in such areas, planning 
applications would still have to be determined for residential development, probably 
on the basis that a 5.25-year supply of deliverable housing sites was not provided, 
particularly, in Boston Borough.  Furthermore, both Boston Borough and South 
Holland District have seen considerable population growth in the last 10 years, some 
of which would appear to have been uninfluenced by housing-building rates. 

    
4.13.3Option 4: This assumes that the total population in the ROY zones remains  constant  

throughout  the  plan  period (2011-2031). There  is  no  population  growth  but  the  
age  profile  of  the  population  is  allowed  to change. It represents a precise 
interpretation of Principle 1 of the Lincolnshire Coastal Study which seeks to keep 
the population of these zones broadly stable. As with Option 3 above, the impact of 
this approach on Boston Borough would be very significant. The Demographic 
Projections for Coastal Districts in Lincolnshire study indicates that this would result 
in a limit of 62 dwellings per year in the Boston Borough ROY zones.  Such a figure 
bears no comparison with Options 1 and 2 and is, therefore, considered 
unreasonable.  

 
4.13.4Option 5: With respect to each district housing target this would set no limit on 

housing growth in areas categorised as ROY zones.  Even assuming that all 
additional dwellings in such areas would be subject to the mitigation of flood risk 
through flood-resilient design and emergency planning, it would be unreasonable to 
consider an approach which makes no attempt to reflect concerns, expressed in the 
Lincolnshire Coastal Study in particular, about the threat posed to the safety of 
people by the risk of flood hazard.  Such an approach would also be contrary to 
national planning policy considerations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 35 

4.14 Sustainability Appraisal  
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 
 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option 1 Option 2   

Air Quality X/? X/?   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü/? ü/?   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

X/? X/?   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü ü   

Economy and 
Employment 

ü ü   

Flood Risk X X   

Historic 
Environment 

? ?   

Housing üü üü   

Land and Waste X X   

Landscape X X   

Transport X/? X/?   

Water X X   

 
4.14.1 Air Quality:  Both options will have a mixed minor negative/uncertain impact on air 

quality as any new development will likely lead to increased air pollution, primarily 
due to increased road traffic.  This may have a direct negative impact on the two 
identified Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) in the area.  However, there is an 
element of uncertainty as a result of the undetermined nature of the spatial strategy 
and of the detailed locations for housing development.  This will be dealt with later in 
this document and in the subsequent Site Allocations DPD. 

4.14.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options will have a mixed 
minor positive/uncertain impact.  Any new development has the potential to impact 
upon protected sites of nature conservation importance.  However, until site specifics 
are known (through the Site Allocations DPD) there will be uncertainty as to the 
nature of the impact.  With any new development there is the potential positive 
impact of being able to ‘design in’ green infrastructure. 

4.14.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options will have a mixed minor 
negative/uncertain impact.  Any new development is likely to increase greenhouse 
gas emissions, both directly and indirectly.  Any new development is likely to 
increase greenhouse gas emissions, both directly and indirectly.  There are potential 
positive impacts through the opportunities to require new energy-efficient design and 
construction and to require that all housing proposals in flood-hazard areas will only 
be considered for approval subject to the mitigation of flood risk through flood-
resilient design and emergency planning.  However, there is an element of 

Page 47



 36 

uncertainty as a result of the undetermined nature of the spatial strategy and of the 
detailed locations for housing development.  This will be dealt with later in this 
document and in the subsequent Site Allocations DPD. 

4.14.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options will have a minor positive impact.   
The provision of additional housing will have a positive impact on both health and 
equality.  There is also the potential for new development to support the funding of 
new community infrastructure.  

4.14.5 Economy and Employment: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  More 
housing will give rise to a larger population which has the potential to broaden the 
diversity of skills on offer and, in turn, support business diversification and growth.  
Specifically, the provision of additional housing will help to maintain employment in 
the construction sector and related industries. 

4.14.6 Flood Risk: Both options will have a minor negative effect in providing for additional 
dwellings in areas categorised as Red, Orange or Yellow flood-hazard zone.  
However, both options represent a cap on housing growth in these areas.  
Furthermore, there is the opportunity to require that all housing proposals in flood-
hazard areas will only be permitted subject to the mitigation of flood risk through 
flood-resilient design and emergency planning.  There is also the potential for new 
development to support the funding of new flood-defence-related infrastructure. 

4.14.7 Historic Environment: Both options will have an uncertain impact.  This is because 
site specifics will be considered at a later date through the production of the Site 
Allocations DPD and through the development management process. 

4.14.8 Housing: Both options will have a major positive impact as they will, to varying 
degrees, help to meet housing needs across South East Lincolnshire. 

4.14.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new 
greenfield development will result in permanent loss of agricultural land.  New 
development will also likely lead to greater levels of waste generation.   

4.14.10Landscape: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development 
on greenfield land will inevitably impact upon landscape but the precise nature of 
that impact will be dependent on the design, layout and landscaping of a particular 
development.  

4.14.11Transport: Both options will have a mixed minor negative/uncertain impact.   Any 
new development is likely to lead to higher levels of road traffic and could exacerbate 
existing congestion problems.  However, there is an element of uncertainty as a 
result of the undetermined nature of the spatial strategy and of the detailed locations 
for housing development.  This will be dealt with later in this document and in the 
subsequent Site Allocations DPD.  Whilst there is uncertainty as a result of the 
undetermined nature of the spatial strategy, both options would support a 
concentration of housing growth in both Boston and Spalding.  More concentrated 
housing growth could create the potential positive impact of providing the critical 
mass required to sustain or enhance public transport services and to offer or improve 
opportunities for cycling and walking.  There is also the potential for new housing 
development to support the funding of new transport infrastructure. 

4.14.12Water: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development is 
likely to increase pressure on water resources. 

4.14.13Conclusion: Whilst there is some uncertainty over the impacts of these options and 
potential for minor negative impacts, they both have a major positive impact in 
seeking to meet the housing needs of South East Lincolnshire.  In overall terms, 
whilst there is no difference in the score relative to the baseline situation, relatively 
speaking, Option 2 represents a slightly more sustainable approach than Option 1 in 
respect of flood-hazard concerns.  This is because it places a greater restriction on 
the number of additional dwellings that could be provided in areas categorised as 
either Red, Orange or Yellow flood-hazard zones. 

Page 48



 37 

4.15 Delivery   
 
4.15.1 The results of the SHLAA indicate that there are sufficient  alternative sites available  

in Boston Borough to support the restrictions on housing development in the ROY 
zones represented by Options 1and 2  and enable the overall housing target for the 
Borough  to be met. 

 
4.15.2 The delivery of both options will be guided by the framework provided by the spatial 

strategy, other housing-related policies, the Site Allocations DPD where appropriate, 
and the development management process.  Most significant housing proposals will 
require appropriate supporting infrastructure which will be identified through the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).  

 
4.15.3 There are no significant relative delivery benefits between Options 1 and 2.  The 

location of the delivery of additional dwellings will be monitored through an annual 
Monitoring Report. 

 
4.16 Preferred Option 
 
4.16.1 Option B is considered to be the most reasonable option as it seeks to provide for a 

lower level of housing growth in the Red, Orange and Yellow flood-hazard zones. 
 
4.16.2 It should also be noted that, in applying Option 2, a sequential approach will be 

applied to selecting the broad locations at least hazard and/or probability of flooding 
which is an additional refinement to the approach taken in assessing whether or not 
locations are situated in one of the ROY zones.  Whereas housing delivery within 
South East Lincolnshire will need to take place in areas at risk of flooding, the plan-
making process will also create betterment through a strategic approach to the 
provision of flood-mitigation measures. 

 

4.17 Reason for Preferred Policy Approaches 
 
4.17.1 This chapter has been prepared in response to the uncertainty arising out of the 

preparation of the current East Midlands Regional Plan regarding the scale of 
housing growth that should be accommodated in the Lincolnshire coastal districts 
due to concerns about the increasing risk of future flooding.  It is clear from the 
information presented that there are limited reasonable options for dealing with the 
two key issues resulting from the policy context and evidence base.  Based on the 
above conclusions, it is proposed to take forward one preferred policy approach 
which addresses both issues.  It will cover the scale of housing growth to be 
accommodated separately in the Boston Borough and South Holland District parts of 
South East Lincolnshire and will also state, separately for Boston Borough and South 
Holland District, the maximum number of additional dwellings that could be provided 
in areas categorised as either Red, Orange or Yellow flood-hazard zones. 

 
4.17.2 This single preferred policy approach will provide the platform for the development of 

other preferred policy approaches dealing with the distribution and scale of 
development across South East Lincolnshire. 

 
 
 
 

Page 49



 38 

4.18 Preferred Policy Approach 
 

Provision for Housing 
 
Provision will be made for a net increase of at least 13,920 dwellings in South East 
Lincolnshire in accordance with the requirements set out in the table below. 
 
 

Local 
Authority area 

Annual 
Apportionment 
From 2011 

Total Housing 
Provision 2011-
2031 

Maximum number of 
dwellings provided in areas 
categorised as Red, Orange 
or Yellow flood-hazard zones 
(as defined in the 
Lincolnshire Coastal Study) 

 
Boston Borough 
 

 
226 

 
4,520 

 
3,600 

 
South Holland 
District 
 

 
470 

 
9,400 

 
1,200 

 
South East 
Lincolnshire 
 

 
696 

 
13,920 

 
4,800 

 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 
 Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
ü 
 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Given that this policy approach is concerned with levels and broad locations of 
development, it is considered that there is potential for significant effects on a European or 
Ramsar site.  As such, it should be screened by the Habitats Regulations Assessment 
process. 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 39 

Equalities Assessment 
Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 40 

5.0 Sustainable Development and Spatial Strategy 
 
5.0 This chapter focusses on sustainable development and policy options for the 

distribution of development across South East Lincolnshire.  It has been prepared 
having regard to the previous chapter on housing growth and flood risk and, in 
particular, the preferred policy approach to development in the red, orange and 
yellow (ROY) flood hazard zones.   

 

5.1 Policy Context  
 
Local Plan Strategic Priorities  
 
5.1.1   The following Local Plan strategic priorities are relevant: 

· To ensure that growth in South East Lincolnshire delivers sustainable 
development that seeks to meet the social and economic needs of the area, 
whilst protecting and enhancing its environment for the enjoyment of future 
generations. 

· To deliver development in sustainable locations that seeks to meet the needs of 
the whole area through the identification of a strategic planning framework that 
takes account of flood risk to guide the scale, distribution and nature of new 
development across South East Lincolnshire.  

National Planning Policy Framework 
 
5.1.2 Achieving sustainable development 
 

‘There are three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and 
environmental.  These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to 
perform a number of roles: 

· an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying 
and coordinating development requirements, including the provision of 
infrastructure; 

· a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing 
the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future 
generations; and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible 
local services that reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social 
and cultural well-being; and 

· an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, 
built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, 
use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and 
adapt to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy. 

 
These roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually 
dependent.  Economic growth can secure higher social and environmental 
standards, and well-designed buildings and places can improve the lives of people 
and communities.  Therefore, to achieve sustainable development, economic, social 
and environmental gains should be sought jointly and simultaneously through the 
planning system.  The planning system should play an active role in guiding 
development to sustainable solutions. 
 

Page 52



 41 

Pursuing sustainable development involves seeking positive improvements in the 
quality of the built, natural and historic environment, as well as in people’s quality of 
life, including (but not limited to): 

· making it easier for jobs to be created in cities, towns and villages; 

· moving from a net loss of bio-diversity to achieving net gains for nature; 

· replacing poor design with better design; 

· improving the conditions in which people live, work, travel and take leisure; and 

· widening the choice of high quality homes. 
 
Plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account, so that they 
respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in 
different areas.’ 

 
5.1.3 The presumption in favour of sustainable development     

 
‘At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development, which should be seen as a golden thread running 
through both plan-making and decision-taking. For plan-making this means that: 

· local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area; 

· Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to 
adapt to rapid change, unless: 
–any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole; or 
–specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.’ 

 
For decision-taking this means: 

· approving development proposals that accord with the development plan without 
delay; and 

· where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:  
–any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a 
whole; or 
–specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted. 

 
Policies in Local Plans should follow the approach of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development so that it is clear that development which is sustainable can 
be approved without delay.  All plans should be based upon and reflect the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, with clear policies that will guide 
how the presumption should be applied locally.’ 

 
5.1.4 Core planning principles 
 

‘Within the overarching roles that the planning system ought to play, a set of core 
land-use planning principles should underpin both plan-making and decision-taking.  
These 12 principles are that planning should: 

· be genuinely plan-led, empowering local people to shape their surroundings, with 
succinct local and neighbourhood plans setting out a positive vision for the future 
of the area.  Plans should be kept up-to-date, and be based on joint working and 
co-operation to address larger than local issues.  They should provide a practical 

Page 53



 42 

framework within which decisions on planning applications can be made with a 
high degree of predictability and efficiency; 

· not simply be about scrutiny, but instead be a creative exercise in finding ways to 
enhance and improve the places in which people live their lives; 

· proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the 
homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that 
the country needs.  Every effort should be made objectively to identify and then 
meet the housing, business and other development needs of an area, and 
respond positively to wider opportunities for growth.  Plans should take account of 
market signals, such as land prices and housing affordability, and set out a clear 
strategy for allocating sufficient land which is suitable for development in their 
area, taking account of the needs of the residential and business communities; 

· always seek to secure high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all 
existing and future occupants of land and buildings; 

· take account of the different roles and character of different areas, promoting the 
vitality of our main urban areas, protecting the Green Belts around them, 
recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and supporting 
thriving rural communities within it; 

· support the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate, taking full 
account of flood risk and coastal change, and encourage the reuse of existing 
resources, including conversion of existing buildings, and encourage the use of 
renewable resources (for example, by the development of renewable energy); 

· contribute to conserving and enhancing the natural environment and reducing 
pollution.  Allocations of land for development should prefer land of lesser 
environmental value, where consistent with other policies in this Framework; 

· encourage the effective use of land by reusing land that has been previously 
developed (brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental value; 

· promote mixed use development, and encourage multiple benefits from the use 
of land in urban and rural areas, recognising that some open land can perform 
many functions (such as for wildlife, recreation, flood risk mitigation, carbon 
storage, or food production); 

· conserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that 
they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of this and future 
generations; 

· actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of public 
transport, walking and cycling, and focus significant development in locations 
which are or can be made sustainable; and 

· take account of and support local strategies to improve health, social and cultural 
wellbeing for all, and deliver sufficient community and cultural facilities and 
services to meet local needs.’ 

 
East Midlands Regional Plan 
 
5.1.5 Policy 1 of the Regional Plan outlines a number of ‘Regional Core Objectives’ as 

follows: 

· to ensure that the existing housing stock and new affordable and market housing 
address need and extend choice in all communities in the region; 

· to reduce social exclusion; 

· to protect and enhance the environmental quality of urban and rural settlements; 

· to improve the health and mental, physical and spiritual well being of the Region’s 
residents; 

Page 54



 43 

· to improve economic prosperity, employment opportunities and regional 
competitiveness; 

· to improve accessibility to jobs, homes and services; 

· to protect and enhance the environment; 

· to achieve a ‘step change’ increase in the level of the Region’s biodiversity; 

· to reduce the causes of climate change; 

· to reduce the impacts of climate change; and 

· to minimise adverse environmental impacts of new development and promote 
optimum social and economic benefits. 

 
5.1.6 Policy 3 (Distribution of New Development) outlines that appropriate development of 

a lesser scale should be located in the Sub-Regional Centres e.g. Boston and 
Spalding.  It also states that ‘the development needs of other settlements and rural 
areas should also be provided for.  New development in these areas should 
contribute to: 

· maintaining the distinctive character and vitality of rural communities; 

· shortening journeys and facilitating access to jobs and services; 

· strengthening rural enterprise and linkages between settlements and their 
hinterlands; and 

· respecting the quality of tranquillity, where that is recognised in planning 
documents.’ 

 
5.1.7 Policy 4 (Development in the Eastern Sub-area) includes the following relevant 

requirements: 

· consolidate and where appropriate strengthen the Sub-Regional Centres of 
Boston, Grantham and Spalding;         

· maintain and enhance the roles of the defined Main and Small Towns as locally 
significant service and employment centres through the protection of existing 
retail and community facilities, and sustainably located new housing and local 
employment generating development; 

· strengthen the role of the food production and distribution industry; 

· promote sustainable patterns of development in those parts of the Sub-area 
bordering major urban areas in other regions, in particular Peterborough; and 

· protect and enhance the natural and historic environment of the coastal margin 
including the Wash. 

 
Boston Borough Council ‘Planning for the Future 2012-2015’ 
 
5.1.8 The document makes no specific reference to sustainable development but does 

include a number of ambitions that will contribute to it. 
 
Boston – A Great Past, an Exciting Future – Our Community Plan 2008-2018 
 
5.1.9 The document sets out a number of ambitions that will contribute to sustainable 

development and actions to achieve them. However, there is no overall ambition 
relating to sustainable development.   

 
South Holland District Council Corporate Plan 2011-15 
 
5.1.10 The South Holland District Council Corporate Plan has many priorities relating to 

specific sustainability outcomes but no overall approach on sustainable 
development.  

Page 55



 44 

5.2 Evidence Base  
 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
 
5.2.1 The Scoping Report provides a comprehensive body of evidence across the whole 

spectrum of what constitutes sustainable development.  
 
Boston Borough and South Holland Local Plans  
 
5.2.2 The adopted Boston Borough Local Plan (1999) does not include a settlement 

hierarchy but there is a presumption against development in the countryside (Policy 
CO1).  The Interim Plan adopts the same approach to development in the 
countryside but identifies a spatial strategy in the form of a settlement hierarchy as a 
way of governing the distribution and level  of housing development including: 
Boston (the town of Boston and urban parts of Fishtoft and Wyberton wards) as the 
Urban Area, and in the rural area, Kirton as a Main Service Centre and Butterwick, 
Old Leake, Sutterton and Swineshead as Service Villages and a further 22 named 
Other Villages’ (Algarkirk, Amber Hill, Benington, Bicker, Fishtoft, Fosdyke, 
Frampton, Frampton West, Freiston, Haltoft End, Holland Fen, Hubberts Bridge, 
Kirton End, Kirton Holme, Langrick Bridge, Leake Commonside, Leverton, 
Swineshead Bridge, Wigtoft, Wrangle, Wrangle Common and Wyberton). 

 
5.2.3 The adopted South Holland Local Plan (2006) includes the following settlement 

hierarchy (Policy SG3):  

· Main Town – Spalding is defined as the District’s principal urban settlement.  It 
will be the main location for new development. 

· Area Centres - the towns of Holbeach, Long Sutton, Sutton Bridge and Crowland 
and the main village of Donington are defined as Area Centres.  They will 
continue to provide for housing, employment and commercial development to 
support their roles as service centres for surrounding rural areas. 

· Group Centres - the villages of Cowbit, Deeping St Nicholas, Fleet Hargate, 
Gedney Hill, Gosberton, Moulton, Moulton Chapel, Pinchbeck, Sutton St James, 
Weston and Whaplode will act as local service centres for the surrounding rural 
area.  New development in these settlements should support or improve their role 
as a focus for local social and economic activity, having regard to their role within 
clusters or groups of settlements. 

· Other Rural Settlements - in all other rural settlements only a very limited amount 
of new development will be permitted and only in exceptional circumstances to 
meet demonstrated local needs and where the location of the development is well 
related to the built up area of the settlement.  The named other rural settlements 
are as follows: Fleet Church End, Gedney Black Lion, Gedney Church End, 
Gedney Dawsmere, Gedney Drove End, Gedney Dyke, Gosberton 
Clough/Risegate, Holbeach Drove, Holbeach Hurn, Holbeach St Johns, Holbeach 
St Marks, Little Sutton, Lutton & Lutton Gowts, Moulton Seas End, Nene Terrace, 
Northgate/West Pinchbeck, Quadring, Saracens Head & Holbeach Clough & 
Bank, Shepeau Stow, Surfleet, Surfleet Seas End, Sutton St Edmund, 
Throckenholt, Tongue End, Tydd Gote, Tydd St Mary, Weston Hills – 
Austendyke, Weston Hills – St Johns, Whaplode Drove and Whaplode St 
Catherine. 

 
5.2.4 Policy SG4 (Development in the Countryside) states that ‘Planning permission will 

only be granted for development in the open countryside which is essential in the 

Page 56



 45 

proposed location and cannot reasonably be accommodated within defined 
settlement limits.  Development proposals that would result in an unacceptable 
impact upon the landscape character of an area, either individually or cumulatively, 
will only be permitted where: 1) the need for the development in that location 
outweighs its impact; and 2) no other site or solution exists to accommodate the 
proposed development. 

 
5.2.5 For the purposes of moving forward with the local plan process a baseline settlement 

hierarchy for South East Lincolnshire has been produced by harmonising the existing 
local plan hierarchies. This process has included deleting the Other Rural 
Settlements in South Holland, which are considered to be in the open countryside as 
they have no defined settlement boundary.  The previously-identified Other Villages 
in Boston Borough, which do have a defined settlement boundary, have been 
retained.  

              
            Baseline Settlement Hierarchy 
  

· Sub-Regional Centres: Boston and Spalding 

· Main Service Centres: Crowland, Donington, Holbeach, Kirton, Long Sutton, 
Sutton Bridge 

· Service Villages: Butterwick, Cowbit, Deeping St. Nicholas, Fleet Hargate, 
Gedney Hill, Gosberton, Moulton, Moulton Chapel, Old Leake, Pinchbeck, 
Sutterton, Sutton St. James, Swineshead, Weston, Whaplode 

· Other Villages: Algarkirk, Amber Hill, Benington, Bicker, Fishtoft, Fosdyke, 
Frampton, Frampton West, Freiston, Haltoft End, Holland Fen, Hubberts Bridge, 
Kirton End, Kirton Holme, Langrick Bridge, Leake Commonside, Leverton, 
Swineshead Bridge, Wigtoft, Wrangle, Wrangle Common, Wyberton. 

 
Assessment of the Sustainability of Rural Settlements 
 
5.2.6  This evidence base document contains an assessment of the 72 settlements in 

South East Lincolnshire excluding Boston and Spalding.  This was carried out in 
2011 and, therefore, presents a point-in-time analysis.  The assessment covers 3 
essential sustainability-related themes: access to services and facilities (e.g. shops, 
schools, healthcare etc.); public transport provision; and access to employment 
opportunities. The assessment produced a scoring mechanism that shows a broad 
indication of which settlements offer the most sustainable locations and which 
settlements are most dependent on other locations for services and facilities.  The 
results of this study are currently being refined.  However, in terms of using this 
information to formulate policy it is important to recognise the fact that it only 
provides a broad indication of settlement ‘sustainability’ at a single point in time.   

 
Lincolnshire Coastal Study  
 
5.2.7 Analysis of the ROY zones outlined in the Lincolnshire Coastal Study reveals that the 

following settlements are not situated entirely within one or more of the ROY zones 
and, therefore, they have the potential to provide development opportunities for 
housing that would not be subject to  the ‘cap’ proposed in the Housing Growth and 
Flood Risk chapter. 

 

· Sub-Regional Centres: Boston and Spalding.  

· Main Service Centres: Crowland, Donington, Holbeach, Kirton, Long Sutton 

Page 57



 46 

· Service Villages: Cowbit, Deeping St. Nicholas, Fleet Hargate, Gedney Hill, 
Gosberton, Moulton, Moulton Chapel, Pinchbeck, Sutterton, Sutton St. James, 
Swineshead, Weston and Whaplode. 

· Other Villages (Boston Borough): Algarkirk, Amber Hill, Bicker, Fishtoft, 
Holland Fen, Kirton End, Leake Commonside, Swineshead Bridge, Wigtoft, 
Wrangle and Wrangle Common. 

· Other Rural Settlements (South Holland District): Fleet Church End, Gedney 
Dyke, Gosberton Clough/Risegate, Holbeach Drove, Holbeach Hurn, Holbeach St 
Johns, Moulton Seas End, Nene Terrace, Northgate/West Pinchbeck, Quadring, 
Saracens Head & Holbeach Clough & Bank, Shepeau Stow, Surfleet, Surfleet 
Seas End, Sutton St Edmund, Throckenholt, Tongue End, Tydd Gote, Tydd St 
Mary, Weston Hills – Austendyke, Weston Hills – St Johns, Whaplode Drove and 
Whaplode St Catherine. 

 

5.3 Key Issues  
 
5.3.1 The following key issues emerging from the policy context and evidence base require 

a policy response: 

· the need to ensure that the emerging Local Plan is in conformity with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development outlined in the NPPF; 

· the need to determine a spatial strategy that will guide the distribution and scale 
of development across South East Lincolnshire in a sustainable manner, 
reflecting the needs, roles and functions of settlements and the rural area having 
particular regard to the issue of flood risk; and 

· the need to ensure that the three dimensions to sustainable development 
(economic, social and environmental) are taken into account when allocating 
sites for development. 

 

5.4 Other Policies  
 
5.4.1 Sustainable development is a theme that must run through the full suite of policies in 

the DPD, and together these policies provide the interpretation of what sustainable 
development means in the context of South East Lincolnshire.   

 
5.4.2 The housing and flood risk chapter provides the context to this section in terms of the 

suitability of the ROY zones to contribute to the delivery of new housing 
development.  This chapter is chiefly concerned with the broad distribution of 
development in the context of the housing growth and flood risk chapter via a spatial 
strategy.  More specific matters relating to the distribution of new development, 
including broad locations, will be addressed in both the housing and economy 
chapters.  All site-specific allocations will be dealt with through the Site Allocations 
DPD in due course. 

 
5.4.3 Existing settlement boundaries as outlined in the Boston Borough (1999) and South 

Holland (2006) Local Plans will be retained and reviewed through the Site 
Allocations DPD.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 47 

Approach to the Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
 
5.5 Introduction 
 
5.5.1 It is necessary to determine an approach to implementing the presumption in favour 

of sustainable development locally, as outlined in the NPPF. 
 
5.6 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
5.6.1 It is considered that there is only one reasonable option relating to this issue, which 

is to formulate a policy that seeks to implement the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development that ensures that other locally-derived polices are able to 
be given appropriate weight in the development management process.  The 
Planning Inspectorate (PINS) has produced a model policy which is designed to 
carry out this function. 

 
5.6.2 Option A: To include the PINS model policy in the Strategy and Policies DPD. 
 
5.7 Unreasonable Policy Options 
 
5.7.1 It is considered unreasonable not to include a policy that seeks to implement the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development.  To do so would run the risk of 
the local plan not being in conformity with the NPPF and would fail to make clear that 
development which is sustainable can be approved without delay.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



 48 

5.8 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A    

Air Quality ?    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

?    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

?    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

?    

Economy and 
Employment 

?    

Flood Risk ?    

Historic 
Environment 

?    

Housing ?    

Land and Waste ?    

Landscape ?    

Transport ?    

Water ?    

 
5.8.1 Conclusion: Overall it is considered that Option A has an uncertain impact.  When 

compared to the baseline situation it is unclear what the result of having this policy 
will be.  The purpose of this policy is to ensure that the local plan is in conformity with 
the presumption in favour of sustainable development as outlined in the NPPF, 
rather than to deliver sustainable development itself.  That is the role of the 
comprehensive suite of policies within the local plan. 

 
5.9 Delivery  
 
5.9.1 As there is only one option, there are no relative delivery benefits of other 

approaches.  This policy ensures that the local plan is in conformity with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, as outlined in the NPPF.  
Sustainable development will be delivered through the comprehensive suite of 
policies contained within the local plan. 

 
5.10  Preferred Option 
 
5.10.1 Option A is the only reasonable option. 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 49 

Approach to the Distribution of Development Between Settlements 
 
5.11 Introduction 
 
5.11.1 It is necessary to determine a spatial strategy that distributes development in a 

sustainable manner throughout South East Lincolnshire reflecting the needs, roles 
and functions of settlements in the context of the preferred policy approach set out in 
the housing growth and flood risk chapter. 

 
5.12 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
5.12.1 It is considered that, in the context of the preferred policy approach to development 

in the ROY zones, there are only two reasonable options in terms of a spatial 
strategy for the general distribution and scale of development across South East 
Lincolnshire’s settlements.  The first is to continue with the existing harmonised 
settlement hierarchy, as outlined in paragraph 5.2.5, focussing development in the 
Sub-regional and Main Service Centres, with a restricted amount of new 
development in the Service Villages and Other Villages  

 
5.12.2 A second reasonable option is a more dispersed approach to development which 

seeks to accommodate a greater level of development in the Service Villages.  In 
conjunction with this, a select number of other villages (Boston Borough) and other 
rural settlements (South Holland District) would be promoted to service centres 
where they have the potential to deliver housing in non-ROY zone areas (see 
paragraph 5.2.7) and have access to some services and facilities. This approach 
would also delete the Other Villages category from the hierarchy and treat these as 
‘countryside’, thus addressing the existing inconsistency between these and the 
‘other rural settlements’ category in the South Holland Local Plan , which are already 
classed as countryside. 

 
5.12.3 Option A: To continue with the current harmonised settlement hierarchy, focussing 

development in the Sub-Regional and Main Service Centres as outlined in paragraph 
5.2.5, with restricted growth in the Service Villages and Other VIllages.  

 
5.12.4 Option B: To increase the proportion of development in the Service Villages and 

using the availability of non-ROY land for development as a reason for the promotion 
of settlements  to Service Villages; and to treat all settlements below Service Villages 
as countryside.  The promoted settlements are:  

· Algarkirk, Bicker, Fishtoft, Kirton End, Leake Commonside, Quadring, Surfleet, 
Swineshead Bridge, Tydd St Mary,  Wigtoft and Wrangle. 

 
5.13 Unreasonable Policy Options 
 
5.13.1 It is unreasonable to determine a spatial strategy and settlement hierarchy that does 

not take into account the preferred policy approach to development in the ROY 
zones as outlined in the housing growth and flood risk chapter.  It is also 
unreasonable to restrict development in all settlements situated entirely within the 
ROY zones as the required housing target would be undeliverable, given the extent 
of the ROY zones, particularly in Boston Borough.  This approach would also be 
contrary to the preferred approach on housing development in the ROY zones 
outlined in the housing growth and flood risk chapter.  Given this local context, an 
entirely dispersed spatial strategy is also deemed unreasonable.   

Page 61



 50 

 
5.13.2 It is unreasonable not to provide a spatial strategy or settlement hierarchy (a laissez-

faire approach).  This would be contrary to the NPPF expectation that local plans 
express what sustainable development means within the local context. 

 
5.13.3 It is unreasonable to designate a new settlement to meet future development needs, 

as given the infrastructure requirements and lead-in time, it is considered that this 
would be undeliverable in the plan period.  

 
5.14 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B   

Air Quality X/? X/?   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

X/? X/?   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

X/? X/?   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü ü/?   

Economy and 
Employment 

üü üü   

Flood Risk X X   

Historic 
Environment 

? ?   

Housing üü üü   

Land and Waste X X   

Landscape X X   

Transport X/? X/?   

Water X X   

 
5.14.1 Air Quality: Both options will have a mixed minor negative/uncertain impact on air 

quality as any new development will likely lead to increased air pollution, primarily 
due to increased road traffic.  This may have a direct negative impact on the two 
identified Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) in the area.  However, there is an 
element of uncertainty until detailed locations for development are determined 
through the housing and economy chapters of this document and the Site Allocations 
DPD.  Relatively speaking option B (a potentially more dispersed pattern of growth) 
may have a worse impact as sustainable modes of transport could be more difficult 
to deliver in smaller, lower-order settlements. 

5.14.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options will have a mixed 
minor negative/uncertain impact.  Any new development has the potential to impact 
upon protected sites of nature conservation importance.  However, until site specifics 
are known (through the Site Allocations DPD) there will be uncertainty as to the 

Page 62



 51 

nature of the impact.  With any new development there is the potential positive 
impact of being able to ‘design in’ green infrastructure.  

5.14.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options will have a mixed minor 
negative/uncertain impact.  Any new development is likely to increase greenhouse 
gas emission, both directly and indirectly.  There are potential positive impacts 
through the opportunities to require new energy-efficient design and construction and 
to require that all new housing proposals in flood hazard areas will only be 
considered for approval subject to the mitigation of flood risk through flood-resilient 
design and emergency planning.  However, there is an element of uncertainty until 
detailed locations for development are determined through the housing and economy 
chapters of this document and the Site Allocations DPD. 

5.14.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A will have a minor positive impact, whilst 
option B will have a minor positive/uncertain impact.  The provision of additional 
development, in particular housing and employment opportunities, as well as new 
services and facilities will have a positive impact on both health and equality in both 
cases.  There is also potential for new development to support the funding of new 
infrastructure.  However, option B (a potentially more dispersed pattern of growth) 
could struggle to provide the critical mass required to deliver the required community 
infrastructure to support new development.  

5.14.5 Economy and Employment: Both options will have a major positive impact, as they 
both seek to deliver new employment opportunities, albeit via a different manner of 
distribution.  

5.14.6 Flood Risk: Both options will have a minor negative impact as they both seek to 
provide development in the ROY zones.  However, relatively speaking option B goes 
further than option A in seeking to increase the contribution of settlements outside of 
the ROY zones to meet development, particularly housing, needs.  Furthermore, 
there is an opportunity to require that all housing growth in the ROY zones will only 
be permitted subject to the mitigation of flood risk through flood-resilient design and 
emergency planning.  There is also potential for new development to support the 
funding of new flood-defence-related infrastructure.  

5.14.7 Historic Environment: Both options will have an uncertain impact.  This is because 
site specifics will be considered at a later date through the production of the Site 
Allocations DPD and through the development management process.   

5.14.8 Housing: Both options will have a major positive impact, as they both seek to deliver 
new housing development, albeit via a different manner of distribution. 

5.14.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new 
greenfield development will result in a permanent loss of agricultural land.  However, 
relatively speaking option B (a potentially more dispersed pattern of growth) may 
provide fewer opportunities for brownfield development.  New development will also 
likely lead to greater levels of waste generation.  

5.14.10Landscape: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development 
on greenfield land will inevitably impact upon landscape but the precise nature of 
that impact will be dependent on the design, layout and landscaping of a particular 
development.  However, relatively speaking option B (a potentially more dispersed 
pattern of growth) may lead to a perceived greater level of development in the 
countryside and, therefore, landscape change.   

5.14.11Transport: Both options will have a mixed minor negative/uncertain impact.  Any 
new development is likely to lead to higher levels of road traffic and could exacerbate 
perceived congestion problems.  However, there is an element of uncertainty until 
detailed locations for development are determined through the housing and economy 
chapters of this document and the Site Allocations DPD.  Relatively speaking option 
B (a potentially more dispersed pattern of growth) may have a worse impact as 

Page 63



 52 

sustainable modes of transport could be more difficult to deliver in smaller, lower-
order settlements. 

5.14.12Water: Both options will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development is 
likely to increase pressure on water resources.  

5.14.13Conclusion: Both options score similarly in terms of their overall sustainability.  
However, relatively speaking a more dispersed distribution of growth (option B) is 
likely to be deemed less sustainable in terms of the potential to provide sustainable 
transport.  It may also be more difficult to achieve the critical mass in lower order 
settlements to provide infrastructure to support sustainable communities.  However, 
option B does specifically seek to support growth in areas at a lower level of flood 
risk (non-ROY zone areas) and so in this respect a more dispersed distribution of 
growth is deemed more sustainable.  

 
5.15 Delivery  
 
5.15.1 The delivery of both options will be guided by the distribution of specific types of 

development in other housing and employment-related policies, the Site Allocations 
DPD where appropriate, and the development management process.   

 
5.15.2 Most significant proposals will require appropriate supporting infrastructure which will 

be identified through the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).  It is likely that a more 
dispersed pattern of development may be less likely to deliver the critical mass to 
provide the required infrastructure. 

 
5.16  Preferred Option 
 
5.16.1 Option B is the preferred option.  Whilst a more dispersed pattern of growth could be 

deemed less sustainable, this option is specifically concerned with seeking to enable 
development to occur in the non-ROY zones with a view to successfully delivering 
the ‘capped’ approach to housing development in the ROY zones as outlined in the 
housing growth and flood risk chapter. 

 

Approach to Development in the Countryside 
 
5.17 Introduction 
 
5.17.1 It is necessary to determine an approach to development in the countryside in the 

context of the housing growth and flood risk chapter. 
 
5.18 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
5.18.1 The only reasonable option is to outline a policy approach to development in the 

countryside that restricts development in the countryside, whilst outlining the types of 
development that are deemed suitable in rural areas.  This should take account of 
the need to ensure sustainable development, promote the rural economy and protect 
the countryside and rural activities, e.g. agriculture, as outlined in the NPPF. 

 
5.18.2 Option A: To set out a policy approach that restricts development in general in areas 

designated as ‘Countryside’, but also outlines what development is appropriate for 
the purpose of supporting the rural economy. 

 
 
 

Page 64



 53 

5.19 Unreasonable Policy Options 
 
5.19.1 It is deemed unreasonable not to have a policy detailing what development is 

appropriate in the Countryside, as this could lead to uncontrolled development in 
rural areas, which is contrary to the NPPF.  For the same reasons, it is unreasonable 
to develop a policy that seeks to promote large-scale development in rural areas. 

 
5.20 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A    

Air Quality 0/X    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

?    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

0/X    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü/X    

Economy and 
Employment 

üü    

Flood Risk ?    

Historic 
Environment 

?    

Housing X    

Land and Waste ü/X    

Landscape ü/X    

Transport ü/X    

Water X    

 
5.20.1 Air Quality: Option A has a mixed neutral/minor negative impact.  Whilst restricting 

development in the countryside will have not have a negative impact upon air quality, 
it will not improve air quality.  However, allowing any element of development e.g. 
tourism in the countryside has the potential to increase levels of traffic and therefore 
impact negatively upon air quality. 

5.20.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Option A will have an uncertain 
impact.  By restricting development in the countryside any potential likelihood of a 
negative impact is reduced.  However, there is a degree of uncertainty as any rural 
development e.g. tourism could have a negative impact dependant upon the 
location.   

5.20.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A will have a mixed 
neutral/minor negative impact.  Whilst restricting development in the countryside will 
have not lead to an increase in greenhouse gas emissions, it will not reduce it either.  
However, allowing any element of development e.g. tourism in the countryside has 
the potential to increase emissions, thus having a negative impact.  

Page 65



 54 

5.20.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor 
negative impact.  Restricting development, particularly housing, could be argued to 
lead to the decline of rural communities.  However, a policy approach that supports 
appropriate development to support community facilities and the rural economy will 
have a positive impact.    

5.20.5 Economy and Employment: Option A will have a major positive impact, as it seeks to 
allow appropriate development to support the rural economy.  

5.20.6 Flood Risk: Option A will have an uncertain impact.  This is because whilst some 
development may be appropriate in the countryside, the impact on flood risk will be 
dependent upon the location, scale and type of development. 

5.20.7 Historic Environment: Option A has an uncertain impact.  This is because whilst 
some development may be appropriate in the countryside, the impact on the historic 
environment will be dependent upon the location, scale and type of development. 

5.20.8 Housing: Option A will have a negative impact, as this option is actively seeking to 
restrict housing development in the countryside. 

5.20.9 Land and Waste: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  
By seeking to restrict large-scale development in the open countryside, agricultural 
land is protected.  However, even by just approving limited development, there is a 
negative impact in terms of the loss of greenfield land and an increase in levels of 
waste generation. 

5.20.10Landscape: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  By 
seeking to restrict large-scale development in the open countryside, landscape 
character will be protected.  However, even by just approving limited development, 
there is a potential negative impact in terms of the loss of greenfield land and local 
changes to the landscape.  

5.20.11Transport: Option A will have a minor positive/minor negative impact.  Whilst 
restricting development in the countryside will have not have a negative impact upon 
levels of traffic, it will not improve them.  However, focussing development in urban 
areas provides greater potential for delivering sustainable modes of transport, which 
is a positive impact of restricting development in the countryside.  Nevertheless, 
allowing any element of development e.g. tourism in the countryside has the 
potential to increase levels of traffic and therefore impact negatively.    

5.20.12Water: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development is likely 
to increase pressure on water resources. 

5.20.13Conclusion: Option A seeks to limit development in the countryside which has a 
positive impact in terms of preserving the countryside and high-quality agricultural 
land.  By supporting the rural economy this also has a positive impact in terms of 
economic sustainability.   

 
5.21 Delivery  
 
5.21.1 This option will be delivered via other policies within the housing and employment 

chapters of this document and the development management process.  As there are 
no other reasonable options, there are no relative delivery benefits. 

 
5.22  Preferred Option 
 
5.22.1 Option A is the only reasonable option and has a number of positive outcomes in 

terms of sustainability. 
 

 
 

Page 66



 55 

Approach to Site Allocations 
 
5.23 Introduction 
 
5.23.1 It is necessary to ensure that the approach to the allocation of sites for development 

will help to deliver sustainable development. 
 
5.24 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
5.24.1 It is considered that there is only one reasonable option to the approach of setting 

out how sites will be allocated.  This approach involves detailing the criteria that will 
need to be taken into account when sites are selected through the Site Allocation 
DPD to ensure that the most sustainable sites are chosen.  This option provides the 
policy link, or ‘hook’, between the Strategy and Policies DPD and the Site Allocations 
DPD. 

 
5.24.2 Option A: To set out a criteria-based policy to guide the site allocations process, 

ensuring that the most sustainable sites come forward in line with the preferred 
approach to the distribution and scale of development, including housing 
development in the ROY zones. 

 
5.25 Unreasonable Policy Options 
 
5.25.1 It is considered unreasonable not to have a policy that addresses this issue.  A policy 

hook is required in the Strategy and Policies DPD to provide the context for 
allocating sites in the subsequent Site Allocations DPD. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



 56 

5.26 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A    

Air Quality ü/X    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

X    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü    

Economy and 
Employment 

üü    

Flood Risk ü/X    

Historic 
Environment 

ü/?    

Housing üü    

Land and Waste X    

Landscape ü/X    

Transport ü/X    

Water X    

 
5.26.1 Air Quality: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  Whilst 

new development will likely lead to an increase in air pollution overall, primarily due 
to increased road traffic, by seeking to allocate sites in the most sustainable 
locations the potential for the use of sustainable modes of transport are increased. 

5.26.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Option A will have a minor 
positive impact by setting criteria for the allocation of sites that seek to protect sites 
of nature conservation importance and seek to provide the required supporting 
infrastructure (which can include green infrastructure).   

5.26.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A will have a minor negative 
impact as any new development will likely lead to an increase in greenhouse gas 
emissions, both directly and indirectly.  Nevertheless, there are opportunities to 
mitigate this impact through other policies within the plan.  

5.26.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A will have a minor positive impact as it 
will seek to allocate development in the most sustainable locations and seek to 
provide the required supporting infrastructure, including community facilities where 
appropriate. 

5.26.5 Economy and Employment: Option A will have a major positive impact as it is 
actively seeking to allocate sustainable sites for development including, where 
appropriate, sites for employment uses. 

5.26.6 Flood Risk: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  Given 
the preferred approach to the distribution of development, including that within ROY 
zones, development is likely to occur in zones of higher flood risk.  However, there is 

Page 68



 57 

an opportunity to ensure that a sequential approach is taken to the allocation of sites 
in flood risk areas and to ensure appropriate mitigation in terms of flood-resilient 
design and emergency planning. 

5.26.7 Historic Environment: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/uncertain impact.  
Whilst sites can be allocated taking historic character and assets into account, by 
concentrating development in and around existing urban areas, there is potential to 
directly and indirectly impact negatively upon such assets. 

5.26.8 Housing: Option A will have a major positive impact as it is actively seeking to 
allocate sustainable sites for development, including housing. 

5.26.9 Land and Waste: Option A will have a minor negative impact, as the allocation of 
new sites inevitably includes the loss of greenfield land (including high quality 
agricultural land).  Any development will also likely lead to greater levels of waste 
generation. 

5.26.10Landscape: Option A will have a minor positive/minor negative impact.  Whilst any 
new greenfield development will lead to a change in the landscape, there is the 
potential to ‘design in’ measures to protect and enhance landscape character. 

5.26.11Transport: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  Whilst 
new development will likely lead to an increase in levels of road traffic, by seeking to 
allocate sites in the most sustainable locations the potential for the use of 
sustainable modes of transport is increased. 

5.26.12Water: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development is likely 
to increase pressure on water resources. 

5.26.13Conclusion: Whilst there are a number of potential negative impacts that come 
about as a result of development, these can be minimised by seeking to ensure an 
approach that allocates development in the most sustainable locations available. 

 
5.27 Delivery  
 
5.27.1 This option will be delivered through the Site Allocation DPD.  It provides the link 

between that document and the Strategy and Policies DPD.  As there are no other 
reasonable options, there are no relative delivery benefits.   

 
5.28  Preferred Option 
 
5.28.1 Option A is the only reasonable option and has a number of positives in terms of 

sustainability. 
 

5.29 Reason for Preferred Policy Approach 
 
5.29.1 It is clear from the information presented that there are limited reasonable options for 

dealing with the key issues arising from the policy context and evidence base.  
Based on the above conclusions, it is proposed to take forward three preferred policy 
approaches.  The first will cover the preferred approach to implementing the NPPF’s 
presumption in favour of sustainable development and will include the model policy 
created by PINS.  The second incorporates the preferred options for the distribution 
and scale of development and for development in the Countryside in order to 
express a preferred spatial strategy for South East Lincolnshire .  The third provides 
the policy hook between the Strategy and Policies DPD and the Site Allocations DPD 
and is the preferred approach to site allocations.    

 
 
 

Page 69



 58 

5.30 Preferred Policy Approaches 

 
 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
X 
 

 
X 

 
X 

 
ü 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
This policy is only concerned with ensuring that the local plan is in conformity with the 
NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable development.  It is not the purpose of this 
policy to directly lead to development or outline levels or locations of growth.  It is therefore 
considered that this policy can be screened out of the Habitats Regulations Assessment 
process at this point. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that 
reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants jointly to find 
solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever possible, and to secure 
development that improves the economic, social and environmental conditions in the 
area. 

Planning applications that accord with the policies in this Local Plan (and, where 
relevant, with polices in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of 
date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether: 

· any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning 
Policy Framework taken as a whole; or 

· specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 

 

Page 70



 59 

Equalities Assessment 
 

Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



 60 

 
 
 
 
 

Spatial Strategy 
 
South East Lincolnshire comprises four types of place: 
 

· Sub-Regional Centres: Boston and Spalding 
 
These will be the main locations for new development. 

 

· Main Service Centres: Crowland, Donington, Holbeach, Kirton, Long Sutton 
and Sutton Bridge 

 
These will continue to provide for significant housing, employment and 
commercial development to support their roles as service centres for 
surrounding rural areas. 

 

· Service Villages: Algarkirk, Bicker, Butterwick, Cowbit, Deeping St. Nicholas, 
Fishtoft, Fleet Hargate, Gedney Hill, Gosberton, Kirton End, Leake 
Commonside, Moulton, Moulton Chapel, Old Leake, Pinchbeck, Quadring, 
Sutterton, Sutton St. James, Surfleet, Tydd St Mary, Swineshead, Swineshead 
Bridge, Weston, Whaplode, Wigtoft and Wrangle 
 
These will act as local service centres for the surrounding rural area.  Limited 
new development should support or improve their role as a focus for social and 
economic activity. 
 

· The Countryside: the rest of South East Lincolnshire, including all settlements 
not listed above, within which development will be restricted to the following 
categories in accordance with other local plan policies: 

§ agriculture; 
§ forestry; 
§ the preservation of Listed Buildings; 
§ the reuse and adaptation of buildings for appropriate purposes; 
§ coastal and flood protection; 
§ rural exceptions affordable housing; 
§ the extension and replacement of dwellings; 
§ sites for Gypsy and Travellers and travelling showpeople; 
§ new-build employment generating proposals where there is a 

particular environmental or operational justification; 
§ the diversification of rural enterprises; 
§ community services and facilities meeting a proven local need; 
§ development by statutory undertakers or public utility providers; 
§ recreation and tourism 
§ renewable energy projects; 
§ transport; 
§ mineral extraction; and 
§ waste management facilities. 

 

Page 72



 61 

Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
X 

 
ü 

 
Given that this policy approach is concerned with distributing development, it is considered 
that there is potential for significant effects on a European or Ramsar site.  As such, it 
should be screened into the Habitats Regulations Assessment process. 
 
Equalities Assessment 

Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



 62 

 
 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
ü 

 
X 

 
X 

 
ü 

 
X 

 
X 

 
ü 

 
This policy is concerned with providing a link between the Strategy and Policies DPD and 
the Site Allocations DPD.  It provides criteria for allocating land for new development.  It is 
therefore considered that there is potential for significant effects on a European or Ramsar 
site.  As such, it should be screened into the Habitats Regulations Assessment process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Site Allocations in South East Lincolnshire 
 
In allocating sites for development, the following criteria will be taken into account in 
addition to other policies within the local plan: 
 

· sites will be located in or adjacent to the existing built-up area of the 
settlement; 

· sites will be accessible and well-related to existing services and facilities; 

· sites will be accessible by public transport or demonstrate that the provision of 
such services can be viably provided and sustained; 

· sites will not place undue burdens on existing infrastructure or will be able to 
demonstrate that appropriate new infrastructure can be provided to address 
sustainability issues; 

· sites will not have adverse impacts on South East Lincolnshire’s natural, built 
and historic assets and landscape character that cannot be adequately 
mitigated against; 

· sites will not lead to the loss of locally-important open space, other green 
infrastructure or community facilities, unless adequately replaced elsewhere; 
and 

· sites will have been subject to appropriate sequential testing and other 
planning policy requirements in relation to flood risk. 

Page 74



 63 

Equalities Assessment 
Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75



 64 

6.0 Housing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 65 

7.0 Economy 
 

7.1 Policy Context 
 
Local Plan Strategic Priorities 
 
7.1.1 The following Local Plan strategic priorities are relevant: 

· To provide the right conditions and sufficient land in appropriate locations to 
diversify and strengthen the economic base of South East Lincolnshire to meet 
the needs of existing companies, to attract new businesses and sources of 
employment, and to take advantage of historic and environmental assets to 
maximise the potential for sustainable tourism. 

· To create a mutually-supportive hierarchy of vibrant self-contained centres 
providing employment, retailing and services for South-East Lincolnshire by 
encouraging an appropriate scale of retail, leisure and other town-centre 
development and by maximising opportunities for regeneration. 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework 

 
7.1.2 Building a strong, competitive economy  

 
‘In drawing up Local Plans, local planning authorities should: 

· set out a clear economic vision and strategy for their area which positively and 
proactively encourages sustainable growth; 

· set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment to match the 
strategy and to meet anticipated needs over the plan period; 

· support existing business sectors, taking account of whether they are expanding 
or contracting and, where possible, identify and plan for new or emerging sectors 
likely to locate in their area.  Policies should be flexible enough to accommodate 
needs not anticipated in the plan and to allow a rapid response to changes in 
economic circumstances; 

· plan positively for the location, promotion and expansion of clusters or networks 
of knowledge driven, creative or high technology industries; 

· identify priority areas for economic regeneration, infrastructure provision and 
environmental enhancement; and facilitate flexible working practices such as the 
integration of residential and commercial uses within the same unit’. 
 

7.1.3 Ensuring the viability of town centres 
 

‘In drawing up Local Plans, local planning authorities should: 

· recognise town centres as the hearts of their communities and pursue policies to 
support their viability and vitality; 

· define a network and hierarchy of centres that is resilient to anticipated future 
economic changes; 

· define the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas, based on a clear 
definition of primary and secondary frontages in designated centres, and set 
policies that make clear which uses will be permitted in such locations; 

· promote competitive town centres that provide customer choice and a diverse 
retail offer and which reflect the individuality of town centres; 

· retain and enhance existing markets and, where appropriate, re-introduce or 
create new ones, ensuring that markets remain attractive and competitive; 

Page 77



 66 

· allocate a range of suitable sites to meet the scale and type of retail, leisure, 
commercial, office, tourism, cultural, community and residential development 
needed in town centres.  It is important that needs for retail, leisure, office and 
other main town centres uses are met in full and are not compromised by limited 
site availability. Local planning authorities should therefore undertake an 
assessment of the need to expand town centres to ensure a sufficient supply of 
suitable sites; 

· allocate appropriate edge of centre sites for main town centre uses that are well 
connected to the town centre where suitable and viable town centre sites are not 
available.  If sufficient edge of centre sites cannot be identified, set policies for 
meeting the identified needs in other accessible locations that are well connected 
to the town centre; 

· set policies for the consideration of proposals for main town centre uses which 
cannot be accommodated in or adjacent to town centres; 

· recognise that residential development can play an important role in ensuring the 
viability of centres and set out policies to encourage residential development on 
appropriate sites; and 

· where town centres are in decline, local planning authorities should plan 
positively for their future to encourage economic activity’. 
 

7.1.4 Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
 
 ‘To promote a strong rural economy, local and neighbourhood plans should: 

· support the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and 
enterprise in rural areas, both through the conversion of existing buildings and 
well designed new buildings; 

· promote the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based 
rural businesses; 

· support sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit 
businesses in rural areas, communities and visitors, and which respect the 
character of the countryside.  This should include supporting the provision and 
expansion of tourist and visitor facilities in appropriate locations where identified 
needs are not met by existing facilities in rural service centres; and 

· promote the retention and development of local services and community facilities 
in villages, such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, 
public house and places of worship’. 

 
The East Midlands Regional Plan 

 
7.1.5 The Regional Plan states that ‘it will be especially important to raise skill levels, 

develop the service sector and high value manufacturing and create innovative 
businesses, so that the region is better placed to maintain economic 
competitiveness’ (Policy 18).  In terms of regeneration (Policy 19), the regional 
priority is to focus on areas of greatest need, within which Sub-Regional Centres 
(e.g. Boston and Spalding) and ‘economically lagging’ rural areas (e.g. South 
Holland) are mentioned.  The regional priority for employment land (Policy 20) is to 
undertake and keep up-to-date employment land reviews to inform the allocation of a 
range of sites at sustainable locations.  In terms of strategic distribution (Policy 21), 
local authorities should give priority to sites which can be served by rail freight, and 
operate as inter-modal terminals.  In terms of town centres and retail development, 
the regional priority is to promote the vitality and viability of existing town centres, 
including those in rural towns (Policy 22).  Where town centres are under-performing, 

Page 78



 67 

action should be taken to promote investment through design-led initiatives and the 
development and implementation of town centre strategies.  The regional priorities 
for rural diversification (Policy 24) are to promote the continued diversification and 
further development of the rural economy, where this is consistent with a sustainable 
pattern of development and the environmentally-sound management of the 
countryside.  The regional priority for tourism (Policy 42) is to ‘seek to identify areas 
of potential tourism growth which maximise economic benefit whilst minimising 
adverse impact on the environment and local amenity’. 

 
Boston Borough Council ‘Planning for the Future 2012-2015’ 
 
7.1.6 One of the Council’s priorities is to ‘revitalise and promote our town and rural 

borough’.  The Council highlights the need to bring more businesses and 
employment opportunities into the town and borough to create jobs and prosperity. 

  
Boston – A Great Past, an Exciting Future – Our Community Plan 2008-2018 
 
7.1.7 The document sets out a number of ambitions and actions to achieve them.  The 

following relate to the economy: ‘assessing the priorities contained in the Boston 
Town Centre Study recommendations to produce an action plan for town centre 
improvements’; ‘supporting a Boston Improvement Area in the town centre’; 
‘improving the market place’; ‘making Boston a special and distinctive destination for 
visitors, commerce, industry and shoppers’; ‘developing Boston’s heritage, tourism 
and Cultural Quarter to bring more tourists to the town’; ‘raising the town’s profile as 
a tourist destination for shoppers and visitors across the UK’; ‘branding and 
marketing Boston, including lesser known attractions to make the most of our 
heritage and tourism opportunities’; ‘promoting green tourism, including The Wash 
reserves’; ‘supporting a new quality hotel development’; ‘increasing the range of 
shops to improve retail offer by redeveloping the area between West Street and the 
river’; ‘attracting new investment’; ‘completing the first phase of the Fens Waterway 
Link’; and ‘supporting the expansion of the Port of Boston.’ 

 
South Holland District Council Corporate Plan 2011-15 
 
7.1.8 One of the Council’s corporate priorities is ‘To Support Our Local Economy’.  The 

Council will actively support local businesses to encourage the creation of jobs and 
boost the local economy.  It notes that one of the areas upon which the Council will 
place particular focus in 2011 - 2012 will be to influence and encourage private 
sector regeneration in respect of the ‘Road Rail Hub (Food Port)’. 

 
Boston Borough Council Economic Development Strategy 2011-2013 
 
7.1.9  The Council’s strategy has four priorities: to develop the business environment; 

improve the built environment; develop the skills base; and improve the transport 
infrastructure. 

 
South Holland Economic Development Strategy 2010-2015 
 
7.1.10 The Councils’ strategy has three priorities: to help create an environment in which 

new businesses can start and existing businesses can grow; to generate a high 
quality of life so that people will want to both live and work in the district; and work 
with partners to tackle issues holding back economic growth and to minimise the 
impact of the recession. 

Page 79



 68 

 
7.1.11 The strategy notes that the most important business sectors for the District ‘are still 

the traditional ones of agriculture, horticulture, food production, retailing and short-
break tourism’.   

 

7.2 Evidence Base  

 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
 
7.2.1 Evidence from the Scoping Report highlights a number of key issues and problems 

in relation to the economy and employment of South East Lincolnshire: 

· the area has below-average economic performance; 

· the area has a low-wage economy; 

· the economy is focussed on a limited number of sectors (i.e. agriculture, food 
processing and transport); 

· there are a high proportion of people with lower/no qualifications, particularly in 
Boston Borough; 

· levels of unemployment are below average; 

· there is a significant amount of undeveloped allocated land available. 
 
Boston Borough and South Holland Local Plans 
 
Employment Land  
 
7.2.2 Policy ED1 of the Boston Borough Local Plan (1999) identifies thirty-four historic 

areas of industry/commerce and a further nine proposed sites.  A number of sites 
were put forward in the 2006 local plan, which was never formally adopted.  
Therefore, these sites carry no statutory weight.  However, one of the most notable – 
the Kirton Distribution Park – has the benefit of planning permission.  The latest 
Annual Monitoring Report shows that as of 31st March 2012 there were 75.59 ha of 
undeveloped allocated employment land in Boston Borough.   

 
7.2.3 Policy EC1 of the South Holland Local Plan (2006) identifies six major employment 

areas in the district, with accompanying allocations for employment use.  In addition, 
land is allocated at Sutton Bridge for port-related uses.  The latest Annual Monitoring 
Report (AMR) shows that as of 31st March 2012 there were 143.39 ha of 
undeveloped allocated employment land in South Holland. 

 
Retail 
 
7.2.4 The adopted Boston Borough Local Plan (1999) only defines one town centre in the 

form of a ‘General Business Area’ in Boston (Policy RTC1).  Within this area ‘Prime 
Shopping Frontages’ and ‘Other Prime Shopping Frontages’ are identified (Policies 
RTC6 & RTC7).  One out-of-centre retail area is also defined – the ‘Chain Bridge 
Retail Area’ (Policy RTC4).  The adopted South Holland Local Plan (2006) identifies 
a number of ‘defined retail centres’ (Policy EC5) and ‘Primary Shopping Areas’ 
(Policy EC6).   

 
South East Lincolnshire Employment Premises and Land Review 
 
7.2.5 The South East Lincolnshire Employment Premises and Land Review (ELR) includes 

five different scenarios for estimating future employment space requirements. These 

Page 80



 69 

scenarios have been derived from considerations relating to levels of economic 
growth, development trends and potential housing supply.   The results indicate an 
estimated need ranging from 25.7 to 78.6 ha in the period up to 2031.  

  
7.2.6 The study concludes that, in quantitative terms, there is a more-than-adequate 

supply of existing employment space to meet any of the estimates of future needs up 
to 2031. It is concluded that this situation would apply even if a number of significant 
sites do not come forward for development.  The current supply is also deemed 
broadly appropriate in terms of quality and distribution.  Overall, the study found that 
existing identified sites are likely to be adequate to meet future needs emerging in 
the plan period, and no further employment allocations are considered necessary for 
any settlements during the plan period.  However, for Boston and Spalding towns it is 
recommended that the situation is monitored and that any need for an additional 
allocation is reviewed in 5-10 years time.  Given the large supply of existing 
employment land, it is considered that sites could be reviewed for release to other 
uses should this be deemed appropriate.  

 
Boston Town Centre Retail Study and South Holland District Council Retail Capacity 
Study 
 
7.2.7  The Boston Town Centre Retail Study investigates retail capacity between 2006 and 

2026.  It offers no information relating to a hierarchy of retail centres in Boston 
Borough. The study considers the projected growth in expenditure capacity to 
support additional retail development in Boston over three periods: 2006-2011, 2011-
16 and 2016-26.  The requirements are outlined in the following table.  The two 
different figures outlined for both convenience and comparison floorspace are 
alternatives rather than cumulative totals. 

 
Table XX 
   Convenience floorspace 

requirement (sq m gross) NB: the 
below figures are an either/or 
depending upon the type of 
convenience development 

Comparison floorspace 
requirement (sq m gross) 

 Mainstream 
supermarket 

Discount food 
store 

All comparison 
minus bulky 
goods 

Bulky goods 
(retail warehouse 
formats) 

2006-11 4,500 9,100 8,100 10,000 

2011-16 2,800 5,600 12,000-16,000 10,000-12,000 

2016-26 5,800 12,000 26,000 24,000 

 
7.2.8  The South Holland District Council Retail Capacity Study investigates retail capacity 

between 2007 and 2021.  The study suggests a retail hierarchy of the main town 
(Spalding) and area centres (Holbeach, Long Sutton, Sutton Bridge, Crowland and 
Donington).  This accords with the settlement hierarchy outlined in the adopted 
South Holland Local Plan (2006).  The study also highlights district-wide floorspace 
requirements between 2007 and 2021 as outlined in the following table.  The study 
concludes that there is no need to plan for additional convenience floorspace 
through the identification of specific sites.  In terms of comparison floorspace, it is 
concluded that additional floorspace should be directed to Spalding.  Two scenarios 
are put forward for comparison floorspace: constant retention and rising contention.  
The study considers that the rising retention scenario is both a realistic and desirable 

Page 81



 70 

planning policy objective.  In terms of convenience floorspace, it is concluded that 
there is little scope to increase the existing retention rate. 

 
Table XX 
 Convenience 

floorspace 
requirement (sq m 
net sales area) 

Comparison floorspace requirement (sq m 
net sales area) NB: these are two separate 
scenarios 

  Constant Retention Rising Retention 

2007-11 282 2,002 3,139 

2011-16 1,069 4,846 6,795 

2016-21 1,173 6,215 8,873 

2007-21 2,524 13,085 18,806 

 
7.2.9 Given changes in the global economy since 2008 and that our monitoring systems 

have noted a number of gains and losses in terms of retail floorspace during this 
period, it is considered that a new retail study for South East Lincolnshire will be 
required to inform the final submission version of the DPD.  However, for the 
purposes of the Preferred Options document, the figures in the current studies are 
relied upon.  

 
7.2.10 The study estimates that spending on leisure services in the South Holland 

catchment area is forecast to grow by 42.5 per cent in the period up to 2021.  How 
this growth might be expended locally depends very much on what opportunities the 
market supplies – thus, current spending patterns can only provide a guide to what 
might happen in the future. On current spending patterns in the District, almost two-
thirds of this spending growth will go to eating and drinking outside the home 
(restaurants, cafés and bars).  Capturing a sizeable proportion of this growth in 
expenditure through the provision of a better and more appealing choice of 
restaurants, cafés and bars/pubs will be vital to the future health of the various 
centres within the study area.  The rest of the expenditure growth will go to a wide 
mix of activities (for instance, bingo halls and cinemas), with no single activity 
capturing any significant market growth. As such, there may only be limited scope to 
provide additional entertainment-type leisure activities in the District over the period 
to 2021.  

 
Visioning Exercise 
 
7.2.11Comments were received regarding the need to diversify the local economy, the roles 

existing settlements play in providing employment opportunities and also the 
importance of retaining and enhancing village services.  

 
Assessment of the Sustainability of Rural Settlements 
 
7.2.12 The results of the Assessment demonstrate that there is widespread distribution of 

small-scale employment land opportunities a services and facilities across South-
East Lincolnshire. 

 
Spalding Rail-Freight Interchange (RFI) 
 
7.2.13 Research carried out by Intermodality (2009) highlights that there is a need/unmet 

demand for a rail-freight access in the Spalding area.  As such, it was outlined that 
there is potential for providing a Rail-Freight Interchange (RFI) in the Spalding area 

Page 82



 71 

measuring approximately 50-60 hectares.  This would have the benefit of promoting 
modal shift of freight from road to rail in line with national and regional policies.  It 
would also seek to anchor existing businesses in the Spalding area and decrease 
the risk of business moving to areas of greater connectivity.  The delivery of such a 
facility would be made easier by incorporating some of the work into Network Rail’s 
planned upgrade of the ‘Joint Line’.  Therefore, South Holland District Council’s 
Cabinet resolved, at its meeting in December 2009, that a ‘preferred site’ for a RFI 
be identified.  The Council identified a preferred site to the south-west of Spalding 
and consulted the public on this and other options in March/April 2010.  Four options 
were put forward in two broad locations.  The preferred site was deemed to be the 
most appropriate given that it was on relatively lower grade agricultural land, was the 
most favoured in highway terms and did not involve the demolition of existing 
buildings.  Subsequently, in June 2010, the Cabinet approved the identification of the 
preferred site.  

 
7.2.14 Emerging evidence suggests that a potential developer and a potential operator have 

shown interest in the preferred site.  It is considered that any initial planning 
application is likely to be in the form of a detailed application for the rail-freight 
terminal itself and an outline application for a wider associated development area.  
This is deemed to be significant evidence of the potential deliverability of the RFI. 

 
7.2.15 The ELR concludes that any potential RFI facility of the size outlined in the 

Intermodality report appears unlikely to have major impacts on current employment 
land supply in South East Lincolnshire or necessarily give rise to a need to reduce 
the scale of existing employment land allocations in the area. 

  

7.3 Key Issues 
 
7.3.1 The following key issues emerging from the policy context and evidence base require 

a policy response: 

· the lack of a need to identify further employment land allocations in the plan 
period to meet demand; 

· the need to support both existing businesses and new inward investment; 

· the need to identify an approach to town centre uses, to identify a network and 
hierarchy of centres, to define the extent of town centres, primary shopping areas 
and frontages and to address spare retail capacity; 

· the need to determine an approach to the rural economy, including tourism; and 

· the need to determine an approach in relation to a potential Spalding RFI. 
 

7.4 Other Policies  
 
7.4.1 It is not considered necessary to outline an approach to the rural economy that goes 

into any further detail than what is outlined in the NPPF, specifically section 3, titled 
‘Supporting a prosperous rural economy’.  It is considered that the preferred 
approach in the spatial strategy section of this document provides support for 
appropriate development in the countryside.  Similarly, it is considered that the 
NPPF, the preferred spatial strategy and a more detailed town centre policy (as 
outlined below) provides a sufficient policy steer in respect of tourism-related 
matters. 

 
7.4.2 All site-specific allocations will be dealt with through the Site Allocations DPD.  In the 

period up to the adoption of that document all employment and retail-related 

Page 83



 72 

boundaries and employment allocations in extant Local Plans will be retained.  
Furthermore, policies relating to primary shopping areas and primary and secondary 
shopping frontages will be retained and revisited through the Site Allocations DPD. 

 

Approach to the Provision of New Employment Land 
 
7.5 Introduction 
 
7.5.1 It is necessary that a strategic approach to the provision of new employment land is 

set out.  Given that extant employment land allocations will be reviewed through the 
Site Allocations DPD, the Strategy and Policies DPD preferred policy approach is 
primarily concerned with the overall levels and strategic distribution of employment 
land. 

 
7.6 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
7.6.1 It is considered that there is only one reasonable option related to the level of growth 

and distribution of new employment land.  This is an approach that reflects the 
findings of the ELR, which concludes that there is no need for new allocations above 
and beyond further commitments at present.  The location of existing commitments is 
broadly in conformity with the preferred spatial strategy outlined earlier in this 
document.    

 
7.6.2 Option A:  To seek to meet forecast demand for employment land through current 

commitments. 
 
7.7 Unreasonable Options 
 
7.7.1 It is considered unreasonable to appraise an option that departs from the findings of 

the ELR.  To seek to provide less land than is deemed necessary in the ELR would 
be contrary to the NPPF requirement to deliver ‘objectively assessed needs.’  It is 
also considered unreasonable to seek to allocate further land irrespective of the 
ELR’s conclusion that existing commitments are more than sufficient to meet 
demand in the plan period.  To do so could serve to undermine the delivery of 
existing allocations.  Given that the ELR also concludes that existing commitments 
are of sufficient quality and in the correct locations, it would be unreasonable to seek 
to replace existing employment land allocations 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 84



 73 

7.8 Sustainability Appraisal  
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A    

Air Quality ü/X    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü/?    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü/X    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü    

Economy and 
Employment 

üü    

Flood Risk ?    

Historic 
Environment 

?    

Housing 0    

Land and Waste X    

Landscape X    

Transport ü/X    

Water X    

 
7.8.1 Air Quality: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  Any 

new development will likely lead to increased air pollution, primarily due to increased 
road traffic.  This may have a direct negative impact on the two identified Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs) in the area.  However, by concentrating development 
in existing centres of population there is the potential positive impact of providing the 
critical mass required to sustain public transport and offer opportunities for cycling 
and walking. 

7.8.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure:  Option A will have a mixed 
minor positive/uncertain impact.  Any new development has the potential to impact 
upon protected sites of nature conservation.  However, there is also the potential 
positive impact of being able to ‘design in’ green infrastructure. 

7.8.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A will have a mixed minor 
positive/minor negative impact.  Any new development is likely to increase 
greenhouse gas emissions, both directly and indirectly.  However, by concentrating 
development in existing centres of population and through new energy-efficient 
design and construction there are potential positive impacts of this policy approach. 

7.8.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A will have a major positive impact.  The 
provision of opportunities for employment will have a positive impact on both health 
and equality.   

7.8.5 Economy and Employment: Option A will have a major positive impact.  The 
approach provides the conditions for growth in businesses and employment through 
the provision of employment land. 

Page 85



 74 

7.8.6 Flood Risk: Option A will have an uncertain impact.  This is because site specifics 
will be reviewed at a later date through the production of the Site Allocations DPD.  
There is the potential to ‘design-in’ flood resilience measures to all new development. 

7.8.7 Historic Environment: Option A will have an uncertain impact.  This is because site 
specifics will be reviewed at a later date through the production of the Site 
Allocations DPD.  However, most existing allocations and commitments are out of 
town and as such, the potential for impact should be minimised. 

7.8.8 Housing: Option A will have a neutral impact.  The policy approach is concerned with 
the provision of land for employment land rather than housing. 

7.8.9 Land and Waste: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new greenfield 
development will result in permanent loss of agricultural land.  New development will 
also likely lead to greater levels of waste generation.   

7.8.10 Landscape: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development on 
greenfield land will inevitably impact upon landscape. 

7.8.11 Transport: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  Any 
new development is likely to lead to higher levels of road traffic.  However, by 
concentrating development in existing centres of population there is potential positive 
impact of providing the critical mass required to sustain public transport and offer 
opportunities for cycling and walking.    

7.8.12 Water: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development is likely to 
increase pressure on water resources. 

7.8.13 Conclusion: Whilst there is some uncertainty over the impacts of this option and 
potential for minor negative impacts, the option has major positives in relation to the 
economy and employment in that it seeks to provide for new employment land. 

 
7.9 Delivery  
 
7.9.1 The option will be delivered through the review of existing sites through the Site 

Allocations DPD and through the development management process.  As there is 
only one reasonable option, there are no relative delivery benefits of another 
approach.  The delivery of overall targets for employment land will be monitored 
through the Annual Monitoring Report.  Significant development will require 
appropriate supporting infrastructure, which will be indentified through the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 

 
7.10  Preferred Option 
 
7.10.1 Option A is the only reasonable option. 
 

Approach to Existing Employment Land and Premises 
 
7.11 Introduction  
 
7.11.1 It is important to outline an approach to dealing with the protection and potential loss 

of existing employment land and premises to other uses in order to support existing 
businesses and inward investment. 

 
7.12 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
7.12.1 Option A: One approach to this issue is to seek to protect existing employment land 

through policy. 
 

Page 86



 75 

7.12.2 Option B: It is also reasonable not to protect existing employment land through policy 
and to leave redevelopment and change of use opportunities to the market.   

 
7.13 Unreasonable Options 
 
7.13.1 It is considered unreasonable to actively promote the loss of existing employment 

land through policy.  This would be contrary to the pro-economic growth messages 
outlined in the NPPF.  

 
7.14 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B   

Air Quality 0 ?   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

0 0   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

0 ?/ü   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü X   

Economy and 
Employment 

ü XX   

Flood Risk 0 ?/ü   

Historic 
Environment 

0 0   

Housing 0 ü   

Land and Waste 0 ?/ü   

Landscape 0 ?/ü   

Transport 0 ?/X   

Water 0 ?   

 
7.14.1 Air Quality: Option A has a neutral impact and option B has an uncertain impact.  

whilst option A is considered to have a neutral impact, there is uncertainty related to 
option B in that the potential increased loss of employment land to other uses e.g. 
housing could have the impact of increasing levels of traffic overall, potentially in 
locations not well related to existing centres. 

7.14.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options are considered to 
have a neutral impact.  

7.14.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A has a neutral impact and 
option B has an uncertain/minor positive impact.  Whilst option A is considered to 
have a neutral impact, there may be positive impacts through the redevelopment of 
existing employment land for other uses (option B) in that new sustainably designed 
and constructed buildings may lead to an overall reduction in carbon emissions.  
However, there is a great amount of uncertainty in this respect. 

Page 87



 76 

7.14.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A has a minor positive impact and option 
B has a minor negative impact.  Option A scores positively in this respect as it seeks 
to retain employment land and therefore jobs, which has a positive effect on health 
and equality.  The opposite is true of option B, which may result in the loss of 
employment opportunities, hence its negative scoring. 

7.14.5 Economy and Employment: Option A has a minor positive impact and option B has a 
major negative impact.  Option A has a positive impact in that it seeks to retain 
employment land and therefore jobs.  On the other hand option B has a negative 
impact given that it may result in the loss of land for employment and in turn the 
ability to retain and attract new businesses and employment opportunities. 

7.14.6 Flood Risk: Option A has a neutral impact and option B has an uncertain/minor 
positive impact.  Whilst option A is considered to have a neutral impact, there is 
uncertainty related to option B.  However, the redevelopment of existing sites may 
offer the opportunities to design in flood resistance/resilience, however, this would be 
dependant upon the location. 

7.14.7 Historic Environment: Both options are considered to have a neutral impact. 
7.14.8 Housing: Whilst option A has a neutral impact, there is potential through option B to 

deliver new dwellings through windfall development, therefore having a minor 
positive impact. 

7.14.9 Land and Waste: Option A has a neutral impact and option B has an uncertain/minor 
positive impact.  Whilst option A has a neutral impact, option B has the potential 
benefit of reducing the need for greenfield housing sites.  However, there is 
uncertainty in this instance as to the amount of housing that would come forward; 
therefore, meaning the need to identify greenfield opportunities would still be 
required.  There is uncertainty related to waste given the unknown potential levels of 
loss of employment land and what the replacement use might be. 

7.14.10Landscape: Option A has a neutral impact and option B has an uncertain/minor 
positive impact.  Whilst option A has a neutral impact, there are potential benefits to 
the landscape of redeveloping employment uses for other uses, such as housing 
(Option B).  However, there is uncertainty as to the level of change and the nature of 
redevelopment. 

7.14.11Transport: Option A has a neutral impact and option B has an uncertain/minor 
negative impact.  Whilst option A has a neutral impact, there are potential negatives 
to option B in that redevelopment for housing could lead to greater levels of traffic 
movement, potentially in less sustainable locations.  However, there is a great deal 
of uncertainty based on the specifics of the scheme in terms of location and the 
nature of redevelopment. 

7.14.12Water: Whilst option A has a neutral impact, there is uncertainty over the impact of 
option B, related to the level of change and the nature of redevelopment. 

7.14.13Conclusion: In general terms option A has a predominantly neutral impact, given 
that it arguably represents a baseline option.  There is a great level of uncertainty 
related to option B, specifically related to the potential scale of the loss of 
employment land and what any replacement use might be.  Overall, option A is 
deemed to be more sustainable as it seeks to protect employment land, whereas 
option B could lead to a significant impact in terms of the loss of employment land 
and the ability to retain and attract businesses and, therefore, jobs. 

 
7.15 Delivery 
 
7.15.1 In both cases the options would be delivered through the development management 

process.  In relation to infrastructure delivery, option B could lead to significant 
higher-value windfall housing or commercial development coming forward.  This 
would have the impact of increasing pressure on infrastructure in a piecemeal 

Page 88



 77 

fashion, rather than in a planned manner through the allocation of sites through the 
development plan process. 

 
7.16 Preferred Option 
 
7.16.1 Option A is preferred given its relative positive SA score and benefits in terms of 

delivery.  
 

Approach to Town Centre Uses 
 
7.17 Introduction 
 
7.17.1 It is necessary that a network and hierarchy of centres is defined and an overall 

approach to town centre uses is determined, including where there is a need for new 
floorspace.  Site specific details, including potential new allocations and a review of 
the extent of town centres, primary shopping areas and frontages, including 
replacement policies on which uses will be permitted in primary shopping areas and 
primary and secondary frontages, will be addressed through the Site Allocations 
DPD.  Until then relevant boundaries and policies outlined in extant Local Plans will 
be saved.  Furthermore, up-to-date information on need will be provided through an 
update of the retail studies prior to Examination.  The preferred options will be based 
on information from existing retail studies.  

 
7.18 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
7.18.1 There are options related to how to address suitable locations for town centres uses, 

the identification of the network and hierarchy of centres, the amount of floorspace 
required and how to approach the sequential and impact tests. 

 
7.18.2 It is considered that there is only one reasonable option in terms of addressing town 

centre uses, the identification of a network and hierarchy of centres and additional 
floorspace requirements.  That is to broadly conform with the identified settlement 
hierarchy in the spatial strategy chapter of this document, as well as the evidence 
contained in the retail studies covering the area relating to hierarchy and floorspace 
requirements.  In terms of options related to the application of the sequential test, the 
only reasonable way forward is to apply it in line with the NPPF. 

 
7.18.3 There are reasonable options in terms of how to apply the impact test, as supported 

by the NPPF, which states that ‘when assessing applications for retail, leisure and 
office development outside of town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-
to-date Local Plan, local planning authorities should require an impact assessment if 
the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there is 
no locally set threshold, the default threshold is 2,500 sq m net floorspace)’.  It is a 
reasonable option to explore a threshold lower than the NPPF default, particularly in 
terms of convenience and comparison floorspace, to take into account the smaller, 
more vulnerable nature of the majority of identified centres in South East 
Lincolnshire, excluding Boston and Spalding.  This would help to ensure their 
continued vitality and viability 

 
7.18.4 Option A: To identify a hierarchy of centres, focussing retail development in larger 

settlements in accordance with the preferred spatial strategy.  Also, to include the 
level of new development to be accommodated in the plan period in line with the 
findings of the retail studies, to outline an approach to the sequential test in line with 

Page 89



 78 

the NPPF and to incorporate the NPPF default impact test threshold of 2,500 sq m 
net floorspace.        

 
7.18.5 Option B: As option A but with a reduced impact test threshold of 500 sq m net 

convenience or comparison floorspace, except for Boston and Spalding, where the 
NPPF default threshold will apply. 

 
7.19 Unreasonable Options 
 
7.19.1 It is considered unreasonable to depart from the preferred settlement hierarchy 

outlined earlier in this document and the evidence in the retail studies covering the 
area in terms of a network and hierarchy of retail centres.  There is no evidence to 
suggest that a settlement is known to be out or under-performing in retail terms 
relative to its position in the settlement hierarchy, and as such to depart from the 
preferred settlement hierarchy, as outlined in the spatial strategy section of this 
document, is deemed unreasonable. 

 
7.19.2 It is also unreasonable to depart from the evidence in the current retail studies 

(pending the completion of a more up-to-date version) in relation to the level and 
location of new floorspace requirements.   To seek to provide less than required 
would be contrary to the NPPF in that it would not seek to meet the objectively 
assessed needs for the area.  Seeking to provide more may undermine the existing 
retail offer.  Given the relatively small nature of South East Lincolnshire’s retail 
centres, it is deemed unreasonable to adopt a higher impact test threshold than the 
NPPF default.  It is likely that this would increase the risk of undermining the vitality 
and viability of retail centres in the area, which would be contrary to the NPPF. 

 
7.19.3 Finally, it is considered unreasonable not to seek to address the issues highlighted 

though policy and to leave it to the market to meet retail needs.  This approach would 
be contrary to the provisions on the NPPF. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 90



 79 

7.20   Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B   

Air Quality ü/? ü/?   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

0 0   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü/X ü/X   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

üü üü   

Economy and 
Employment 

ü üü   

Flood Risk 0 0   

Historic 
Environment 

? ?   

Housing 0 0   

Land and Waste ü/X ü/X   

Landscape ü/? ü/?   

Transport üü üü   

Water X X   

 
7.20.1 Air Quality:  Both option A and B will have a minor positive/uncertain impact.  By 

concentrating town centre uses in accessible defined centres, there is the potential to 
promote sustainable modes of transport, thus reducing overall car travel and impacts 
upon air quality.  However, concentrating development could result in congestion, 
which might impact negatively.  There is uncertainty in this regard as to whether 
sustainable modes of transport can effectively be encouraged and delivered.    

7.20.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both option A and B have a 
neutral impact. 

7.20.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both option A and B have a mixed 
minor positive/minor negative impact.  By concentrating town centre uses in 
accessible defined centres, there is the potential to promote sustainable modes of 
transport, thus reducing overall car travel and carbon emissions.  However, new 
development is likely to lead to greater carbon emissions overall. 

7.20.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options A and B have a major positive 
impact.  The concentration of town centre uses at accessible locations should reduce 
the need to travel and help contribute to improved quality of life, which has positive 
health effects.  Furthermore, identifying a network of centres to serve all of South 
East Lincolnshire’s communities promotes accessibility to all. 

7.20.5 Economy and Employment: Whilst both option A and B have a positive impact, 
option B is deemed to be major.  This is because the lower threshold (option B) 
relating to the impact test will lend greater support to the vitality and viability of 

Page 91



 80 

existing town centres, when compared to the default higher threshold outlined in the 
NPPF (option A). 

7.20.6 Flood Risk: Both option A and B are considered to have a neutral impact. 
7.20.7 Historic Environment: Both option A and B are considered to have an uncertain 

impact.  Whilst there is likely to be a concentration of listed buildings in existing town 
centres, where development is being concentrated, it would depend on the type and 
specific location of development coming forward as to whether the impact is positive 
or negative. 

7.20.8 Housing: Both option A and B are considered to have a neutral impact.  
7.20.9 Land and Waste: Both option A and B are considered to have a mixed minor 

positive/minor negative impact.  This is because whilst the concentration of 
development in existing centres is likely to result in the re-use of previously-
developed land, any new development is likely to lead to an increase in waste both 
in terms of construction and the ongoing final use. 

7.20.10Landscape: Both option A and B are considered to have a mixed minor 
positive/uncertain impact.  This is because whilst concentrating development in 
existing centres will minimise greenfield development, it is uncertain how new 
development might impact on their historical cores, which may contain a number of 
historic assets. 

7.20.11Transport: Both option A and B have a significant (major) positive impact.  Both 
options will locate facilities in existing centres where they are most accessible by 
public transport, thus reducing the need for car travel.  Furthermore, identifying a 
network of centres to serve all of South East Lincolnshire’s communities promotes 
accessibility to all.   

7.20.12Water: Both option A and B have a minor negative impact.  Both result in new 
development, which will inevitably impact upon water resources. 

7.20.13Conclusion: In general both options score similarly.  However, option B scores 
slightly better by virtue of the fact that it seeks to provide further protection to the 
vitality and viability of existing centres by seeking to apply a more stringent threshold 
in terms of the impact test than the national default position (option A).   

 
7.21 Delivery 
 
7.21.1 The preferred policy approach will be delivered through determining the need and 

location of new allocations through the Site Allocations DPD process and through the 
development management process.  There are no relative delivery benefits between 
options A and B.  The delivery of overall targets for additional floorspace will be 
monitored through the Annual Monitoring Report.  Significant development will 
require appropriate supporting infrastructure, which will be indentified through the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). 

 
7.22 Preferred Option 
 
7.22.1 Option B is the preferred option given that it seeks to provide greater protection to 

the vitality and viability of existing centres. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 92



 81 

Approach to the Identification of a Broad Location for a Spalding Rail 
Freight Interchange 
 
7.23 Introduction  
 
7.23.1 It is necessary to determine an approach for promoting the development of a 

Spalding RFI. 
 
7.24 Reasonable Policy Options  
 
7.24.1 Given the work already carried out in relation to the search for a preferred site for a 

Spalding RFI, it is considered that the only reasonable option is to determine a broad 
location in line with the Council-approved preferred site and the evidence contained 
within the Intermodality report.  This is supported by the fact that a ‘strategic sift’ was 
undertaken through the preferred-site identification process.  This process included 
pubic consultation. 

 
7.24.2 Option A: To identify a broad location for a Spalding RFI of up to 60 hectares in the 

plan period in accordance with the findings of the Intermodality study and the 
Council’s decision on a preferred location. 

 
7.25 Unreasonable Options 
 
7.25.1 Given the work undertaken to date in the identification of a Spalding RFI and that the 

Council has already identified a preferred site that has been subject to public 
consultation, it is considered unreasonable to appraise an option that looks to re-
open the debate on different sites.  It is considered unreasonable to identify a site 
smaller or larger than the evidence outlined within the Intermodality report.  To 
identify less land than the ‘objectively assessed need’ outlined by Intermodality 
would be contrary to the NPPF.  Given uncertainties over the success of a RFI in this 
location, to identify more land than deemed necessary at this point in time could 
serve to undermine the successful development of existing employment land 
allocations elsewhere. 

 
7.25.2 It is also considered unreasonable not to seek to identify a broad location through 

the Local Plan process.  Given that the Council has identified a preferred site and 
given that there is developer interest, a decision not to identify a broad location could 
lead to an application coming forth in a less sustainable or appropriate location. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 82 

7.26 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A    

Air Quality ü/X    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

0    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü/X    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü    

Economy and 
Employment 

üü    

Flood Risk X    

Historic 
Environment 

0    

Housing 0    

Land and Waste X    

Landscape X    

Transport ü/X    

Water X    

 
7.26.1 Air Quality: Option A will have a minor positive/minor negative impact.  Any new 

development will likely lead to increased air pollution, primarily due to increased road 
traffic.  However, the purpose of the RFI is to actively seek to promote the movement 
of freight by sustainable means (rail) and will consequently seek to reduce reliance 
on road-based transport. 

7.26.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Option A will have neutral impact 
as the preferred location for the RFI will not impact upon any protected sites of 
nature conservation. 

7.26.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A will have a mixed minor 
positive/minor negative impact.  Any new development is likely to increase 
greenhouse gas emissions.  However, the purpose of the RFI is to actively seek to 
promote the sustainable movement of freight by sustainable means (rail) and will 
consequently seek to reduce reliance on road-based transport. 

7.26.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  The 
provision of opportunities for employment will have a positive impact on both health 
and equality. 

7.26.5 Economy and Employment: Option A will have a major positive impact.  The option 
directly provides land for employment development.  Furthermore, part of the 
rationale for the RFI is to ‘anchor’ existing businesses in the area.   

7.26.6 Flood Risk: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  The site covers an area 
which is considered to vary between low to high residual risk of flooding at the 
present time (at a 1% fluvial/0.5% tidal event probability).  However, it is considered 

Page 94



 83 

to be a less vulnerable use and there is the potential to incorporate flood resilience 
measures as part of the development. 

7.26.7 Historic Environment: Option A will have a neutral impact.  There are no historic 
assets in the broad location identified. 

7.26.8 Housing: Option A will have a neutral impact.  The policy approach is concerned with 
the provision of land for employment purposes, rather than housing. 

7.26.9 Land and Waste: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development 
on greenfield land will result in a permanent loss of agricultural land.  New 
development will also likely lead to greater levels of waste generation.   

7.26.10Landscape: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development on 
greenfield land will inevitably impact upon landscape.  However, there is the 
opportunity to incorporate appropriate landscaping to ensure that any impact is 
minimised.  

7.26.11Transport: Option A will have a mixed minor positive/minor negative impact.  Whilst 
localised transport will likely increase due to the nature of the development, in a 
wider context one of the purposes of the RFI is to promote the movement of freight 
by sustainable means (rail), which will reduce reliance on road-based transport.  

7.26.12Water: Option A will have a minor negative impact.  Any new development is likely 
to increase pressure on water resources. 

7.26.13Conclusion: Whilst there are a number of potential negative impacts that come 
about as a result of development, this development in particular seeks to provide 
directly for employment and to minimise the need for freight to be transported by less 
sustainable means. 

 
7.27 Delivery 
 
7.27.1 This option will be delivered through the Site Allocations DPD and the development 

management process.  As there are no other reasonable options, there are no 
relative delivery benefits.  Significant development will require appropriate supporting 
infrastructure, which will be indentified through the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).  
The ELR concludes that an RFI of this size, and in this location, will not undermine 
the delivery of existing employment land allocations. 

 
7.28 Preferred Option 
 
7.28.1 Option A is the only reasonable option and has positive impacts in terms of economic 

development and sustainable transport. 
 

7.29 Reason for Preferred Policy Approach 
 
7.29.1 It is clear from the information presented that there are limited reasonable options for 

dealing with the key issues arising from the policy context and evidence base.   
Based on the above conclusions it is proposed to take forward three preferred policy 
approaches.  The first will cover economy in its broadest sense, including the 
provision of employment land, as well as the preferred approach to dealing with 
existing employment sites/premises.  The second will detail the preferred approach 
to dealing with town centre uses through an identified network and hierarchy of 
centres, including floorspace requirements and a local threshold for dealing with the 
impact test.  The third will deal with the preferred broad location for a Spalding RFI.   

 
 
 

Page 95



 84 

7.30 Preferred Policy Approaches 
 

 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 
 Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
ü 
 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Given that this policy approach is concerned with levels and broad locations of development, it is 
considered that there is potential for significant effects on a European or Ramsar site.  As such, it 
should be screened into the Habitats Regulations Assessment process. 

 
Equalities Assessment 

Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Employment Land and Premises  
 
To meet current forecast need for employment land in South East Lincolnshire, 
employment proposals will be directed to existing employment commitments and allocated 
sites identified in extant Local Plan policies.  Allocations will be reviewed through the 
preparation of the Site Allocations DPD. 
 
Proposals which lead to the loss of existing business, industrial or warehousing land to 
other uses, including retail, will not be permitted unless the overall benefit of the proposal 
outweighs the disadvantages of the loss of employment or potential employment on site. 

Page 96



 85  

Town and Other Centres 
 
Town and other centres will be promoted and enhanced as the primary location for main town centre uses 
including retail, leisure, tourism, cultural and office development.  The following principles will apply: 
 
a) A hierarchy of centres which guides decisions on the scale of development that will be permitted: 
 

i) The Large Town Centres of Boston and Spalding will be the primary focus for main town 
centres uses, in support of their sub-regional role and function. 

ii) The Small Town Centres of Crowland, Donington, Holbeach, Kirton, Long Sutton and 
Sutton Bridge, functioning as important service centres for the needs of their localised 
catchment areas, will provide a secondary focus for main town centre uses. 

iii) Service Villages and local centres in Boston and Spalding will provide for the daily retail 
needs of their populations through a range of small shops and other community services 
and facilities. 

 
b) The hierarchy of centres above is not intended to be a sequential approach to the choice of sites.  

Development proposals for retail and/or other town centre uses will be focussed in the centres defined 
in this policy, and will be appropriate in scale and nature to the size and function of the relevant centre 
and to the maintenance of the hierarchy of centres.  Development in out-of-centre and edge-of-centre 
locations will, except where for purely local need, be tightly controlled.  Proposals in these locations 
will be required to demonstrate their suitability through a sequential site test in line with the NPPF. 

 
c) Provision will be made for the following floorspace requirements: 
 

i) Boston Borough 

 Convenience floorspace 
requirement (sq m gross) NB: the 
below figures are an either/or 
depending upon the type of 
convenience development 

Comparison floorspace 
requirement (sq m gross) 

 Mainstream 
supermarket 

Discount food 
store 

All comparison 
minus bulky 
goods 

Bulky goods 
(retail warehouse 
formats) 

2006-11 4,500 9,100 8,100 10,000 

2011-16 2,800 5,600 12,000-16,000 10,000-12,000 

2016-26 5,800 12,000 26,000 24,000 

 
ii) South Holland District 

 Convenience 
floorspace 
requirement (sq m 
net sales area) 

Comparison floorspace requirement (sq m 
net sales area) NB: these are two separate 
scenarios 

  Constant Retention Rising Retention 

2007-11 282 2,002 3,139 

2011-16 1,069 4,846 6,795 

2016-21 1,173 6,215 8,873 

2007-21 2,524 13,085 18,806 

 
d) To protect the vitality and viability of defined centres, a robust assessment of impact on nearby 

centres will be required for any proposed convenience or comparison floorspace outside of town 
centres that is greater than 500 sq m net, except for Boston and Spalding, where the NPPF default 
threshold of 2,500 sq m net will apply. 

 
The need for, and location of, allocations for town centre uses will be addressed through the Site 
Allocations DPD.  New policies guiding the scale of town centre floorspace permissible in the hierarchy of 
centres and the nature of development in primary shopping areas and primary and secondary frontages 
will be contained in the Site Allocations DPD.  All existing retail-related boundaries will be reviewed 
through the Site Allocations DPD. 

Page 97



 86 

Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 

Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
ü 
 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
ü 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Given that this policy approach is concerned with promoting development, it is considered that there 
is potential for significant effects on a European or Ramsar site.  As such, it should be screened into 
the Habitats Regulations Assessment process. 
 

Equalities Assessment 
Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 98



 87 

 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 

Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
ü 
 

 
ü 
 

 
ü 
 

 
ü 
 

 
X 

 
X 

 
X 

 
Given that this policy approach is concerned with promoting development, particularly in a rural 
location, it is considered that there is potential for significant effects on a European or Ramsar site.  
As such, it should be screened into the Habitats Regulations Assessment process. 
 
Equalities Assessment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

Broad Location for a Spalding Rail Freight Interchange  
 
In the broad location identified on the key diagram at Deeping Fen, an area of land not 
exceeding 60 hectares will be released in the plan period to facilitate the delivery of a 
Spalding Rail Freight Interchange (RFI) facility and associated employment-generating 
development.  Up to 15 hectares will be related to the RFI.  Following completion of the RFI 
facility, further land of up to 45 hectares will be available to accommodate enterprises with 
an operational requirement to be in close proximity to the RFI.   
 
If a planning application is not forthcoming prior to the production of the Site Allocations 
DPD, specific site boundaries will be identified in that development plan document.   

Page 99



 88 

8.0 Environment 
 

8.1 Policy Context  
 
Local Plan Strategic Priorities 

8.1.1 The following Local Plan strategic priorities are relevant: 

· To protect and enhance, where appropriate, South East Lincolnshire’s natural, 
built and historic environment. 

· To adapt to, and mitigate against the effects of, climate change by reducing 
exposure to flood risk, minimising carbon emissions through the sustainable 
location, design and construction of new development, promoting energy 
efficiency and renewable energy, enhancing the green infrastructure network, 
and by minimising the need to travel. 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework 
 
8.1.2 Requiring good design 
 

‘The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. 
Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good 
planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people. 
 
It is important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive 
design for all development, including individual buildings, public and private spaces 
and wider area development schemes. 
 
Local and neighbourhood plans should develop robust and comprehensive policies 
that set out the quality of development that will be expected for the area. Such 
policies should be based on stated objectives for the future of the area and an 
understanding and evaluation of its defining characteristics.  Planning policies and 
decisions should aim to ensure that developments: 

· will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short 
term but over the lifetime of the development; 

· establish a strong sense of place, using streetscapes and buildings to create 
attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit; 

· optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, create and 
sustain an appropriate mix of uses (including incorporation of green and other 
public space as part of developments) and support local facilities and transport 
networks; 

· respond to local character and history, and reflect the identity of local 
surroundings and materials, while not preventing or discouraging appropriate 
innovation; 

· create safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear 
of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion; and 

· are visually attractive as a result of good architecture and appropriate 
landscaping. 

 
Local planning authorities should consider using design codes where they could help 
deliver high quality outcomes.  However, design policies should avoid unnecessary 
prescription or detail and should concentrate on guiding the overall scale, density, 

Page 100



 89 

massing, height, landscape, layout, materials and access of new development in 
relation to neighbouring buildings and the local area more generally. 
 
Planning policies and decisions should not attempt to impose architectural styles or 
particular tastes and they should not stifle innovation, originality or initiative through 
unsubstantiated requirements to conform to certain development forms or styles.  It 
is, however, proper to seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness. 
 
Although visual appearance and the architecture of individual buildings are very 
important factors, securing high quality and inclusive design goes beyond aesthetic 
considerations.  Therefore, planning policies and decisions should address the 
connections between people and places and the integration of new development into 
the natural, built and historic environment’. 

 
8.1.3 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
 

 ‘Planning plays a key role in helping shape places to secure radical reductions in 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimising vulnerability and providing resilience to the 
impacts of climate change, and supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon 
energy and associated infrastructure.  This is central to the economic, social and 
environmental dimensions of sustainable development. 
 
Local planning authorities should adopt proactive strategies to mitigate and adapt to 
climate change, taking full account of flood risk, coastal change and water supply 
and demand considerations. 

 
To support the move to a low carbon future, local planning authorities should: 

· plan for new development in locations and ways which reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions; 

· actively support energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings; and 

· when setting any local requirement for a building’s sustainability, do so in a way 
consistent with the Government’s zero carbon buildings policy and adopt 
nationally described standards.  

 
To help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy, local 
planning authorities should recognise the responsibility on all communities to 
contribute to energy generation from renewable or low carbon sources.  They should: 

· have a positive strategy to promote energy from renewable and low carbon 
sources; 

· design their policies to maximise renewable and low carbon energy development 
while ensuring that adverse impacts are addressed satisfactorily, including 
cumulative landscape and visual impacts; 

· consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy sources, 
and supporting infrastructure, where this would help secure the development of 
such sources; 

· support community-led initiatives for renewable and low carbon energy, including 
developments outside such areas being taken forward through neighbourhood 
planning;  

· and identify opportunities where development can draw its energy supply from 
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for co-
locating potential heat customers and suppliers.  

 

Page 101



 90 

Local Plans should take account of climate change over the longer term, including 
factors such as flood risk, coastal change, water supply and changes to biodiversity 
and landscape.  New development should be planned to avoid increased 
vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate change.  When new 
development is brought forward in areas which are vulnerable, care should be taken 
to ensure that risks can be managed through suitable adaptation measures, 
including through the planning of green infrastructure’. 

 
8.1.4 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 

 ‘The planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by: 

· protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological conservation interests 
and soils; 

· recognising the wider benefits of ecosystem services; 

· minimising impacts on biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where 
possible, contributing to the Government’s commitment to halt the overall decline 
in biodiversity, including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are 
more resilient to current and future pressures; 

· preventing both new and existing development from contributing to or being put 
at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by unacceptable levels of 
soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability; and 

· remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and 
unstable land, where appropriate. 
 

In preparing plans to meet development needs, the aim should be to minimise 

pollution and other adverse effects on the local and natural environment.  Plans 

should allocate land with the least environmental or amenity value, where consistent 

with other policies in this Framework. 

 

Planning policies and decisions should encourage the effective use of land by re-

using land that has been previously developed (brownfield land), provided that it is 

not of high environmental value.  Local planning authorities may continue to consider 

the case for setting a locally appropriate target for the use of brownfield land. 

 

Local planning authorities should take into account the economic and other benefits 

of the best and most versatile agricultural land.  Where significant development of 

agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning authorities should 

seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference to that of a higher quality. 

 

Local planning authorities should set criteria based policies against which proposals 

for any development on or affecting protected wildlife or geodiversity sites or 

landscape areas will be judged.  Distinctions should be made between the hierarchy 

of international, national and locally designated sites, so that protection is 

commensurate with their status and gives appropriate weight to their importance and 

the contribution that they make to wider ecological networks. 

 
 

Page 102



 91 

 
Local planning authorities should: 

· set out a strategic approach in their Local Plans, planning positively for the 
creation, protection, enhancement and management of networks of biodiversity 
and green infrastructure; and 

· maintain the character of the undeveloped coast, protecting and enhancing its 
distinctive landscapes, particularly in areas defined as Heritage Coast, and 
improve public access to and enjoyment of the coast. 

 
Great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in National 
Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest 
status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.  The conservation of 
wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations in all these areas, and 
should be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads. 
 
To minimise impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity, planning policies should: 

· plan for biodiversity at a landscape-scale across local authority boundaries; 

· identify and map components of the local ecological networks, including the 
hierarchy of international, national and locally designated sites of importance for 
biodiversity, wildlife corridors and stepping stones that connect them and areas 
identified by local partnerships for habitat restoration or creation; 

· promote the preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority habitats, 
ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority species 
populations, linked to national and local targets, and identify suitable indicators 
for monitoring biodiversity in the plan; 

· aim to prevent harm to geological conservation interests; and 

· where Nature Improvement Areas are identified in Local Plans, consider 
specifying the types of development that may be appropriate in these Areas. 

 
Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that: 

· the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and land 
instability, including from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, 
pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation including 
land remediation or impacts on the natural environment arising from that 
remediation; 

· after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being 
determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection 
Act 1990; and 

· adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is 
presented. 

 
Planning policies and decisions should aim to: 

· avoid noise from giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality 
of life as a result of new development; 

· mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse impacts on health and quality of 
life arising from noise from new development, including through the use of 
conditions; 

· recognise that development will often create some noise and existing businesses 
wanting to develop in continuance of their business should not have 
unreasonable restrictions put on them because of changes in nearby land uses 
since they were established; and 

Page 103



 92 

· identify and protect areas of tranquillity which have remained relatively 
undisturbed by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for 
this reason. 

 
Planning policies should sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit 
values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air 
Quality Management Areas and the cumulative impacts on air quality from individual 
sites in local areas.  Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in 
Air Quality Management Areas is consistent with the local air quality action plan. 
 
By encouraging good design, planning policies and decisions should limit the impact 
of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and 
nature conservation’. 

 
8.1.5 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 
‘Local planning authorities should set out in their Local Plan a positive strategy for 
the conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment, including heritage 
assets most at risk through neglect, decay or other threats.  In doing so, they should 
recognise that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and conserve them in a 
manner appropriate to their significance.  In developing this strategy, local planning 
authorities should take into account: 

· the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

· the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that conservation 
of the historic environment can bring; 

· the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness; and 

· opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to the 
character of a place’. 

 
East Midlands Regional Plan 
 
8.1.6 The Regional Plan explains that we should promote better design (Policy 2); protect, 

appropriately manage and enhance natural and cultural heritage (Policy 26);  
understand, conserve and enhance the historic environment (Policy 27); work with 
partners to deliver, protect and enhance environmental infrastructure to contribute 
towards a high quality natural and built environment, deliver increased biodiversity 
and increase woodland cover (Policies 28, 29 & 30)(Policy 30 identifies Boston 
Woods); work with partners to plan for the best use of water supplies and their 
augmentation (Policy 32);  take account of the potential impact of climate change on 
flooding and land drainage (Policy 35); contribute to reducing air pollution and 
consider the effects of development on air quality (Policy 36); using the energy 
hierarchy seek to reduce energy usage and reduce energy need through planning 
the appropriate location, site layout and building design (Policy 39), promote 
Combined Heat and Power and District Heating and establish criteria for assessing 
on shore wind proposals and other forms of renewable energy (Policy 40). 

 
Boston Borough Council ‘Planning for the Future’ (2012-2015) 
 
8.1.7 The Council’s priorities include the needs to ‘revitalise and promote our town and 

rural borough’ and to ’promote greener and healthier communities’.  

Page 104



 93 

Boston – A Great Past, an Exciting Future – Our Community Plan 2008-18 
 
8.1.8 The document sets out a number of ambitions and actions to achieve them.  The 

following relate to the environment.  ‘Creating a greener and sustainable future by: 
promoting green tourism development, including support for the RSPB reserves, 
continuing to encourage local green initiatives providing public amenity and wildlife 
spaces, and assessing actions to protect and enhance Local Wildlife Sites’. 

 
South Holland District Council Corporate Plan (2011-15) 
 
8.1.9 A corporate priority is to have pride in South Holland and in order to achieve this, the 

Council aim to ‘expand the provision of open space and play areas’, ‘reduce the 
carbon footprint of the council’ and ‘reduce our own greenhouse gas emissions’. 

 

8.2  Evidence Base    
 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report  
 
8.2.1 Key issues and problems to emerge from the Scoping Report are: 
 
Air Quality 

· there are currently two AQMAs in South East Lincolnshire, both in Boston; and 

· there are high levels of car ownership across the area, particularly in South 
Holland. 

 
Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure 

· that there are a number of protected sites/habitats within and surrounding the 
area, including The Wash, which is internationally protected; and 

· in terms of open space, there is a current shortfall of allotments and some 
aspects of provision for outdoor sport. 

 
Table XX: Nature Conservation Sites within South East Lincolnshire and within 15 Km of  

South East Lincolnshire boundary 

Site Designation Number 

Ramsar 4 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 7 

Special Protection Area (SPA) 3 

Site of Special Scientific Importance 
(SSSI) 

48 

National Nature Reserve (NNR) 5 

Local Nature Reserve (LNR) 3 

RSPB managed/owned site 2 

 
Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation) 

· there is an increasing need for South East Lincolnshire to mitigate and adapt to 
climate change. 

 
Historic Environment  

· there are a significant number of historic environment records across the area, 
with an above-average proportion of Conservations Areas at risk in South Holland 
and an above-average proportion of Grade I and II* Listed Buildings at risk in 
both Boston Borough and South Holland. 

Page 105



 94 

· South East Lincolnshire contains: 
o 2 Registered Parks and Gardens; 
o 24 Conservation Areas; 
o 45 Scheduled Ancient Monuments; and 
o 1,023 Listed Buildings. 

 
Land and Waste 

· there are a number of contaminated sites across South East Lincolnshire.  
However, if these could be effectively remediated they could reduce pressure for 
the release of greenfield land to deliver new development; 

· nearly all of South East Lincolnshire is covered by Grade 1 and Grade 2 
agricultural land; 

· the overall trend for the proportion of housing completions on brownfield sites has 
been increasing, although in recent times Boston Borough has performed better 
than South Holland; and 

· the proportion of waste diverted from landfill to composting and recycling has 
been steadily improving across South East Lincolnshire.  However, recycling 
rates are still below regional targets. 

 
Landscape  

· the landscape is low-lying and homogenous.  However, there are a number of 
pressures on landscape character and additional greenfield development would 
add to this pressure. 

 
Water  

· the area is in the driest region in the country and is currently in drought; 

· pressures on water supply are forecast to increase over time; and 

· there are some concerns over water quality. 
 
Boston Landscape Character Assessment 
 
8.2.2 This study completed in 2009 seeks to provide information on the broad planning 

context, the landscape context and the physical and cultural influences that have 
shaped today’s landscape.  The landscape is sub divided into nine discrete areas.  
For each area key characteristics, landscape character, forces for change and 
potential sensitivity to change are described.  In addition, the public consultation 
exercise revealed highly valued aspects are: ecological status abutting the Wash, 
watercourses, sea banks, trees and heritage features. Also views of flocks of 
migrating birds, framed views of the stump, views of boats on waterways, open 
views, big skies and wide horizons.  Views over the coastal strip are valued for its 
vastness and wilderness and lack of light pollution. 
 

South Holland Strategic Landscape Capacity Study 
 
8.2.3 This study completed in 2003 subdivides the landscape into 3 sub areas and 

provides a description of the area including topography, dominant land cover and 
landscape elements, a visual assessment and the contribution of architecture.  It also 
assesses and suitability of the landscape to accommodate wind farms by defining 
each grid square as: highly suitable, suitable, moderately suitable, unsuitable or 
highly unsuitable.  The study was prepared to assess wind farms.  Most of district is 
deemed highly unsuitable or unsuitable for wind farms.  Some areas are moderately 
suitable and a small area is suitable or highly suitable. 

Page 106



 95 

Boston Rural and Urban Historic Environment Baseline Studies 
 
8.2.4 These studies seek to raise awareness of the nature and value of the Borough’s 

archaeological, historical and built heritage and its potential to contribute to a 
sustainable social and economic future for the Borough.  The rural study indicates 
there are areas which have no recorded archaeological site.  Without this information 
unknown archaeological sites may be under threat from development.  There is also 
a lack of understanding and information of character, value, vulnerability of Listed 
Buildings and unlisted buildings.  Earthwork sites have not been visited or surveyed 
since the late 1970’s.  The urban study indicates there is a lack of understanding on 
many aspects of Boston’s archaeological heritage.  Without this it is very difficult to 
manage effectively the impact of development on buried historic resource.  Also lack 
of information and understanding concerning the character, value, vulnerability of 
historic built environment and therefore difficult to manage effectively the impact of 
development on Boston’s built environment. 
 

Lincolnshire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP)  
 
8.2.5 The BAP is produced by the Lincolnshire Biodiversity Partnership and seeks to 

improve a series of habitats and species which are locally important.  It highlights 
that human activity is responsible for numerous threats to biodiversity and that 
habitat loss and fragmentation is one of the main reasons for biodiversity decline. 
This is compounded by changes to the landscape through agricultural intensification, 
urban extensions and infrastructure improvements.  Another threat is climate change 
which can bring unpredictable and extreme weather, to which biodiversity cannot 
adapt in the way it may to gradual change.  Moving may be the response to climate 
change but this is made more difficult through fragmentation.  Other threats to 
biodiversity are invasion of non native species and disease. 
 

The Wash and Fens Green Infrastructure Plan 
 
8.2.6 Essentially the document is a very large compendium of information relating to the 

subject of green infrastructure in general and detailed map-based information setting 
out the location of different types of green infrastructure and judgements on potential 
for enhancement in the 'Wash and Fens' area.  It also includes a number of 
suggested 'actions' to enhance the provision of green infrastructure and the various 
social, economic and environmental benefits to be obtained from it.  One of these is 
to create and positively manage an integrated network of high quality and where 
practicable, multifunctional green infrastructure within urban and rural environments 
that delivers: 

· Enriched and robust habitats with greater connectivity; and 

· Enhanced and sustainable public access to the countryside and urban green 
space for the benefit of all who live, work in and visit The Wash and fens.  

 
South East Lincolnshire Carbon Challenge 
 
8.2.7 This is a document prepared in house by Boston Borough Council that investigates 

how South East Lincolnshire is performing against national targets for reducing 
green house gases and renewable energy production.  The Government has a 
domestic target of a 34% cut in all Green House Gases from 1990 levels by 2020 
and an 80% cut in all Green House Gases by 2050 enshrined in the Climate Change 
Act 2008.   The European Union have set the UK a target of achieving 15% of its 
energy use from renewable energy by 2020.  The UK Renewable Energy Strategy 

Page 107



 96 

has a target of 30% of our electricity to come from renewable energy sources by 
2020. The results are contained the following tables: 

 
Table XX: 

Sector Current 
Emissions 
(Tonnes) 

Required 
2020 
Saving 
(Tonnes) 

Required 
2050 
Savings 
(Tonnes) 

Potential 
Savings 
(Tonnes) 

Domestic 304,000 88,160 228,000  

 Space heating existing stock    226,100 

 Water heating    20,349 

     246,449 

Industry and Commercial 414,000 8,280 198,720  

Road Transport 305,000 106,750 244,000  

Land use, land use change and 
forestry 

16,000 2,080 9,440  

Carbon Sequestration existing and 
Boston Woods 

   10,963 

Renewables    94,119 

Totals 1,038,000 205,270 680,160 351,531 

 
Table XX: 

Energy Use Demand 
GWh 

Supply 
GWh 

All Sources 3,278  

15% 492  

Electricity 841  

30% 252  

   

Existing Renewables 68.3 MW  162 

Proposed Renewables 33.8 MW 
(with PP) 

 132 

Potential PV on suitable domestic 
roofs 127.9 MW 

 111 

Proposed Renewables 55 MW (no 
PP) 

 338 

Total  743 

 
8.2.8 If the proposals with planning permission or the potential photovoltaic (PV) on 

domestic roofs were implemented the 30% of electricity provided by renewable 
energy would be achieved.  In order to meet the 15% of all energy use from 
renewable energy the proposed Sutton Bridge energy park would need to be built.  

 
8.2.9 In relation to carbon dioxide the 2020 target is 205,270 tonnes and the potential 

savings to the housing stock could achieve this. The renewable total in the above 
tables represents that which is currently installed.  If the potential renewable energy 
capacity was achieved the total carbon savings would rise to over 562,000 tonnes, 
which is a significant proportion of the 2050 target of 680,160 tonnes.   East 
Midlands Councils’ climate change training suggests achieving an 80% reduction in 
CO2 emissions will require District Heating and Combined Heat and Power. 

 

Page 108



 97 

Low Carbon Energy Opportunities and Heat Mapping for Local Planning Areas 
Across the East Midlands 

 
8.2.10 This study was undertaken by Land Use Consultants on behalf of East Midlands 

Councils.  It shows for South East Lincolnshire that most potential for electricity 
generation is from wind with numerous sources of biomass and building integrated 
solar PV also contributing.  For heat it shows that most potential comes from heat 
pumps with solar thermal and biomass also contributing.  Some of the suggested 
wind farm areas already have wind farms developed on them, but there are other 
areas which are not developed.  The report looks at “Technical Potential” and 
therefore there may be reasons why the sites are unsuitable for development. 
 

8.3 Key Issues 
 
8.3.1 The following key issues emerging from the policy context and evidence base require 

a policy response:  

· the need to identify an approach to the natural environment in its broadest 
sense, including the need to protect and, where possible, enhance biodiversity, 
geodiversity and green infrastructure and the need to minimise the harmful 
effects of pollution on the environment in general; 

· the need to identify an approach to the protection of the historic environment; 

· the need to identify a positive approach to addressing issues arising from climate 
change, including the generation of renewable and low carbon energy; and    

· the need to determine an approach to the design of new development. 
 

8.4 Other Policies  
 
8.4.1 There is a significant amount of overlap between the theme of environment and other 

chapters within this document.  The Community, Health and Well-Being chapter 
deals with open space in respect of sport and recreation, although there is overlap 
with open space in this chapter as a protected environmental resource.  Air quality as 
a discrete issue is dealt with in the transport chapter; however, this also forms part of 
this section in terms of the impacts of pollution on the natural environment.  Flood 
risk is related to climate change, but is specifically dealt with in the Housing Growth 
and Flood Risk chapter.  The delivery of infrastructure, for example green 
infrastructure, is dealt with in the Delivery chapter.    

 
8.4.2 It is not considered necessary to save any extant Local Plan policies in terms of the 

Environment theme.  
 

Approach to the Natural Environment 
 
8.5 Introduction 
  
8.5.1 It is necessary to outline an approach to dealing with the natural environment in its 

broadest sense, including the need to protect and, where possible, enhance 
biodiversity, geodiversity and green infrastructure and the need to minimise the 
harmful effects of pollution on the environment in general. 

 
 
 
 

Page 109



 98 

8.6 Policy Options  
 
8.6.1 It is considered that there are two reasonable options related to the protection of the 

natural environment in its broadest sense.  That is an approach that positively 
reinforces the NPPF by seeking to protect international, national and local nature 
conservation sites from development unless overriding reasons exist.  This approach 
also seeks to protect and enhance green infrastructure networks and minimise 
pollution. 

 
8.6.2 It is also reasonable not to produce a policy approach and to rely on national 

guidance on the natural environment outlined in the NPPF. 
 
8.6.3 Option A: To produce a policy approach that seeks to protect and, where possible, 

enhance the natural environment.  
 
8.6.4 Option B: Do not produce a policy approach to the natural environment and rely on 

national guidance in the NPPF. 
 
8.7 Unreasonable Options 
 
8.7.1 It is considered unreasonable to produce a policy approach that actively seeks to 

ignore the importance of the natural environment.  This would be contrary to the 
concept of sustainable development and the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
8.8 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B Option C Option D etc 

Air Quality ü ü   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

üü ü   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü ü   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü ü   

Economy and 
Employment 

ü/? ü/?   

Flood Risk ? ?   

Historic 
Environment 

0 0   

Housing 0 0   

Land and Waste ü ü   

Landscape ü ü   

Transport 0 0   

Page 110



 99 

Water ü ü   

 
8.8.1 Air Quality: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  A positive approach to 

the protection of the natural environment includes seeking to minimise pollution, 
which will have a positive impact on air quality.  

8.8.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Option A will have a major 
positive impact, whilst option B will have a minor positive impact.  Both options seek 
to protect biodiversity, geodiversity and green infrastructure.  However, option A is 
actively seeking to enhance green infrastructure networks locally.    

8.8.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options will have a minor positive 
impact.  A positive approach to the protection of the natural environment and 
minimising of pollution will aid in the adaptation to, and mitigation against, climate 
change. 

8.8.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  
Access to the natural environment promotes healthy lifestyles and can act as a direct 
community facility. 

8.8.5 Economy and Employment: Both impacts have a minor positive/uncertain impact.  A 
high quality natural environment may make the area more attractive in terms of 
investment.  There is also potential for specific features to form the basis of tourist 
opportunities, although there is an element of uncertainty as to whether these 
opportunities will be realised. 

8.8.6 Flood Risk: Both options have an uncertain impact.  Improved habitat and green 
infrastructure can reduce the probability or the severity of flooding events.  However, 
this would be dependant upon the frequency and severity of such events. 

8.8.7 Historic Environment: Both options have a neutral impact.  This policy approach is 
concerned with the natural, rather than the historic environment. 

8.8.8 Housing: Both policy options have a neutral impact. 
8.8.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  A positive approach 

to the protection of the natural environment including seeking to minimise pollution 
will have a positive impact on the protection of high quality agricultural land and soil 
quality. 

8.8.10Landscape: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  A positive approach to 
the natural environment includes ensuring that landscape character is protected 
where appropriate and that new development takes this into account.  

8.8.11Transport: Both options will have a neutral impact.    
8.8.12Water: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  A positive approach to the 

natural environment, including minimising pollution will have a positive impact on the 
protection of water quality and resources  

8.8.13Conclusion: Broadly-speaking both options score very similarly.  Option A scores 
slightly more positively in terms of biodiversity, geodiversity and green infrastructure 
in that it offers the opportunity to enhance local green infrastructure networks.   

 
8.9 Delivery  
 
8.9.1 Both options will be delivered through the development management process.  It is 

not considered that there are any relative delivery benefits to either option.  
 
8.10 Preferred Option 
 
8.10.1Option A is the preferred option as a locally-derived policy allows for local flavour to 

be added to the NPPF context.  As both options score similarly in terms of the SA 
appraisal, there are no negative impacts of a locally–derived policy approach relative 
to the NPPF position. 

Page 111



 100 

Approach to the Historic Environment 
 
8.11 Introduction 
 
8.11.1 It is important to outline an approach to dealing with the protection of the historic 

environment (Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings and Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments) given that there are a significant number of historic environmental 
records in South East Lincolnshire, with an above-average proportion of 
Conservation Areas at risk in South Holland and an above-average proportion of 
Grade I and II* Listed Buildings at risk in both Boston Borough and South Holland. 

 
8.12 Policy Options  
 
8.12.1It is considered that there is only one reasonable option related to the protection of 

the historic environment.  This is an approach that positively seeks to protect historic 
assets. 

 

8.12.2 Option A: To produce a policy approach that seeks to protect and, where possible, 

enhance the historic environment. 

8.13 Unreasonable Options 
 
8.13.1 Given that the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should set out a positive 

strategy for the historic environment it is not a reasonable option to rely on guidance 
in the NPPF alone.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 101 

8.14 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B Option C Option D etc 

Air Quality 0    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

0    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

0    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü    

Economy and 
Employment 

ü/?    

Flood Risk 0    

Historic 
Environment 

üü    

Housing 0    

Land and Waste 0    

Landscape ü    

Transport 0    

Water 0    

 
8.14.1 Air Quality: Option A has a neutral impact. 
8.14.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Option A has a neutral impact. 
8.14.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A has a neutral impact.  
8.14.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A has a minor positive impact.  Access to 

certain historic assets can contribute to quality of life and therefore well-being.   
8.14.5 Economy and Employment: Option A has a minor positive/uncertain impact.  A high 

quality historic environment may make the area more attractive in terms of 
investment.  There is also potential for specific features to form the basis of tourist 
opportunities, although there is an element of uncertainty as to whether these 
opportunities will be realised. 

8.14.6 Flood Risk: Option A has a neutral impact. 
8.14.7 Historic Environment: Option A has a major positive impact.  The policy approach is 

directly seeking to protect historic assets. 
8.14.8 Housing: Option A has a neutral impact. 
8.14.9 Land and Waste: Option A has a neutral impact. 
8.14.10Landscape: Option A has a minor positive impact.  The development or renovation 

of listed buildings and buildings within conservation areas will help protect and 
possibly enhance the townscape. 

8.14.11Transport: Option A has a neutral impact. 
8.14.12Water: Option A has a neutral impact. 
8.14.13Conclusion: Overall Option A scores either positively or neutrally.  There are 

deemed to be no negative impacts of this policy approach. 

Page 113



 102 

8.15 Delivery  
 
8.15.1 As there is only one reasonable option there are no relative delivery benefits of 

another approach.  This option will be delivered through the development 
management process. 

 
8.16 Preferred Option  
 
8.16.1 Option A is the only reasonable option. 

 
Approach to Climate Change and Renewable & Low Carbon Energy 
 
8.17 Introduction 
 
8.17.1 It is necessary to identify an approach to addressing issues arising from climate 

change, including the generation of renewable and low carbon energy.  

8.18 Policy Options 
 
8.18.1 It is considered that there is only one reasonable approach to dealing with climate 

change and renewable and low carbon energy.  That is to have a positively-worded 
policy approach detailing how South East Lincolnshire will contribute to the need to 
adapt to, and mitigate against, climate change.  This will also include an approach to 
renewable and low carbon energy and how such development will be dealt with 
through the development management process across South East Lincolnshire  

 

8.18.2  Option A: To produce a positive policy approach that seeks to adapt to and mitigate 

against climate change and support renewable and low carbon energy development 

subject to assessment criteria. 

8.19 Unreasonable Options 
 
8.19.1 It is unreasonable not to produce a preferred policy approach and, instead, to rely on 

the NPPF.  The NPPF requires local planning authorities to have a positive strategy 
to promote energy from renewable and low carbon sources and it is also important 
that any preferred policy approach reflects local circumstances and views.  It is also 
unreasonable not to seek to address the issues arising from climate change or  
actively to discourage renewable and low carbon energy generation, as this would be 
contrary to the NPPF.   

 
8.19.2 At present no evidence is available to suggest that there is a need to allocate any 

sites within South East Lincolnshire to deliver renewable and low carbon energy 
schemes.  As such, it is unreasonable to outline a policy approach that seeks to 
identify a broad need for such schemes. 

 
8.19.3 It is also unreasonable at present, and would run the risk of being out of conformity 

with the NPPF, to categorically rule out any particular type of renewable or low 
carbon energy.  There is currently no evidence base to justify this position. 

 
 
 
 

Page 114



 103 

8.20 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B Option C Option D etc 

Air Quality ü    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü/?    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

üü    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü    

Economy and 
Employment 

ü/?    

Flood Risk ü    

Historic 
Environment 

X/?    

Housing 0    

Land and Waste 0    

Landscape X/?    

Transport ü    

Water ü    

 
8.20.1 Air Quality: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  Seeking to reduce the need 

to travel and promoting both sustainable transport and renewable/low carbon energy 
generation will have a positive impact on air quality. 

8.20.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Option A will have a minor 
positive/uncertain impact.  Mitigating against the effects of climate change will have a 
positive impact on the natural environment in a broad sense.  However, it is 
uncertain as to what specific local impacts will be.  

8.20.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A will have a major positive 
impact.  The policy approach is chiefly concerned with adapting to, and mitigating 
against, climate change. 

8.20.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  
Seeking to reduce the need to travel and renewable/low carbon energy generation 
will have positive health and well-being benefits in terms of air quality and a 
reduction in greenhouse gas emissions. 

8.20.5 Economy and Employment: Option A will have a minor positive impact/uncertain.  
The low carbon economy may provide new business or diversification opportunities.  
However, to what extent this may provide benefits is currently uncertain. 

8.20.6 Flood Risk: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  Adapting to, and mitigating 
against, climate change involves minimising the risk of flooding.   

8.20.7 Historic Environment: Option A will have a mixed minor negative/uncertain impact.  
The switch towards greater renewable and low carbon energy generation may 
impact negatively upon the historic environment.  For example wind turbines may be 

Page 115



 104 

seen to impact negatively upon historic assets.  However, the overall impact is 
uncertain and would depend upon the circumstances.   

8.20.8 Housing: Option A will have a neutral impact. 
8.20.9 Land and Waste: Option A will have a neutral impact. 
8.20.10Landscape: Option A will have a minor negative/uncertain impact.  Certain types of 

renewable energy e.g. large-scale wind turbines installations may be deemed to 
have a negative impact upon landscape and townscape.  However, the overall 
impact is uncertain and would depend upon the circumstances.   

8.20.11Transport: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  Seeking to reduce the need 
to travel and promoting sustainable transport is a key plank of adapting to and 
mitigating against climate change. 

8.20.12Water: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  A key plank in adapting to and 
mitigating against climate change is the protection and efficient use of water 
resources.   

8.20.13Conclusion: Overall the policy approach scores positively in terms of SA. 
 
8.21 Delivery 
 
8.21.1 As there is only one reasonable option there are no relative delivery benefits of 

another approach.  This option will be delivered through the development 
management process.  There will be overlap with other preferred policy approaches 
within this chapter and the wider document, for example relating to the natural 
environment, design, transport and flood risk. 

 
8.22 Preferred Option 
 
8.22.1 Option A is the only reasonable option 
 

Approach to the Design of New Development 
 
8.23 Introduction  
 
8.23.1 It is necessary to determine a local approach to the design of new development.  

This approach is likely to draw on and overlap with a number of other preferred 
policy approaches within this document, e.g. flood risk, natural environment, historic 
environment, transport, climate change and renewable/low carbon energy and 
community, health and well-being. 

 
8.24 Policy Options 
  
8.24.1 It is considered that there are two reasonable options related to design.  The first is 

to produce a policy approach outlining what should be taken into account in terms of 
ensuring good design in South East Lincolnshire having regard to its local 
characteristics.   The second is not to produce a design policy and rely on the NPPF.  

 
8.24.2 Option A: To produce a preferred approach to design. 
 
8.24.3 Option B: To not produce a preferred approach to design and rely on the NPPF. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



 105 

8.25 Unreasonable Options 
 
8.25.1  It is unreasonable to produce a preferred policy approach that fails to recognise the 

importance of design as an important consideration in the development management 
process, as this would be contrary to the NPPF. 

  
8.26 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B Option C Option D etc 

Air Quality ü ü   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü ü   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü ü   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü ü   

Economy and 
Employment 

0 0   

Flood Risk ü ü   

Historic 
Employment 

ü ü   

Housing 0 0   

Land and Waste 0 0   

Landscape ü ü   

Transport ü ü   

Water ü ü   

 
8.26.1 Air Quality: Both options have a minor positive impact.   Good design offers the 

opportunity to ‘design in’ access to sustainable transport and renewable/low carbon 
energy, which both aid in improving air quality.   

8.26.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options have a minor 
positive impact.  Good design offers the opportunity to ‘design in’ green infrastructure 
and have a positive impact on biodiversity.  

8.26.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options have a minor positive 
impact.  Good design offers the opportunity to ‘design in’ measures to adapt to, and 
mitigate against, climate change e.g. through ensuring accessibility by a choice of 
sustainable transport modes, energy-efficient design and construction, the use of 
renewable/low carbon energy and the incorporation of green infrastructure.  

8.26.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options have a minor positive impact.  
Good design offers the opportunity to ‘design in’ open space and other community 
facilities, facilitate sustainable modes of transport (e.g. cycling and walking) and help 
to reduce crime. 

8.26.5 Economy and Employment: Both options will have a neutral impact. 

Page 117



 106 

8.26.6 Flood Risk: Both options have a minor positive impact.  Good design offers the 
opportunity to ‘design in’ flood resistance and resilience measures. 

8.26.7 Historic Environment: Both options have a minor positive impact.  Good design offers 
the opportunity to ensure development is sensitive to surrounding historic assets. 

8.26.8 Housing: Both options will have a neutral impact. 
8.26.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have a neutral impact. 
8.26.10Landscape: Both options have a minor positive impact.  Good design offers the 

opportunity to ‘design in’ open space and other landscaping measures to improve 
townscapes and ensure development is sensitive to surrounding landscapes. 

8.26.11Transport: Both options have a minor positive impact.  Good design offers the 
opportunity to ‘design in’ opportunities for sustainable forms of transport. 

8.26.12Water: Both options have a minor positive impact.  Good design offers the 
opportunity to ‘design in’ energy-efficiency measures, which help to make efficient 
use of water as a resource. 

8.26.13Conclusion: Both options score positively in terms of the SA appraisal compared to 
the baseline situation.  However, relatively-speaking Option A is considered to be 
more sustainable in that it gives the opportunity to add local flavour to the policy 
approach.  

 
8.27 Delivery  
 
8.27.1 Both options will be delivered through the development management process.  It is 

not considered that there are any relative delivery benefits to either option. 
 
8.28 Preferred Option 
  
8.28.1 Option A is the preferred option.  Owing to the NPPF advising that it is important to 

plan positively for the achievement of high-quality inclusive design for all types and 
scales of development, including individual buildings and public and private spaces 
and wider area development schemes, it is considered that a locally-derived design 
policy should be included.   

 

8.29 Reason for Preferred Approaches  
 
8.29.1 It is clear from the above analysis that there are limited reasonable options for 

dealing with the key issues arising from the policy context and evidence base.  
Based on the above conclusions, it is proposed to take forward three preferred policy 
approaches.  The first will cover the environment in its broadest sense, including the 
natural and historic environment and pollution.  The second will cover climate change 
and renewable/low carbon energy and the third will be a design policy that will be 
informed by and overlap with other preferred policy approaches in this document.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 107 

8.30 Preferred Policy Approaches 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Environment 
 
All development proposals should:  
 

· protect the biodiversity value of land and buildings and minimise fragmentation of 
habitats; 

· maximise opportunities for restoration, enhancement and connection of natural 
habitats;  

· incorporate beneficial biodiversity conservation features where appropriate; and 

· maximise opportunities to enhance green infrastructure networks, including water 
networks. 

 
Development proposals where the principal objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity 
or geodiversity interests will be supported in principle. 
 
Development proposals that would cause a direct or indirect adverse impact on nationally-
designated sites or other designated areas of nature conservation importance or protected 
species will not be permitted unless: 
 

· they cannot be located on alternative sites that would cause less or no harm; 

· the benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impacts on the features of the 
site and the wider network of natural habitats; and  

· suitable prevention, mitigation and compensation measures are provided. 
 
Development proposals that would be significantly detrimental to the nature conservation 
interests of internationally-designated sites will not be permitted. 
 
Development proposals should conserve or enhance the character and appearance of 
designated historic assets and other important historic buildings, structures, monuments and 
landscapes and their settings through high-quality sensitive design.  Development proposals 
that would have an adverse impact on their special historic or architectural interest will not 
be permitted. 
 
The reuse of Listed Buildings will be encouraged.  New uses which would result in harm to 
their fabric, character, appearance or setting will not be permitted.  
 
Development proposals involving the demolition of non-listed buildings will be assessed 
against the contribution to the architectural or historic interest of the area made by each 
building.  Buildings which make a positive contribution to the character or appearance of an 
area should be retained.  Where a building makes little contribution to the area, consent will 
be given provided that, in appropriate cases, there are acceptable and detailed plans for any 
redevelopment or after-use. 
 

Page 119



 108 

 
 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening  
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

X X X X X ü ü 

 
The policy approach does not lead to development itself or specify a quantity or type of 
development.  It seeks to protect the natural environment and steer development away from 
European and Ramsar sites.  It also seeks to promote green infrastructure and open space 
so that networks are improved.  There is no crossover between the European and Ramsar 
sites and the conservation areas, listed buildings/gardens and scheduled ancient buildings 
and as a result development of them will not affect European and Ramsar sites.  Therefore, 
it is considered that this policy can be screened out of the Habitats Regulations Assessment 
process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Environment (cont.) 
 
All development proposals should minimise the emission of pollutants, including noise, 
odour, light and waste materials, and ensure no deterioration in water quality.  Proposals 
will only be permitted where, individually or cumulatively, there are no unacceptable impacts 
on: 
 

· the natural environment and general amenity; 

· health and safety of the public; 

· surface and groundwater quality; and 

· land quality and condition. 
 
Exceptions will only be made where it can be clearly demonstrated that the environmental 
benefits of the development and the wider social and economic needs for the development 
outweigh the adverse impact. 
 
Development proposals on contaminated land, or where there is reason to suspect 
contamination, must include an assessment of the extent of contamination and any possible 
risks.  Proposals will only be permitted where the land is, or is made, suitable for the 
proposed use. 

Page 120



 109 

Equalities Analysis 
Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
The provisions of this policy will have the same neutral impact on all groups. 

Climate Change and Renewable & Low Carbon Energy 
 
Development proposals will be required to demonstrate that the issue of climate change has 
been addressed by: 

· reducing the need to travel through locational decisions and, where appropriate, 
providing a mix of uses; 

· the protection of the quality, quantity and availability of water resources, for example 
by the use of water conservation and recycling measures and minimising off-site 
water discharge through Sustainable Urban Drainage systems; 

· incorporation of measures which promote and enhance the resilience of ecosystems 
and biodiversity networks within and beyond the site; 

· measures to minimise and mitigate the risks to the development associated with 
expected climate change impact such as average temperature increases, extreme 
weather events and soil moisture decreases in the summer and autumn; and 

· the adoption of the sequential approach and exceptions test  to flood risk and the 
incorporation of flood-mitigation measures in design and construction to reduce the 
effects of flooding. 

 
Proposals for the development of renewable and low carbon sources of energy, including 
large-scale freestanding installations, will be supported and considered in the context of 
contributing to the achievement of sustainable development and meeting the challenge of 
climate change. 
 
Proposals for renewable energy technology, associated infrastructure and integration of 
renewable technology on existing or proposed structures will be permitted provided, 
individually, or cumulatively, there would be no significant adverse impact on: 
 

· the surrounding landscape , skyscape or built environment; 

· residential amenity in respect of  noise, fumes, odour, vibration, shadow flicker, 
broadcast interference and traffic; 

· specific highway safety,  nature conservation or historic environment  considerations; 
and 

· the visual dominance of St Botolph’s Church tower over the skyline of Boston; 
 

and provision is made for the removal of the facilities and reinstatement of the site should 

any development cease to be operational. 

 

Page 121



 110 

Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening  
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

X X X ü X X ü 

 
The policy approach may lead to development, but does not specify a quantity or type of 
development or its location.  It does not concentrate development in urban areas or 
explicitly steer development away from European or Ramsar sites.  Therefore, it is 
considered that this policy should be screened into the Habitats Regulations Assessment 
process. 
 
Equalities Analysis 

Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
 
The provisions of this policy will have the same neutral impact on all groups.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 111 

 
 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening  
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

X X X ü X X ü 

 
The policy approach does not lead to development itself, specify a quantity or type of 
development or its location.  Development is implemented through other policies and this 
policy seeks only to influence the design of that development.  It does not concentrate 
development in urban areas or explicitly steer development away from European or Ramsar 

Design of New Development 
 
All development shall be of high quality and inclusive design and, where appropriate, make 
innovative use of local traditional styles and materials.  Encouragement will be given to 
contemporary design that reflects local distinctiveness.  Design which is inappropriate to the 
local area or which fails to maximise opportunities for improving the character and quality of 
an area will not be acceptable. 
 
Development proposals will demonstrate how the following considerations have been taken 
into account: 
 

· ensuring buildings are adaptable to a variety of uses and, along with public spaces, are 
accessible to all;  

· crime prevention and community safety; 

· the use or reuse of historic buildings; 

· complementing the existing built heritage, historic landscape and landscape character 
of the location; 

· respecting the density, scale and massing of neighbouring buildings and the 
surrounding area; 

· the orientation of buildings to enable decentralised and renewable energy; 

· the treatment of facades to public places and the design of  shop frontages; 

· distinguishing between private and public space; 

· where appropriate, the mitigation of flood risk through flood resilient design and 
sustainable urban drainage systems; 

· the use of landmarks and views; 

· the provision and layout of car parking; 

· residential amenity; 

· accessibility by a choice of travel modes including the provision of  public transport,  
footpath and cycle ways where appropriate; 

· the use of landscaping and the enhancement of biodiversity and green infrastructure; 
and 

· the lighting of public places. 
 

Page 123



 112 

sites.  Therefore, it is considered that this policy can be screened out of the Habitats 
Regulations Assessment process. 
 
Equalities Analysis 

Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

0 ü 0 0 ü 0 0 0 0 

 
The provisions of this policy will have the same neutral impact on most groups. However its 
provision in respect of ease of movement should benefit those that have a disability or have 
a child in a pram or push chair. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 124



 113 

9.0 Community, Health and Well-Being 
 

9.1 Policy Context 
 
Local Plan Strategic Priorities  
 
9.1.1 The following Local Plan strategic priorities are relevant: 

· To seek to improve the quality of life for everyone who lives, visits, works and 
invests in South East Lincolnshire by protecting and enhancing access to homes, 
employment, retail, education, healthcare, community and leisure facilities and 
open space. 

· To ensure that development contributes to the provision of necessary physical, 
social and green infrastructure to deliver planned levels of growth and mitigate its 
impacts on existing communities and the environment. 

  
The National Planning Policy Framework 
 
9.1.2 Promoting healthy communities 
 
 ’The planning system can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and 

creating healthy, inclusive communities.  Local planning authorities should create a 
shared vision with communities of the residential environment and facilities they wish 
to see.  To support this, local planning authorities should aim to involve all sections 
of the community in the development of Local Plans and in planning decisions, and 
should facilitate neighbourhood planning.  Planning policies and decisions, in turn, 
should aim to achieve places which promote: 

· opportunities for meetings between members of the community who might not 
otherwise come into contact with each other, including through mixed-use 
developments, strong neighbourhood centres, and active street frontages which 
bring together those who work, live and play in the vicinity; 

· safe and accessible environments where crime and disorder, and the fear of 
crime, do not undermine quality of life or community cohesion; and 

· safe and accessible developments, containing clear and legible pedestrian 
routes, and high quality public space, which encourage the active and continual 
use of public areas. 

 
 To deliver the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community 

needs, planning policies and decisions should: 

· plan positively for the provision and use of shared space, community facilities 
(such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings, public 
houses and places of worship) and other local services to enhance the 
sustainability of communities and residential environments; 

· guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly 
where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs; 

· ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and 
modernise in a way that is sustainable, and retained for the benefit of the 
community; and 

· ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic 
uses and community facilities and services. 

 
  Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can 

make an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities.  

Page 125



 114 

Planning policies should be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the 
needs for open space, sports and recreation facilities and opportunities for new 
provision.  The assessments should identify specific needs and quantitative or 
qualitative deficits or surpluses of open space, sports and recreational facilities in the 
local area. Information gained from the assessments should be used to determine 
what open space, sports and recreational provision is required. 

 
 Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing 

fields, should not be built on unless: 

· an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, 
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; 

· the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or 

· the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweighs the loss.’ 

 
East Midlands Regional Plan 
 
9.1.3  Policy 1 indicates that ‘all strategies, plans and programmes … should meet the 

following core objectives: … 
 b) To reduce social exclusion through: … 

· the reduction of inequalities in the location and distribution of 
employment, housing, health and other community facilities and 
services; and 

· by responding positively to the diverse needs of different communities.… 
d) To improve the health and mental, physical and spiritual well-being of the 

Region’s residents through improvements in: … 

· access to health, cultural, leisure and recreational facilities and services.’ 
 
9.1.4 Policy 2 indicates that ’the layout, design and construction of new development 

should be continuously improved … by … design which helps to reduce crime and 
the fear of crime, supports community safety, … and benefits the quality of life of 
local people.’ 

 
9.1.5 Policy 28 indicates that local authorities should ’increase access to green space that 

can be used for formal and informal recreation, educational purposes and to promote 
healthy lifestyles …’ 

 
Boston Borough Council ‘Planning for the Future’ (2012-2015) 
 
9.1.6 The Plan identifies the following priorities that are of particular relevance to 

community, health and well-being issues: 

· ’safe, secure homes and neighbourhoods’; and 

· ‘promoting greener and healthier communities’ 
 
Boston – A Great Past, and Exciting Future – Our Community Plan 2008-18 
 
9.1.7 The document sets out a number of ambitions and actions to achieve them. The 

following relate to community, health and well-being issues: 

· ‘Generating prosperity’ by ’more people taking part in learning and improving their 
skills’; 

Page 126



 115 

· ’Feeling safe and part of your community’ by ’a shared sense of belonging and 
pride in our communities where everyone is respected’; ’reduced fear of crime 
and reports of anti-social behaviour, specifically linked to alcohol, environmental 
crimes and vandalism’; ’reduction in serious violent crime and reduced re-
offending by both adults and young people’; ’reduction in burglary of dwellings 
and retail theft, tackling drug related crimes and improving the safety of our 
roads’; 

· ’Being healthy’ by ‘promotion of healthy lifestyles and reduced incidence of 
cancers, strokes and heart disease’; “increased resources targeted at health 
services in the Boston area with improved access to those services’.   

 
South Holland District Council Corporate Plan (2011-15) 
 
9.1.8 The Plan identifies the following priorities that are of particular relevance to 

community, health and well-being issues: 

· ‘to enable our communities’; and 

· ’to develop stronger communities’. 
 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Lincolnshire 2013-2018 
 
9.1.9 The Strategy sets out five themes, each with related priorities. The themes, and the 

priorities which appear most potentially relevant to the Local Plan are set out below: 

· Promoting healthier lifestyles: 
o reduce the number of people who smoke 
o reduce the number of adults who are overweight or obese 
o support people to be more active more often 
o support people to drink alcohol sensibly 
o improve people’s sense of mental wellbeing 

· Improve the health and wellbeing of older people: 
o develop a network of services to help older people lead a more healthy and 

active life and cope with frailty 
o increase respect and support for older people within their communities 

· Delivering high quality systematic care for major causes of ill health and disability 

· Improve health and social outcomes for children and reduce inequalities: 
o improving educational attainment for all children 
o reduce childhood obesity 
o ensure children and young people feel happy, stay safe from harm and make 

good choices about their lives, particularly children who are vulnerable or 
disadvantaged 

· Tackling the social determinants of health: 
o support more vulnerable people into good quality work 
o ensure that people have access to good quality, energy efficient housing that 

is both affordable and meets their needs. 
 

9.2 Evidence Base 
 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report (2012)  
 
9.2.1 Evidence from the Scoping Report highlights a number of key issues and problems 

in relation to community, health and wellbeing in South East Lincolnshire 

· the area has a lower proportion of 2-29 year olds and a higher proportion of over 
50s than the England average, which demonstrates an ageing population; 

Page 127



 116 

· the impact of recent inward migration from other EU countries is unknown; 

· there is limited ethnic diversity across the area; 

· there is a current shortfall of allotments and some aspects of provision for outdoor 
sport 

· health indicators show that, in general terms, the area performs below average 
nationally, particularly related to life expectancy and levels of obesity; and 

· in terms of access to key services, on average, residents of Boston Borough are 
significantly better than those in South Holland. 

 
South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Sports Provision and 
Open Space Assessment 
 
9.2.2 The South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee Sports Provision 

and Open Space Assessment proposes local standards of provision for different 
aspects of sport and open space per 1,000 population.  These are based on an 
assessment of current activity, as well as provision in neighbouring authorities and 
other English authorities with similar demographic characteristics.  Using these 
standards the Assessment indicates that there is a shortfall in some aspects of open 
space and sports provision now and in 2031.  This is shown in the tables below. 

 
 Table XX: Sports Facility Requirements 

Type of provision  Provision in 
2012  

Needs in 2012  Extra needs 
in 2031  

Total needs in 
2031  

Sports halls  7  7  1.5  8.5  

Swimming pools  2  3  1  4  

Athletics tracks  1  1  0  1  

Synthetic turf 
pitches  

4  5  1  6  

Indoor bowling 
greens  

4  4  1  5  

Outdoor bowling 
greens  

32  32  7  39  

Indoor tennis courts  4  4  1  5  

Outdoor tennis 
courts  

40  48  10  58  

Squash courts  9  9  2  11  

Golf courses  7  7  1  8  

Health and fitness 
facilities  

14  14  3  17  

Village and 
community halls  

53  5  12  70  

  
Table XX: Playing Pitch Requirements 

Pitch type  Provision in 
2012  

Needs in 2012  Extra needs 
in 2031  

Total needs in 
2031  

Adult football 
pitches  

69  30.7  6.5  37.2  

Junior football 
pitches  

18 (17.5)  34.8  7.5  42.3  

Mini-soccer pitches  20 (19.5)  13.1  3.0  16.1  

Cricket pitches  17  13.2  3.0  16.2  

Rugby pitches  11 (9.5)  15.7 3.3 19.0 

 
 

Page 128



 117 

Assessment of the Sustainability of Rural Settlements 
 
9.2.3 The results of the Assessment demonstrate that there is widespread distribution of 

services and facilities across South-East Lincolnshire. 
 

9.3 Key Issues 
 
9.3.1 The following key issues emerging from the policy context and evidence base 

potentially require a policy response: 

· the need to ensure that all sections of the community have access to high quality 
open space and opportunities for sport and recreation; 

· the need to ensure that safe and accessible environments are created, which 
discourage crime and disorder (and the fear of crime), and which encourage 
community use; and 

· the need to ensure that all sections of the community have access to the services 
which are needed to support their education, health, and social, cultural and 
spiritual well-being. 

 

9.4 Other Policies 
 
9.4.1 There is an amount of overlap between the key issues in this chapter and those 

presented in the Environment chapter.  This chapter is concerned with access to 
open space as a community facility and safe and accessible environments.  The 
environment chapter outlines an approach to the natural environment, including the 
protection, and where possible enhancement, of sites of nature conservation and 
green infrastructure.  It also includes an approach to design of new development, 
which overlaps with this chapter in terms of accessibility, as does the Transport 
chapter.   

 
9.4.2 No policies in the extant Boston Borough Local Plan 1999 or South Holland Local 

Plan 2006 need to be retained.  
 
9.4.3 Any site specific allocations (e.g. where health, social care, education, cultural or 

other community organisations identify that they will need to provide additional 
infrastructure to meet the community’s needs) will be dealt with through the Site 
Allocations DPD.  The Delivery chapter of this document deals with how 
infrastructure, which could include community facilities, are delivered through the 
planning system. 

 

Approach to Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
 
9.5 Introduction 
 
9.5.1 It is necessary to outline an approach that seeks to ensure that all sections of the 

community have access to high quality open space and opportunities for sport and 
recreation. 

 
9.6 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
9.6.1 It is considered that there are two reasonable options related to the provision of open 

space, sport and recreation.  The first is to have positive policy approach to 
protecting, and where possible, enhancing access to such community facilities.  The 

Page 129



 118 

second is not to produce a policy approach and rely on national guidance outlined in 
the NPPF. 

 
9.6.2 Option A: To produce a policy approach that seeks to ensure that all sections of the 

community have access to high-quality open space and opportunities for sport and 
recreation by protecting and, where possible, enhancing such community facilities. 

 
9.6.3 Option B: Do not produce a policy approach that seeks to ensure that all sections of 

the community have access to high quality open space and opportunities for sport 
and recreation but, instead, rely upon the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
9.7 Unreasonable Options 
 
9.7.1 It is considered unreasonable to produce a policy approach that actively seeks to 

ignore the importance of protecting access to high-quality open space and 
opportunities for sport and recreation as this would be contrary to the concept of 
sustainable development and the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
9.8 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B Option C Option D etc 

Air Quality ü ü   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü ü   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü ü   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

üü üü   

Economy and 
Environment 

ü ü   

Flood Risk ü ü   

Historic 
Environment 

0 0   

Housing 0 0   

Land and Waste 0 0   

Landscape ü ü   

Transport 0 0   

Water 0 0   

 
9.8.1 Air Quality: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  The protection and 

enhancement of open space helps to contribute to the provision of green 
infrastructure (including plants and trees), which can contribute to cleaning 
pollutants from the air and potentially minimise the noise impacts of developments. 

Page 130



 119 

9.8.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options will have a minor 
positive impact.  The protection and enhancement of open space contributes to  the 
provision of green infrastructure, can potentially increase biodiversity and also can 
enhance the quality and connectivity of the public rights-of-way network. 

9.8.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options will have a minor positive 
impact.   Open space can mitigate against climate change by acting as ‘carbon 
sinks’.   

9.8.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options will have a major positive impact.   
The protection and enhancement of open spaces and facilities for sport and 
recreation seeks to address negative health indicators by promoting healthy 
lifestyles through accessible leisure and recreation facilities and also by helping to 
promote more cohesive communities through the direct provision of community 
facilities.  

9.8.5 Economy and Employment: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  The 
provision of community facilities e.g. sport and recreation provide direct 
employment opportunities.  Also good access to community facilities can make an 
area more attractive to investors and investment.  

9.8.6 Flood Risk: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  Open spaces have the 
potential to absorb and store water, thus providing resistance and resilience to flood 
risk.  

9.8.7 Historic Environment: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.8.8 Housing: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.18.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.8.10 Landscape: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  Open space can 

contribute positively to landscape and townscape quality.  
9.8.11 Transport: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.8.12 Water: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.8.13 Conclusion: The two options score identically against the baseline situation.  

However, relatively-speaking, a locally-derived policy (Option A) is better able to 
reflect local circumstances in terms of current provision of open space and facilities 
for sport and recreation.  

 
9.9 Delivery 
 
9.9.1 Both options would be delivered through the development management process and 

through the emerging Infrastructure Delivery Plan where appropriate.  It is 
considered that there are no relative delivery benefits between the two options. 

 
9.10 Preferred Option 
 
9.10.1 Although all the issues that might be contained in a Local Plan policy are already 

covered by the NPPF’s provisions, a Local Plan policy can: 

· express them more directly; 

· ensure that anyone who wishes to participate in the planning process in South 
East Lincolnshire is aware of these issues without needing to refer to the NPPF; 
and 

· reflect the findings of the South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee Sports Provision and Open Space Assessment. 

 
9.10.2 Consequently, Option A is the preferred option. 
 
 
 

Page 131



 120 

Approach to Safe and Accessible Environments 
 
9.11 Introduction 
 
9.11.1 It is necessary to outline an approach to ensure that safe and accessible 

environments are created, which discourage crime and disorder (and the fear of 
crime), and which encourage community use. 

 
9.12 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
9.12.1 It is considered that there are two reasonable options related to safe and accessible 

environments.  The first is to have a positive policy approach that seeks to ensure 
that new development is safe and accessible.  The second is not to produce a policy 
approach and rely on national guidance outlined in the NPPF. 

 
9.12.2 Option A: To produce a policy approach that requires new development to create 

environments which are safe and accessible, which discourage crime and disorder 
(and the fear of crime), and which encourage community use. 

 
9.12.3 Option B: Do not produce a policy approach which requires new development to 

create environments which are safe and accessible, which discourage crime and 
disorder (and the fear of crime), and which encourage community use  but, instead,  
rely upon the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
9.13 Unreasonable Options 
 
9.13.1 It is considered unreasonable to produce a policy approach that actively seeks to 

ignore the importance of safe and accessible environments, as this would be 
contrary to the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



 121 

9.14 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B Option C Option D etc 

Air Quality ü ü   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

0 0   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü ü   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

üü üü   

Economy and 
Environment 

0 0   

Flood Risk 0 0   

Historic 
Environment 

0 0   

Housing 0 0   

Land and Waste 0 0   

Landscape 0 0   

Transport ü ü   

Water 0 0   

 
9.14.1 Air Quality: Both options will have minor positive impact.  Actively promoting safe 

and accessible environments can facilitate modal shift to more sustainable forms of 
transport.  Subsequently, this helps to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
improve air quality. 

9.14.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options will have neutral 
impact. 

9.14.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options will have minor positive 
impact.  Actively promoting safe and accessible environments can facilitate modal 
shift to more sustainable forms of transport.  Subsequently this helps to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

9.14.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options will have a major positive impact.   
Actively seeking to deliver safe and accessible environments will help to meet the 
needs of the area’s elderly and disabled population, address negative health 
indicators, help promote more inclusive and cohesive communities, and improve 
community safety and reduce crime and the fear of crime. 

9.14.5 Economy and Employment: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.14.6 Flood Risk: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.14.7 Historic Environment: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.14.8 Housing: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.14.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.14.10 Landscape: Both options will have neutral impact. 

Page 133



 122 

9.14.11 Transport: Both options will have a minor positive impact.  Actively promoting safe 
and accessible environments can facilitate a shift to more sustainable modes of 
transport to reduce carbon emissions and improve access for residents to local 
services, facilities, places of employment and green infrastructure. 

9.14.12 Water: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.14.13Conclusion: The two options score identically against the baseline situation.  

However, relatively-speaking a locally-derived policy (Option A) is better able to 
reflect local circumstances in terms of safe and accessible environments. 

 
9.15 Delivery 
 
9.15.1 Both options would be delivered through the development management process.  It 

is considered that there are no relative delivery benefits between the two options. 
 
9.16 Preferred Option 
 
9.16.1 Although all the issues that might be contained in a Local Plan policy are already 

covered by in the NPPF's provisions, a Local Plan policy can express them more 
directly, and can ensure that anyone who wishes to participate in the planning 
process in South East Lincolnshire is aware of these issues without needing to refer 
to the NPPF. Consequently, Option A is the preferred option. 

 

Approach to Equality of Access to Community Facilities 
 
9.17 Introduction 
 
9.17.1 It is necessary to ensure that all sections of the community have access to the 

services which are needed to support their education, health  and social, cultural and 
spiritual well-being. 

 
9.18 Reasonable Policy Options 
 
9.18.1 It is considered that there are two reasonable options related to safe and accessible 

environments.  The first is to have positive policy approach that seeks to ensure that 
new development is accessible to all.  The second is not to produce a policy 
approach and rely on national guidance outlined in the NPPF. 

 
9.18.2 Option A: To produce a policy approach that seeks to ensure that all sections of the 

community have access to the services which are needed to support their education, 
health and social, cultural and spiritual well-being. 

 
9.18.3 Option B: Do not produce a policy approach that seeks to ensure that all sections of 

the community have access to the services which are needed to support their 
education, health, and social, cultural and spiritual well-being but, instead, rely upon 
the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
9.19 Unreasonable Options 
 
9.19.1 It is considered unreasonable to produce a policy approach that actively seeks to 

ignore the importance of equality of access to community facilities, as this would be 
contrary to the provisions of the NPPF. 

 
 

Page 134



 123 

9.20 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A Option B Option C Option D etc 

Air Quality ü ü   

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

0 0   

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

ü ü   

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

üü üü   

Economy and 
Environment 

0 0   

Flood Risk 0 0   

Historic 
Environment 

0 0   

Housing 0 0   

Land and Waste 0 0   

Landscape 0 0   

Transport ü ü   

Water 0 0   

 
9.20.1 Air Quality: Both options will have minor positive impact.  Actively promoting 

equality of access to community facilities can facilitate modal shift to more 
sustainable forms of transport.  Subsequently, this helps to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions and improve air quality. 

9.20.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Both options will have neutral 
impact. 

9.20.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Both options will have minor positive 
impact.  Actively promoting equality of access to community facilities can facilitate 
modal shift to more sustainable forms of transport.  Subsequently, this helps to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

9.20.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Both options will have a major positive impact.   
Both options will help meet the equality, health and social care needs of the area’s 
population, help to meet the needs of the area’s elderly and disabled population, 
help promote more inclusive and cohesive communities, improve access to 
essential services and facilities, and make opportunities for culture, leisure and 
recreation readily accessible. 

9.20.5 Economy and Employment: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.20.6 Flood Risk: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.20.7 Historic Environment: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.20.8 Housing: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.20.9 Land and Waste: Both options will have neutral impact. 
9.20.10 Landscape: Both options will have neutral impact. 

Page 135



 124 

9.20.11 Transport: Both options will have a minor positive impact on transport, as both seek 
to improve access for residents to local services, facilities, places of employment 
and green infrastructure, and thus support initiatives to reduce congestion and the 
need to travel. 

9.20.12 Water: Whether a Local Plan policy is included or the provisions of the NPPF are 
relied upon, there will be no impacts on water issues and problems. 

9.20.13 Conclusion: The two options score identically against the baseline situation.  
However, relatively-speaking a locally-derived policy (Option A) is better able to 
reflect local circumstances in terms of equality of access to community facilities. 

 
9.21 Delivery 
 
9.21.1 Both options would be delivered through the development management process.  It 

is considered that there are no relative delivery benefits between the two options. 
 
9.22 Preferred Option 
 
9.22.1 Although all the issues that might be contained in a Local Plan policy are already 

covered by the NPPFs provisions, a Local Plan policy can express them more 
directly, and can ensure that anyone who wishes to participate in the planning 
process in South East Lincolnshire is aware of these issues without needing to refer 
to the NPPF. Consequently, Option A is the preferred option. 

 

9.23 Reason for Preferred Policy Approach 
 
9.23.1 The provisions of the NPPF cover all the key issues identified. Consequently, 

although the Preferred Option in each case is to include a Local Plan policy, the 
advantages of this approach (over simply relying on the NPPF) are marginal. In this 
context, it is not considered appropriate to include a separate policy to deal with 
each key issue. Instead, a single preferred policy approach to deal with all the issues 
is deemed adequate.     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



 125 

9.24 Preferred Policy Approach 
 

 
 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening  
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
X 
 

X X ü X X X 

 
The policy is not site-specific and does not put forward any specific development proposals. 
Although it does not steer development away from European or Ramsar sites or seek to 
protect the natural environment, these issues would be considered through the provisions 
of other policies within the Local Plan. It is therefore considered that this policy can be 
screened out of the Habitats Regulations Assessment process.  
 

Community, Health and Well-Being 
 
Development shall contribute to: the creation of socially-cohesive and inclusive 
communities; reducing health inequalities; and improving the community’s health and 
well-being. To this end, it shall create environments which: 
 

· discourage crime and disorder; 

· do not create the fear of crime; 

· are accessible to all sections of the community; 

· facilitate walking, cycling and public transport use; and 

· encourage community use. 

 

To enable people to lead healthy and active lifestyles, residential development shall 

support the provision of new sport and open-space facilities.  

 

The redevelopment or change of use of an existing community, educational, health, 

recreational, sport, or social facility will be permitted only if the facility is no longer 

needed by the community (taking account of all the functions it could perform), or 

adequate alternative provision will be made. 

 

New community, educational, health, recreational, sport, or social facilities shall be: 

· located to maximise accessibility for their users; 

· well related to public transport infrastructure and walking and cycling routes; and 

· compatible with nearby uses and the character and appearance of the 

neighbourhood. 

 

Page 137



 126 

Equalities Assessment 
Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

ü ü 0 0 ü 0 ü 0 0 

 
The provisions of this policy will have the same impact on most groups. However, its 
provisions concerned with: 

· creating accessible environments may particularly benefit the elderly, the disabled 
and people with children in prams or pushchairs; and 

· preventing the unnecessary loss of community or social facilities may particularly 
benefit members of faith groups. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 138



 127 

10.0 Transport 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



 128 

11.0 Delivery 
 

11.1 Policy Context  
 
Local Plan Strategic Priorities 
 
11.1.1 The following Local Plan strategic priority is relevant: 

· To ensure that development contributes to the provision of necessary physical, 
social and green infrastructure to deliver planned levels of growth and mitigate its 
impacts on existing communities and the environment. 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
11.1.2 ‘Local planning authorities should: 

· assess the quality and capacity of infrastructure for transport, water supply, 
wastewater and its treatment, energy (including heat), telecommunications, 
utilities, waste, health, social care, education, flood risk and coastal change 
management, and its ability to meet forecast demands; and 

· take account of the need for strategic infrastructure including nationally significant 
infrastructure within their areas’. 

 
11.1.3 ‘Pursuing sustainable development requires careful attention to viability and costs in 

plan-making and decision-taking.  Plans should be deliverable.  Therefore, the sites 
and the scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject to such a 
scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed viably is 
threatened.  To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as the requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account of the 
normal costs of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns to a willing 
land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be deliverable’. 

 
East Midlands Regional Plan 
 
11.1.4 The Regional Plan states that ‘local authorities should work with developers, 

statutory agencies and other local stakeholders to produce delivery plans outlining 
the infrastructure requirements needed to secure the implementation of Local 
Development Documents.  These should include guidance on the appropriate levels 
of developer contributions, and the mechanisms for securing the delivery of such 
contributions.’ 

 
Boston Borough Council ‘Planning for the Future 2012-2015’ 
 
11.1.5 The document outlines the importance of ‘identifying opportunities to bring 

investment in infrastructure for development vital to the future prosperity of the 
Borough’.  It also highlights the importance of green infrastructure in responding to 
climate change.   

 
Boston – A Great Past, an Exciting Future – Our Community Plan 2008-2018 
 
11.1.6 The document sets out a number of ambitions and actions to achieve them.  The 

following relate to infrastructure: ‘securing a starting date, route and funding for a 
distributor road’; short-term road infrastructure and public transport improvements‘; 

Page 140



 129 

‘completing the first phase of the Fens Waterways Link’; ‘expanding and re-
developing Boston College’; ‘supporting the Boston barrage to moderate the tidal 
flow and provide extra flood protection’; and ‘supporting the expansion of the Port of 
Boston’. 

 
South Holland District Council Corporate Plan 2011-15 
 
11.1.7 The document does not include a specific reference to infrastructure or development 

viability. 
 

11.2 Evidence Base 
 
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report 
 
11.2.1 There is limited information in the Scoping Report regarding delivery and 

infrastructure.  The majority of this information will be contained within the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) Baseline Report and Viability Study as outlined 
below. 

 
South East Lincolnshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan Baseline Report 
 
11.2.2 The final Strategy and Policies DPD will be accompanied by an IDP.  To inform this 

Preferred Options document a baseline report on infrastructure will be prepared.  At 
present this is still emerging, but it is not envisaged that its contents will impact on 
the generation of options, as it will simply provide information related to the baseline 
situation in terms of infrastructure provision. 

 
South East Lincolnshire Viability Study 
 
11.2.3 A study assessing the viability of development across the board to inform both 

affordable housing and infrastructure-related matters (e.g. Community Infrastructure 
Levy, CIL) is currently being produced.  This study will report in stages during the 
plan preparation process.  Initial findings related to affordable housing are reported 
elsewhere in this preferred options document.  The overall findings of the study will 
ensure that the Strategy and Policies DPD does not adversely impact upon the 
viability of development in South East Lincolnshire.  Any final policy related to the 
delivery of infrastructure will take the findings of the study into account.   

 

11.3 Key Issues 
 
11.3.1 The following key issues require a policy response: 

· the need to ensure that the necessary physical, social and green infrastructure is 
delivered in a timely fashion to support new development; and 

· the need to ensure that demands upon development do not undermine viability 
and deliverability. 

 

11.4 Other Policies 
 
11.4.1 Detailed information relating to the infrastructure requirements and delivery 

mechanisms for allocated sites will be dealt with through the Site Allocations DPD.  
The final IDP will accompany the Strategy and Policies DPD and will be updated 
regularly.  At this point in time, pending the outcome of emerging viability work, a 

Page 141



 130 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is not planned to be adopted at the same time 
as the Strategy and Policies DPD. 

 

Approach to the Provision of Infrastructure and Viability  
 
11.5 Introduction 
 
11.5.1 It is important that the necessary infrastructure to support growth is delivered in a 

timely fashion.  It is also equally important to ensure that development supports the 
delivery of this infrastructure without undermining the overall viability of development.  
The following section outlines how this might be addressed through planning policy.  

 
11.6 Reasonable Policy Options  
 
11.6.1 It is considered that there is only one reasonable option for addressing this issue.  

This is an approach the clearly outlines the importance of delivering the required 
infrastructure to support growth in a timely manner and how this will be delivered, 
including the need for developer contributions, in line with the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan (IDP).  It is also important that the approach outlines how viability will be taken 
into account in the determination of planning applications and what will be prioritised 
where issues arise, so as not to undermine the viability of development. 

 
11.6.2 Option A: To have a preferred policy approach that seeks to deliver and prioritise the 

necessary physical, social and green infrastructure to support development.  This will 
be achieved through the preparation and regular review of an IDP, by investigating 
the viability of adopting a CIL and by securing planning obligations.  This approach 
will also outline how requirements are to be prioritised if it is necessary to review 
their provision in order to ensure that the viability of development is not undermined. 

 
11.7 Unreasonable Options 
 
11.7.1 Given the importance of infrastructure and viability to the delivery of Local Plans, as 

outlined in the NPPF, it is deemed unreasonable to put forward an approach that 
does not deal with this issue through policy.  It is likely that having no policy related 
to this issue would result in an ‘unsound’ plan.  It is not considered that there are any 
other reasonable options that are discreetly different to option A as outlined above. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 142



 131 

11.8 Sustainability Appraisal 
 
Table XX: Sustainability Appraisal of policy options against the SA framework topic areas 

Scoring Key  

Major 
positive 
(üü) 

Minor 
positive 
(ü) 

Neutral 
(0) 

Minor 
Negative 
(X) 

Major 
Negative 
(XX) 

Mixed 
(e.g. 
üü/X, 
ü/X) 

Uncertain 
(?) 

Scoring for Topic Areas 

 Option A    

Air Quality ?    

Biodiversity, 
Geodiversity & 
Green 
Infrastructure 

ü/?    

Climate Change 
(adaptation and 
mitigation) 

?    

Community, 
Health and Well-
being 

ü    

Economy and 
Employment 

ü    

Flood Risk ü    

Historic 
Environment 

0    

Housing ü    

Land and Waste ?/0    

Landscape ?    

Transport ü/?    

Water ü    

 
11.8.1 Air Quality: Option A will have an uncertain impact.  New infrastructure could have a 

negative impact on air quality e.g. the construction of new roads.  However, 
measures to reduce congestion and promote public transport could have a positive 
impact.  The overall impact is dependent upon the type of infrastructure, its scale and 
location. 

11.8.2 Biodiversity, Geodiversity and Green Infrastructure: Option A will have a mixed minor 
positive/uncertain impact.  The approach positively seeks to ensure the delivery of all 
appropriate infrastructure, including green infrastructure.  However, the provision of 
built infrastructure could have negative impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity 
depending on the location, scale and type of infrastructure provided.    

11.8.3 Climate Change (adaptation and mitigation): Option A will have an uncertain impact.  
The policy positively supports the improving of infrastructure, such as flood 
resistance and resilience measures, as well as green infrastructure.  However, new 
roads, for example, may lead to greater levels of traffic overall.  Overall, the impact is 
uncertain in that it depends on the type, scale and location of infrastructure. 

11.8.4 Community, Health and Well-being: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  The 
approach is concerned with delivering the required infrastructure to support new 
development.  Where required this could include health and other community 
facilities. 

11.8.5 Economy and Employment: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  The 
provision of required infrastructure helps to enable development, some of which will 

Page 143



 132 

be employment related.  Also the flexible approach to viability helps to promote 
development. 

11.8.6 Flood Risk: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  The approach is concerned 
with delivering the required infrastructure to support new development.  Where 
required this could include flood resistance measures.    

11.8.7 Historic Environment: Option A will have a neutral impact. 
11.8.8 Housing: Option A will have a minor positive impact.  The provision of required 

infrastructure helps to enable development, a large proportion of which will be 
housing.  Also the flexible approach to viability helps to promote development. 

11.8.9 Land and Waste: Option A will have a mixed uncertain/neutral impact.  Whilst the 
construction of new infrastructure may lead to loss of greenfield land, the extent is 
dependant upon the type, scale and location of the development.  There is not 
considered to be a relationship in terms of waste. 

11.8.10Landscape: Option A has an uncertain impact.  Whilst the construction of new 
infrastructure may impact upon landscape, it is dependant upon the type, scale and 
location of the development.   

11.8.11Transport: Option A has a mixed minor positive/uncertain impact.  The approach is 
concerned with delivering the required infrastructure to support new development.  
Where required this could include transport-related infrastructure, such as new roads 
and public transport provision.  Whilst this is likely to have some positive impacts, it 
is uncertain, for example, as to whether the construction of new roads increases or 
reduces carbon emissions overall. 

11.8.12Water: Option A has a minor positive impact.  The approach is concerned with 
delivering the required infrastructure to support new development.  Where required 
this could include water-related infrastructure. 

11.8.13Conclusion: Whilst there is a great deal of uncertainty in terms of the impact of this 
approach based on the type, scale and location of infrastructure required, it has a 
generally positive impact in that it will have direct benefits in terms of physical, social 
and green infrastructure provision. 

 
11.9 Delivery 
 
11.9.1 This option will be delivered through the production and review of an IDP, 

determining the viability of a CIL and through the development management 
process.  As there is only one reasonable option there are no relative benefits in 
terms of delivery.  The policy approach itself also seeks to ensure that the viability of 
development is not undermined by adopting a flexible approach to negotiating 
planning obligations. 

 
11.10 Preferred Option  
 
11.10.1Option A is the only reasonable option and it generally scores positively in terms of 

the SA process. 
 

11.11 Reason for Preferred Policy Approach 
 
11.11.1 It is clear, given the importance of delivery and viability outlined in the NPPF, that a 

policy response is required.  The only reasonable option is to outline a preferred 
policy approach to delivering infrastructure and ensuring that the viability of 
development is not undermined.  

 
 

Page 144



 133 

11.12 Preferred Policy Approach 

 
Habitats Regulation Assessment/Appropriate Assessment Screening 
Screening of Preferred Policy Approach (ü/X) 

Does the 
policy lead 
to 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
quantity or 
type of 
development
? 

Does the 
policy 
specify a 
location for 
development
? 

Is the 
policy 
implemente
d through 
other 
policies? 

Does the 
policy 
concentrate 
developme
nt in urban 
areas? 

Does the 
policy steer 
developme
nt away 
from 
European 
or Ramsar 
sites? 

Does the 
policy 
protect the 
natural 
environment
? 

 
X 
 

X X X X X X 

 
The preferred policy approach to delivery is not deemed to have a significant impact on a 
European or Ramsar site.  It is not the purpose of this policy to directly lead to development 

Infrastructure and Viability 
 
The South East Lincolnshire Partner Authorities will seek the delivery of relevant 
physical, social and green infrastructure to support new development in line with the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and other appropriate evidence.  Dependent upon the 
circumstances, development will be expected to directly deliver in full, or contribute to, 
the provision of infrastructure.  This will be achieved by the following means: 
 

· the preparation and regular review of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) for South 
East Lincolnshire that will set out the infrastructure required to support development, 
when and how it will be provided and by who; 

· exploring the potential for a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), covering all or part 
of South East Lincolnshire, that would set out the required level of developer 
contributions towards new or upgraded infrastructure to support development; and 

· negotiating appropriate planning obligations to provide new or upgraded infrastructure 
to support overall levels of development and to mitigate any adverse impacts of 
proposed development, whilst avoiding duplications of any payments made through 
any future CIL covering all or part of South East Lincolnshire.  

 
Where infrastructure items are identified as critical in the IDP and are shown on the Key 
Diagram they should be protected from development, or the harmful effects of 
development, and their delivery safeguarded until such time as they are implemented or 
their delivery becomes unnecessary as a result of changing circumstances.  Where the 
latter is the case, the use of the land required for their development will be considered 
within the context of other policies in the Local Plan and the most relevant and 
appropriate up-to-date evidence. 
 
Where viability is considered a constraint to development, negotiation will be conducted 
on a case-by-case basis.  The primary aim of negotiations will be to ensure that the 
viability of development is not undermined, having regard to the following order of 
priority: 

1. Measures identified as critical in the IDP. 
2. Infrastructure supporting sustainable communities.  

Page 145



 134 

or outline levels or locations of growth.  It is therefore considered that this policy can be 
screened out of the Habitats Regulations Assessment process at this point. 
 
Equalities Assessment 

Equalities Analysis of Preferred Policy Approach 
(ü - may benefit) (0 – neutral) (X – adverse impact) 

A
g

e
 

D
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

G
e
n

d
e
r 

re
-

a
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n

t 

M
a
rr

ia
g

e
 &

 

c
iv

il
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

c
y
 &

 

m
a
te

rn
it

y
 

R
a
c
e
 

R
e
li

g
io

n
 o

r 

b
e
li

e
f 

S
e
x
 

S
e
x
u

a
l 

o
ri

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



 135 

12. Key Diagram 
13. Next Steps 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



 136 

 
14. Appendices  

 
Appendix 1:  
East Midlands Regional Plan Policy 5 - Strategy for Lincolnshire Coastal Districts 
 
‘A strategy will be agreed between the Regional Planning Body, the three Lincolnshire 
coastal districts (East Lindsey, Boston and South Holland), Lincolnshire County Council, the 
Environment Agency and other relevant regional organisations.  This will consider primarily: 
 

· flood risk and flood defence works; 

· housing needs; 

· regeneration needs, including social and economic factors; 

· other infrastructural needs; and 

· the protection of the integrity of designated nature conservation sites of international 
importance. 

 
The strategy should also consider how any infrastructure will be funded and the timing of 
such works. New housing and other new development will need to be carefully phased in 
accordance with the provision of necessary new infrastructure. 
 
The agreed strategy will form part of the next RSS review and if agreed before the adoption 
of the next review it will form a guide to the preparation of local development documents in 
the three districts until the regional strategy is rolled forward.’ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 148



 137 

Appendix 2:  
Flood-hazard classification used in the Lincolnshire Coastal Study 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 149



 138 

Appendix 3: Lincolnshire Coastal Study Principles 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 150



 139 

Appendix 4: Residual Coastal Flood-hazard Map 
 
 

 
Source: The Environment Agency; 2011 

 

 
 
 

Page 151



 140 

Appendix 5: Joint Statement 2010 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152



 141 

Appendix 6: Joint Statement 2011 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 153



 142 

Appendix 7: 
 

 

PLANNING FOR COASTAL FLOOD RISK  
IN SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE  

 
 
The following statement has been prepared by officers of Boston Borough Council, South 
Holland District Council and the Environment Agency. It follows discussions about how the 
findings of the Lincolnshire Coastal Study could inform the preparation of a planning-policy 
framework to guide development in the areas of South East Lincolnshire18 that are subject 
to coastal flood risk, which concluded at a meeting held at the County Offices, Newland, 
Lincoln on 20 January 2012.  
 

Planning Aim 
 
The aim in planning for areas at risk from coastal flooding in South East Lincolnshire is to 
promote sustainable development that reduces the number of people at risk of flood 
hazard. The pursuit of this aim will be guided by the following principles: 
 

Principles  
  
Development decisions will aim to improve social, economic and environmental conditions 
in existing and new communities by: 
  
(1) Reducing the exposure of people to flood hazard 
 
In order to reduce exposure of people to flood hazard, the type and location of development 
will be guided by the level of flood hazard. 
  
Therefore, with respect to development in the red, orange and yellow flood hazard zones:  
 

· employment and business-related development will be supported; 
 

· for such zones situated within the boundary of  South East Lincolnshire, it will not be 
appropriate for additional housing development to exceed the level of  local housing 
need19 generated within those zones; and 

· development to meet local housing need will be subject to the mitigation of flood risk 
through flood resilient design and emergency planning. 

  
With respect to development in the green flood hazard zone:  
 

                                                 
18 South East Lincolnshire is the combined areas of Boston Borough Council and South Holland District 
Council 
 
19

 Local housing need is defined as the mixture of open market and affordable housing which is required to 
meet the housing needs of existing communities. The number of dwellings required to meet local housing 
need generated in the red, orange and yellow flood hazard zones will be calculated on the basis of the 
proportion of the total South East Lincolnshire population resident within such zones multiplied by South East 
Lincolnshire’s local housing need. Outside these three zones such considerations will not apply. 
 

Page 154



 143 

· in regard to flood risk concerns, there will not be restrictions on employment, business 
or housing provided flood risk is mitigated through flood-resilient design and 
emergency planning.  

 
With respect to other types of development in all flood hazard zones:  
 

· new and replacement community buildings may be permitted subject to flood risk 
being mitigated through flood-resilient design and emergency planning; 

 

· new caravan sites or extensions to existing sites for short-let tourist use between the 
months of April and September may be permitted subject to flood risk being mitigated 
through flood-resilient design and  
emergency planning; and 
 

· development of buildings and infrastructure explicitly for use in emergencies may be 
permitted subject to flood risk being mitigated through flood-resilient design.  

 
The consequence of flooding for people in all flood hazard zones will, over time, be reduced 
by:  
 

· the installation of flood-resilience measures in domestic and public buildings, caravan 
sites and for essential infrastructure; 

 

· improving emergency planning and emergency response and evacuation 
arrangements; and 

 

· improving public awareness and understanding of flood risk and responses.  
 
(2) Minimising the loss of high quality agricultural land 
 
(3) Diversifying the tourism industry 
 
(4) Improving green infrastructure 
 
(5) Protecting and enhancing water infrastructure 
 
(6) Protecting natural, cultural and historic assets 
 
(7) Improving transport infrastructure and services 
 
(8) Improving the quality of existing housing stock and access to jobs, training and 

services for local people.

Page 155



 
1
4
4

 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 C

o
m

p
le

tio
n

s
 - B

o
s
to

n

0

1
0
0

2
0
0

3
0
0

4
0
0

5
0
0

6
0
0

7
0
0

1976-77

1977-78

1978-79

1979-80

1980-81

1981-82

1982-83

1983-84

1984-85

1985-86

1986-87

1987-88

1988-89

1989-90

1990-91

1991-92

1992-93

1993-94

1994-95

1995-96

1996-97

1997-98

1998-99

1999-2000

2000-2001

2001-02

2002-03

2003-04

2004-05

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

Y
e

a
r

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
S

R
S

S
 2

0
0

9
2

0
0

8
-b

a
s
e

d
 p

ro
je

c
tio

n
O

N
S

 2
0
1

0
 b

a
s
e

d
 p

ro
je

c
tio

n
B

u
ild

in
g
 ra

te
 2

0
0

1
-1

1
 (C

R
1

0
)

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 8

: 
                                  

Page 156



 
1
4
5

 

H
o

u
s
in

g
 C

o
m

p
le

tio
n

s
 - S

o
u

th
 H

o
lla

n
d

0

1
0
0

2
0
0

3
0
0

4
0
0

5
0
0

6
0
0

7
0
0

8
0
0

1976-77

1977-78

1978-79

1979-80

1980-81

1981-82

1982-83

1983-84

1984-85

1985-86

1986-87

1987-88

1988-89

1989-90

1990-91

1991-92

1992-93

1993-94

1994-95

1995-96

1996-97

1997-98

1998-99

1999-2000

2000-2001

2001-02

2002-03

2003-04

2004-05

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

2009-10

2010-11

2011-12

Y
e

a
r

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
IO

N
S

R
S

S
 2

0
0

9
2

0
0

8
-b

a
s
e

d
 p

ro
je

c
tio

n
O

N
S

 2
0
1

0
 b

a
s
e

d
 p

ro
je

c
tio

n
B

u
ild

in
g
 ra

te
 2

0
0

1
-2

0
1

0
 (C

R
 1

0
)

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 9

:

Page 157



-broad locations background work 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	3. South East Lincolnshire Local Plan: Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document: Preferred Options Version
	Item 3 - Appendix A


